942

Sexual selection and predation drive the repeated evolution of stridulation in Heteroptera and other arthropods

Leonidas-Romanos Davranoglou^{1,*}, Graham K. Taylor² and Beth Mortimer²

¹Oxford University Museum of Natural History, University of Oxford, Oxford, OX1 3PW, UK
 ²The John Krebs Field Station, University of Oxford, Wytham, Oxford, OX2 8QJ, UK

ABSTRACT

Acoustic and substrate-borne vibrations are among the most widely used signalling modalities in animals. Arthropods display a staggering diversity of vibroacoustic organs generating acoustic sound and/or substrate-borne vibrations, and are fundamental to our broader understanding of the evolution of animal signalling. The primary mechanism that arthropods use to generate vibroacoustic signals is stridulation, which involves the rubbing together of opposing body parts. Although stridulation is common, its behavioural context and evolutionary drivers are often hard to pinpoint, owing to limited synthesis of empirical observations on stridulatory species. This is exacerbated by the diversity of mechanisms involved and the sparsity of their description in the literature, which renders their documentation a challenging task. Here, we present the most comprehensive review to date on the systematic distribution and behavioural context of stridulation. We use the megadiverse heteropteran insects as a model, together with multiple arthropod outgroups (arachnids, myriapods, and selected pancrustaceans). We find that stridulatory vibroacoustic signalling has evolved independently at least 84 times and is present in roughly 20% of Heteroptera, representing a remarkable case of convergent evolution. By studying the behavioural context of stridulation across Heteroptera and 189 outgroup lineages, we find that predation pressure and sexual selection are the main behaviours associated with stridulation across arthropods, adding further evidence for their role as drivers of large-scale signalling and morphological innovation in animals. Remarkably, the absence of tympanal ears in most Heteroptera suggests that they typically cannot detect the acoustic component of their stridulatory signals. This demonstrates that the adoption of new signalling modalities is not always correlated with the ability to perceive those signals, especially when these signals are directed towards interspecific receivers in defensive contexts. Furthermore, by mapping their morphology and systematic distribution, we show that stridulatory organs tend to evolve in specific body parts, likely originating from cleaning motions and pre-copulatory displays that are common to most arthropods. By synthesising our understanding of stridulation and stridulatory organs across major arthropod groups, we create the necessary framework for future studies to explore their systematic and behavioural significance, their potential role in sensory evolution and innovation, and the biomechanics of this mode of signalling.

Key words: stridulitrum, plectrum, strigil, bioacoustics, Hemiptera, Orthoptera, Arachnida, Crustacea, Myriapoda, multimodal.

CONTENTS

| I. Introduction | 943 |
|--|-----|
| II. Methods | 945 |
| III. Results | 966 |
| (1) Evolution of stridulatory organs in Heteroptera and prevalence in other arthropods | 966 |
| (2) Stridulatory organs are more frequent in particular body parts and habitats | 967 |
| (3) Behavioural context of stridulation | 968 |
| IV. Discussion | 969 |

^{*} Author for correspondence (Tel.: +44 1865272996; E-mail: leonidas-romanos.davranoglou@oum.ox.ac.uk).

Biological Reviews **98** (2023) 942–981 © 2023 The Authors. *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

1469185x, 2023, 3. Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12938 by Oxford University, Wiley Online Library on [14/06/2023], See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for nules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

| opod stridulation | 943 |
|--|---|
| Sexual selection and predation explain the Likely behavioural contexts involved in the Sensing of stridulation-based vibroacoustic Is stridulation a persistent strategy through Conclusions Acknowledgements Geferences Supporting information | evolution of stridulation |
| CTION on is one of the principal modes of signalling in a & Papaj, 2005; Ladich & Winkler, 2017; p17) and has attracted scientific interest since otle (Weiss, 1929). Arthropods are champions lling, displaying an extraordinary diversity of g mechanisms that are used in a variety of texts (Cocroft & Rodriguez, 2005; Čokl & , 2003; Davranoglou <i>et al.</i> , 2020; Song | of each tooth vibrates the exoskeleton and generates a vibroa- coustic signal. Stridulatory signals exhibit remarkable diver- sity, as many contain multiple frequencies with complex harmonics (Akay, 2002), while others produce pure tones with low-energy harmonics (Montealegre-Z <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Montealegre-Z, 2009). The advantage of this mechanically uncomplicated motion is that it enables the production of song frequencies that would be impossible to achieve through cycli- cal muscle action alone (Haskell, 1957; Masters, 1980; Bennet- Clark 1998; Čokl <i>et al.</i> 2006). |
| int-Doberlet & Čokl, 2004). At least 200,000 es also communicate with substrate-borne als that are inaudible to humans (Cocroft & | Due to their morphological simplicity and energetic effi- ciency, stridulatory mechanisms are the prevailing vibroacous- tic frequency multipliers in arthropods (Alexander, $1957a,b$; |

energetic effing vibroacousnder, 1957*a*,*b*; Hrušková-Martišová, Pekár & Gromov, 2008; Marilyn, 1977; Masters, 1979), and have evolved occasionally in diverse vertebrates, from tenrecs (Mammalia: Tenrecidae) to manakins (Aves: Pipridae) (Bostwick & Prum, 2005; Cresswell, 1998; Gould, 1965). Although stridulation is the most common vibroacoustic mechanism, it is also one of the least well understood in terms of its evolutionary origins. It is widely assumed among specialists in arthropod bioacoustics and systematics that stridulatory organs have evolved many times independently, yet this has rarely been verified beyond species or genus level, except in recent work on the evolution of stridulation in Orthoptera (Song et al., 2020). The staggering and largely uncatalogued diversity of stridulatory structures displayed by arthropod groups such as insects and arachnids makes mapping their systematic distribution and the number of times they evolved a challenging task.

Consequently, the behavioural contexts in which stridulatory signals are used have also remained largely unstudied (Alexander, 1957b; Lourenço & Cloudsley-Thompson, 1995), while current theoretical and empirical approaches do not explain how stridulation originated from simpler behavioural backgrounds, or why it has evolved repeatedly across animal phyla (Alexander, 1957b; Guinot-Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960; Kronestedt, 1973; Song et al., 2020). Furthermore, the questions of whether stridulation represents a persistent strategy through evolutionary time, and whether it is associated with the development of hearing, remain poorly understood except in Orthoptera (Song et al., 2020). For these reasons, even recent studies on the behavioural significance of stridulation in insects mention only a fraction of the known mechanisms, and make no inferences regarding their evolution (Low, Naranjo & Yack, 2021).

I. INTRODUCTION

Sound production is one of the principal modes of signalling in animals (Hebets & Papaj, 2005; Ladich & Winkler, 2017; Ronald et al., 2017) and has attracted scientific interest since the time of Aristotle (Weiss, 1929). Arthropods are champions of acoustic signalling, displaying an extraordinary diversity of sound-producing mechanisms that are used in a variety of behavioural contexts (Cocroft & Rodriguez, 2005; Čokl & Virant-Doberlet, 2003; Davranoglou et al., 2020; Song et al., 2020; Virant-Doberlet & Čokl, 2004). At least 200,000 arthropod species also communicate with substrate-borne vibrational signals that are inaudible to humans (Cocroft & Rodriguez, 2005; Hill & Wessel, 2016), in behavioural contexts that overlap with those used by sound-producing species. Some arthropods specialise in communicating exclusively via acoustic or vibrational signals, whereas others may generate combined vibroacoustic signals for bimodal or multimodal communication (Girard, Kasumovic & Elias, 2011; Hill, 2007; Robinson, 1969; Strauß & Lakes-Harlan, 2014; Strauß & Stumpner, 2014). As a result, arthropods serve as model organisms for research concerning the intricacies of vibroacoustic sensing and communication (Barth et al., 1988; Brown et al., 1996; Cresswell, 1998; Shaw, 1994; Strauß & Lakes-Harlan, 2014; Young & Bennet-Clark, 1995).

V. Conclusions

VI. Acknowledgements VII. References

VIII. Supporting information

An outstanding problem in communication research is how small animals are able to overcome their limited muscle power to generate vibroacoustic signals that can be transmitted effectively and efficiently to receivers over large distances and through varying substrates (Bennet-Clark, 1998). A widespread solution to this problem is to use mechanisms that multiply the emitted song frequency and mechanical power of their vibroacoustic organs (Bennet-Clark, 1998; Davranoglou et al., 2019a; Longo et al., 2019). One of the simplest ways of achieving this morphologically is to use frequency multipliers in the form of stridulatory organs. Stridulation refers to any mechanism where opposing body parts are repeatedly struck or rubbed against each other to produce acoustic sound and/or substrate-borne vibrations (Figs 1 and 2C). The mechanism is simple in the sense that it consists of a movable component known as the plectrum (from ancient Greek $\pi\lambda\eta\kappa\tau\rho\rho\nu$, meaning a musical pick) (Fig. 1B) that is struck against a stationary component termed the stridulitrum (from Latin, referring to the process of uttering or making a shrill noise) (Ashlock & Lattin, 1963; Čokl et al., 2006; Masters, 1979) (Fig. 1E). As the plectrum is rubbed against the stridulitrum, the impact



Fig. 1. An example of stridulation in the burrowing bug *Cydnus aterrimus* (Forster) (Heteroptera: Pentatomomorpha). (A) Dorsal view of bug, showing the location of the stridulatory mechanism, where the plectrum is on the first abdominal segment (red inset), and strikes against the stridulitrum, which is located on the ventral surface of the hind wing (blue inset). The dashed arrows indicate the friction between the two components. (B) Closeup of the first abdominal segment of *C. aterrimus*, white arrow indicating the location of the plectrum; original photograph, taken using scanning electron microscopy. (C) Magnified view of the plectrum. (D) Inset showing the plectral file. (E) Structure of the stridulitrum, which consists of a series of blunt teeth. Specimen collected from Rhodes, Greece, and examined using a JEOL Neoscope JCM-5000 at 15 kV high vacuum, following coating for 150 s at 18 mA with gold/palladium (Quorum Technologies SC7620), giving a coating of 12.5 nm.

Heteroptera, or true bugs, provide a particularly good model system for studying the evolution of stridulation, for the following reasons: (i) they possess a very large number of distinct stridulatory mechanisms (Polhemus, 1994; Schaefer, Pupedis & Schaefer, 2015; Schuh & Weirauch, 2020); (i) their phylogeny is well supported (Wang et al., 2017), making it possible to map the evolutionary origins of these organs phylogenetically; (iii) they are well studied morphologically, which facilitates detailed inferences on the homologies of the respective components of their different stridulatory mechanisms; (iv) their perception of acoustic signals is confined to a single group (Nepomorpha), which allows factors affecting the origin of stridulation to be tested independently of the evolution of their ability to sense the acoustic component of a stridulatory call; and (v) they communicate using multimodal chemical (Davranoglou et al., 2017) and vibrational (McBrien, Čokl & Millar, 2002; Miklas, Lasnier & Renou, 2003) displays, which makes it possible to examine the adaptive advantages of adding an acoustic component to their signals - even in those cases where conspecifics may be unable to perceive this (Gogala et al., 1974). Indeed, chemical signals produced by specialised scent glands and vibrational signals produced through the tremulation

(i.e. body shaking or trembling) of an abdominal organ known as the tergal plate are thought to have originated at the root of Heteroptera (Davranoglou *et al.*, 2017; Gogala, 1984; Wang *et al.*, 2017). Vibrational signals may also be generated through derived appendage percussion (Koczor & Čokl, 2014), nonabdominal tremulation and wing buzzing (Kavčič *et al.*, 2013), so the stridulatory signals of Heteroptera have evolved against a broader backdrop of multimodal communication.

Herein we use Heteroptera as an informative case study to enhance our understanding of the evolutionary origins and adaptive value of stridulation more generally. To this end, we conduct the most extensive literature survey of stridulatory mechanisms to date, covering Heteroptera as well as several selected arthropod outgroups where stridulation is known, including arachnids. This enables us to document the phylogenetic distribution, evolutionary patterns, and behavioural significance of stridulation across arthropods with unprecedented precision. Our overarching aim is to use the data of our comprehensive literature survey to generate hypotheses that future phylogenetically controlled statistical studies could test using a narrower set of species, for which all of the relevant information is made available in the present work.



Fig. 2. (A) Distribution of signalling modalities across heteropteran infraorders. (B) Square inset showing vibroacoustic signalling in Pentatomomorpha. Horizontal bars beneath each infraorder in (A) and (B) represent species number (thickest bars being most speciose), the red portion of each bar (when present) indicates the percentage of stridulating species (on a scale from 0 to 100%). The three dominant stridulatory mechanisms are represented by different symbols (see key on top right) with all remaining mechanisms identified by a square), their colour indicates the habitat type where signalling takes place (see Table S4). Numbers on the right side of each symbol indicate how many times a particular stridulatory mechanism evolved independently in the corresponding infraorder, based on its morphology and phylogenetic distribution (relaxed estimates, see Table 1). The encircled \times symbol indicates that stridulation was absent at the root of each infraorder, and therefore all stridulatory mechanisms represent derived developments. Black branches of the phylogenetic tree indicate taxa where non-stridulatory vibrational signals have been experimentally confirmed; unconfirmed cases possess grey branches. Note that all non-stridulatory vibrational signals shown here are produced by abdominal tremulatory tergal plates, with the exception of the Gerromorpha, which use their legs (based on Davranoglou *et al.*, 2017). Phylogeny based on Wang *et al.* (2017). (C) An example of the frequently evolved abdomen–leg stridulatory mechanism in the genus *Pictinus* (Aradidae; adapted from Usinger & Matsuda, 1959), where the plectrum (top inset) strikes against an immobile stridulitrum (bottom inset; direction of motion depicted in red arrow).

II. METHODS

Our first step was to document the presence or absence of stridulatory mechanisms across Heteroptera and the selected arthropod outgroups, which we treated as a top-level binary character. We used strict morphological criteria to identify structures as stridulatory mechanisms (see online supporting information, Appendix S1). Some structures that have been described as stridulatory either do not satisfy these criteria, do not appear to be adapted for this function, or only one stridulatory component is known. However, they cannot be rejected outright as non-stridulatory, due to the absence of detailed morphological data, and are therefore identified as ambiguous in Tables 1 and 2 (ten cases in Heteroptera and three in the selected outgroups). When estimating how many times stridulatory structures evolved, we used both a strict and relaxed approach, which either includes or excludes ambiguous cases, respectively. The relaxed estimates do not

Biological Reviews 98 (2023) 942-981 © 2023 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

945

Table 1. List of all known heteropteran stridulatory mechanisms, with both conservative and relaxed estimates of the number of times they have evolved. If a structure is plesiomorphic and evolved once in a family, it is numbered only the first time it appears in the table. The presence of a tremulatory tergal plate (TTP) was determined from vibrational experiments, figures in the cited literature, or specimens directly examined by us.

| Infraorder | Taxon | Vibrational signals | Acoustic signals | Times evolved |
|------------|------------------|--|--|------------------|
| Dipsocoro | omorpha | | | |
| | All families | TTP (Sweet, 1996) | _ | Total: 0 |
| Enicoceph | <u>alomorpha</u> | TTP (Davranoglou <i>et al.</i> 2017) | | |
| | Enicocephalidae | TTP (Davranoglou <i>et al.</i> , 2017) | Coxal-prosternal mechanism (<i>Heissaptera</i> <i>janaki</i>) ^A (Štvs & Baňař 2006) | 1 |
| | | | J | Total: 0–1 |
| Gerromor | <u>pha</u> | | | |
| | Gerridae | Lag based ripples (e.g. Comis amains) | | |
| | Gerrinae | (Wilcox, 1979) | _ | |
| | Khagadotarsinae | spp.) (Polhemus, 1990 <i>b</i>) | _ | |
| | Trepobatinae | Leg-based ripples (Cryptobatoides | Stridulitrum on metaacetabulum–plectrum | 1 |
| | | brunneus) (Polhemus, 1990b, 1991) | on metatrochanter (half of <i>Metrobates</i> spp.) (Polhemus & Polhemus, 1993; Polhemus, 1994) | |
| | Ptilomerinae | Leg-based ripples (?) | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternites 2–6– plectrum on metatrochanter (<i>Stridulobates</i>) (Zattel & Thirumalai 2000) | 1 |
| | Veliidae | | (Etter & Thirumaiai, 2000) | |
| | Microveliinae | Leg-based ripples (<i>Microvelia longipes</i>) (Polhemus, 1990 <i>b</i>) | _ | |
| | Veliinae | Leg-based ripples (?) | Stridulitrum on connexival margin of segments 2–3–plectrum on basal surface of metafemur (<i>Angilovelia y-alba, Stridulivelia</i>) (Andersen, 1981; Zettel, 1996; Zettel & Thirumalai 2000) | 1 |
| | Veliinae | Leg-based ripples (?) | Abdominal stridulitrum laterally on sternites 3–4–plectrum on metatrochanter (<i>Paravelia</i> <i>structure</i>) (Pelhamus & Pelhamus 1084) | 1 |
| | Rhagoveliinae | Leg-based ripples (?) | Abdominal stridulitrum on connexival | 1 |
| | Tungoveninae | Leg stated ripples (i) | margin of segments 2–3–plectrum on basal surface of metafemur (<i>Chenevelia stridulans</i>) (Zettel, 1996) | 1 |
| | Rhagoveliinae | Leg-based ripples (?) | Stridulitrum on connexival margin of segment 4-plectrum on metatrochanter (<i>Rhagovelia lugubris</i>) (Polhemus & Polhemus 1988) | 1 |
| | | | Fomenius, 1900) | Total: 6 |
| Nepomor | pha | | | - |
| | Belostomatidae | | | |
| | Belostomatinae | Surface waves generated by body pumping (<i>Abedus</i>) (Kraus, 1989) | - | |
| | Lethocerinae | TTP-based signals (<i>Lethocerus</i>) (Barber, 1971); surface waves generated by body pumping (<i>Sphaerocoris</i>) (Kraus, 1989) | _ | |
| | Corixidae | / | Stridulitrum on lateral side of head (maxillary plate)–plectrum on inner surface of profemur (Aiken, 1985) | 1 |

| Table | 1. | (Cont.) |
|-------|----|---------|
|-------|----|---------|

| Infraorder | Taxon | Vibrational signals | Acoustic signals | Times evolved |
|------------|--------------------------------------|---------------------|--|------------------|
| | Micronectidae | _ | Generate signals up to 99 dB (Sueur et al., 2011); stridulitrum on segment 8-plectrum on paramere (Jansson, 1989); Austronecta; Micronecta, Papuanecta (Tinerella, 2008, 2013) | 1 |
| | Diaprepocoridae Gelastocoridae | _ | Stridulitrum on dorsally oriented part of sternum 9–plectrum on dorsal surface of proctiger (broadly distributed in <i>Nerthra</i>) (Polhemus & Lindskog, 1994) | 1 |
| | Helotrephidae Helotrephini | - | Wing edge–metafemur stridulatory device (all genera excluding <i>Esakiella</i>) (Polhemus, 1990 <i>a</i>) | 1 |
| | Helotrephini | _ | Rastrate patch on mesepisternum (stridulitrum)-finger-like process (plectrum) on prosternum (<i>Helotrephes</i> <i>formosanus</i> and <i>H. semiglobosus</i> , possibly synonymous) ^A (Polhemus, 1994) | 1 |
| | Trephotomasinae | _ | Wing edge-metafemur stridulatory device (<i>Trephotomas compactus</i>) (Papáček <i>et al.</i> , 1990) | 1 |
| | Limnotrephini | _ | Thorax–thorax mechanism involving serrations on wing base (stridulitrum)– denticles on posterior margin of cephalonotum ^A (Polhemus, 1990 <i>a</i>) | 1 |
| | Naucoridae | | | |
| | Limnocorinae | - | Stridulitrum on lateral margin of abdominal segments 2–3–plectrum on metafemur (<i>Limnocoris</i>) (Polhemus, 1994) | 1 |
| | Naucorinae | _ | Acoustic signals known; proposed mechanism involves interaction between abdominal terga 1–2 or 5–6 (<i>Ilyocoris</i> <i>cimicoides</i>) (Aiken, 1985) | 1 |
| | Nepidae | _ | Stridulitrum on acetabulum of procoxa– plectrum on procoxa (four spp. of New World <i>Ranatra</i>) (Aiken, 1985; Polhemus, 1994; Torre Bueno, 1905) | 1 |
| | Notonectidae | | | |
| | Anisopinae | _ | Stridulitrum on rostrum–plectrum on protibial comb (<i>Anisops, Buenoa</i>) (Aiken, 1985; Polhemus, 1994) | 1 |
| | Anisopinae | _ | Stridulitrum on coxa–plectrum on femur (Buenoa) (Aiken, 1985; Polhemus, 1994) | 1 |
| | Anisopinae | _ | stridulitrum below abdominal connexiva– plectrum on metafemur (males of <i>Anisops</i> <i>milloti</i> species group, <i>A. hancocki</i> and <i>A.</i> <i>hsyche</i>) (Polhemus, 1994) | 2 |
| | Anisopinae | _ | Wing edge-metafemur stridulatory device (two different types within the females of <i>A</i> . <i>wildti</i> group) (Bolhamur, 1004) | 2 |
| | Notonectinae | _ | Stridulitrum below abdominal connexiva– plectrum on metafemur (<i>Enithares</i>) | 1 |
| | Notonectinae | _ | (Polhemus, 1994) Wing edge–metafemur stridulatory device (<i>Martarega</i>) (Polhemus, 1994) | 1 |

1469185x, 2023, 3, Downloaded from https://onlinelibaray.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12938 by Oxford University, Wiley Online Library on [14/06/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

Table 1. (Cont.)

| Infraorder | Taxon | Vibrational signals | Acoustic signals | Times evolved |
|------------|-------------------------------|---|--|------------------|
| | Pleidae (Carpintero, 2014) | _ | Acoustic signals known (Aiken, 1985); tentative stridulatory organ, consisting of a rastrate patch on mesepisternum (stridulitrum)–finger-like process (plectrum) on prosternum ⁴ (Wefelscheid, 1912) | |
| Lontonod | momha | | | Total: 15–18 |
| reptopod | Leptopodidae | _ | STP (present in entire family excluding primitive <i>Leotichius</i>) (Pericart & Polhemus, 1990) | 1 |
| | Saldidae | | | |
| | Chiloxanthinae | TTP (Sweet, 1996) | _ | |
| | Saldini | _ | Wing edge-metafemur stridulatory device (<i>Lampracanthia</i>) (Polhemus, 1985) | 1 |
| | Saldoidini | _ | Wing edge-metafemur stridulatory device (Chartoscirta, Ioscytus, Macrosaldula, Rupisalda, Saldoida) (Polhemus, 1985) | 5 |
| | _ | | | Total: 7 |
| Cimicomo | orpha | TTD(2) (C : (2010)) | | 1 |
| | Anthocoridae | 1 1 P(?) (Carpintero & Dellape, 2012) | (<i>Guayascoris, Nidicola</i>) ^A (Carpintero & Dellapé, 2012) | 1 |
| | Lasiochilidae | TTP(?) (Carpintero, 2014) | Stridulatory organ of procoxa–protrochanter (<i>Lasiochilus</i>) ^A (Carpintero, 2014) | 1 |
| | | _ | Wing edge with stridulitrum (emboliar margin)–plectrum on mesotibia (<i>Lasiocolbus</i>) (Carpintero, 2014) | 1 |
| | Miridae | | | |
| | Bryocorinae | TTP-based vibrations (<i>Macrolophus</i>) (Gemeno <i>et al.</i> , 2015) | - | |
| | Cylapinae | _ | Wing edge–metafemur stridulatory device (<i>Euchilofulvius</i> , <i>Samoafulvius</i>) (Gorczyca, 1998, 2004) | 1 |
| | Deraecorinae | - | Wing edge-metafemur stridulatory device (<i>Obudua</i>) (Akingbohungbe, 1979) | 1 |
| | Mirinae | Abdominal tapping signals (<i>Lygus</i>) (Koczor & Čokl. 2014) | | |
| | Orthotylinae | | Wing edge stridulatory device (e.g. <i>Renodaeus</i> | 1 |
| | Orthotylinae | - | Stridulitrum in sternites 2–3 – plectrum unknown but likely hind femur (<i>Renodaeus</i> group of genera but not <i>Renodaeus</i>) (Henry, 2015) | 1 |
| | Phylinae | _ | Wing edge-metafemur stridulatory device [Hallodapini (Alloeominella, part of Hallodapus, Cleotomiris and Wygomiris; all Laemocoris, Systellonotopsis and Trichophthalmocapsus) and Ctypomiris (Leucophoropterini)] (Tamada et al., 2020; Schub. 1974, 1984; Yasunaga et al., 2019) | 1 |
| | Phylinae | _ | Stridulitrum on second abdominal sternum– plectrum unknown but likely hind femur (<i>Arafuramiris, Waterhouseana;</i> Leucophoropterini) (Schuh. 1984) | 1 |
| | Reduviidae | TTP-based vibrations (<i>Rhynocoris</i> <i>iracundus</i>) (Gogala, 1985) | Prosternal stridulitrum–labial plectrum (Cai <i>et al.</i> , 1994) | 1 |

Table 1. (Cont.)

| Infraorder | Taxon | Vibrational signals | Acoustic signals | Times evolved |
|------------|--|--|---|------------------|
| | Tingidae | Vibrational signals (TTP?) known in both adults and nymphs (Cocroft, 2001) | Acoustic signals known in <i>Corythucha ciliata</i> ; possible wing edge stridulitrum– abdominal plectrum ^A (Gogala, 1984) | 1 |
| | | | | Total: 8–11 |
| Pentatom | omorpha Aradoidea Aradidea | | | 0 11 |
| | Mezirinae | _ | Stridulitrum on abdominal sternum 3– | 4 |
| | | | plectrum on metafemur (Illibius, Pictinus, Psectrocoris, Stelgidocoris) (Usinger & Matsuda, 1959) | |
| | Mezirinae | _ | Stridulitrum on abdominal sternum 3–4– plectrum on metatibia (<i>Artabanus, Rossius</i>) (Usinger & Matsuda, 1959; Kormilev, 1971) | 1 |
| | Mezirinae | _ | Stridulitrum on abdominal sternum 4– plectrum on metafemur (<i>Strigocoris</i>) (Usinger & Matsuda, 1959) | 1 |
| | Calisiinae | _ | Stridulitrum on metapleuron–plectrum on metafemur (<i>Aradacanthia</i>) (Usinger & Matsuda, 1959) | 1 |
| | Coreoidea | | | 1 |
| | Alydidae | Numata <i>et al.</i> , 1989) | Wing edge-metalemur stridulatory device (Alydinae, in a group of related Nearctic genera) (Schaefer <i>et al.</i> , 2015); also <i>Alydus</i> and <i>Megalotomus</i> (Moulet, 1991) | I |
| | Rhopalidae Coreidae | TTP-based vibrations (Gogala, 1984) TTP-based vibrations; tapping signals on wood (Gogala, 1984; Takács <i>et al.</i> , 2008) | STP in <i>Jadera</i> (Zych <i>et al.</i>, 2012) Acoustic signals known (Gogala, 1984); stridulitrum on ventrolateral edge of pronotum–plectrum on lateral margin of fore wing ("CGPP" clade, i.e. <i>Centrocoris, Enoplops, Spathocera, Phyllomorpha, Prionotylus</i> and others) (Forthman, 2022; Moulet 1991: Schaefer 1962: Štvs. 1961) | 1 1 |
| | Stenocephalidae | _ | | |
| | Hyocephalidae <u>Pyrrhocoroidea</u> Largidae | - | - | |
| | Larginae | _ | Wing edge-metafemur stridulatory device (Larginae: <i>Arrhaphe</i> ; absent in related genera) (Lattin, 1958) | 1 |
| | Physopeltinae | _ | Procoxal stridulitrum–protrochanteral plectrum (<i>Physopella</i>) ^A (Stehlík & Kment, 2012: Stehlík, 2013) | 1 |
| | Physopeltinae | _ | Wing edge (and in some species supplemented lateral pronotal margin) stridulitrum-meso- and metafemoral plectrum (<i>Delacampius</i>) ^A (Stehlík & Jindra, 2006) | 1 |
| | Pyrrhocoridae | Tremulatory signals known from adults and nymphs of <i>Pyrrhocoris</i> <i>apterus</i> (Benediktov, 2007) (TTP) | Wing edge (and in some species supplemented lateral pronotal margin) stridulitrum–meso- and metafemoral plectrum (<i>Dindymus</i>) ^A (Stehlík, 2005) | 1 |
| | Idiostoloidea Idiostolidaa | | | |
| | Henicocoridae Lygaeoidea | _ | _ | |

Biological Reviews 98 (2023) 942–981 © 2023 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

949

| Table | 1. | (Cont.) |
|-------|----|---------|
|-------|----|---------|

| Infraorder | Taxon | Vibrational signals | Acoustic signals | Times evolved |
|------------|---------------------------------|---|--|------------------|
| | Artheneidae | TTP-based vibrational signals (Gogala, 1984) | _ | |
| | Berytidae | _ | _ | |
| | Blissidae | TTP-based vibrational signals (Minghetti <i>et al.</i> , 2020) | Stridulitrum on abdominal sternites 3–6– metatibial plectrum (<i>Heteroblissus</i>) (Ashlock & Lattin, 1963) | 1 |
| | Colobathristidae | TTP (Rengifo-Correa & Gonzáles, 2011) | Infraocular stridulitrum–plectrum on prefemur (<i>Trichocentrus</i>) (Coscarón & Dellapé, 2003) | 1 |
| | Cryptorhamphidae | _ | _ | |
| | Cymidae | _ | _ | |
| | Geocoridae | | | |
| | Australocorinae | TTP (Malipatil, 2012) | _ | |
| | Pamphantinae | _ | Wing edge-metafemur stridulatory device (<i>Abpamphantus gibbosus</i> ; Cuban species of <i>Pamphantus</i>) (Ashlock & Lattin, 1963; Rengifo-Correa <i>et al.</i> , 2014) | 1 |
| | Pamphantinae | _ | Wing edge-metafemur stridulatory device (<i>Epipolops stridulatus</i>) (Rengifo-Correa <i>et al.</i> , 2014) | 1 |
| | Pamphantinae | _ | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternum 3– plectrum on metafemur (<i>Cymapamphantus</i>) (Henry, 2013) | 1 |
| | Pamphantinae | _ | Infraocular stridulitrum–plectrum on prefemur (Cattarini) (Henry, 2013) | 1 |
| | Pamphantinae: Indopampantini | TTP? (Malipatil, 2017) | Absent (Malipatil, 2017) | |
| | Heterogastridae | - | - | |
| | Lygaeidae | | | |
| | Lygaeinae | TTP (Gogala, 2006) | _ | |
| | Orsillinae | _ | Wing edge–metafemur stridulatory device (Xyonysius, Oceanides, Metrarga) (Ashlock & Lattin, 1963) | 1 |
| | Ischnorrhynchinae Malcidae | _ | STP (Kleidocerys) (Gogala, 2006; Leston, 1957) | 1 |
| | Meschiidae | TTP (Malinatil 2014) | _ | |
| | Ninidae | | _ | |
| | Oxycarenidae | | _ | |
| | Pachygrontidae | _ | _ | |
| | Piesmatidae | _ | STP (<i>Piesma</i> spp.) (Jorigtoo <i>et al.</i> , 1998) | 1 |
| | Rhyparochromidae | | • • • • • | |
| | Rhyparochrominae | | | |
| | Cleradini | _ | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternites 3–4– plectrum on metafemur (Ashlock & Lattin, 1963; Malipatil, 1981; Malipatil & Blacket, 2011) | 1 |
| | Drymini | TTP (Pericart, 1998) | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternites 3–4 – plectrum on metafemur (Grossander major, Retrodrymus abundans, Austrodrymus flindersi) (Malipatil, 1977) | 1 |
| | Lethaeini | TTP (Pericart, 1998) | _ | |
| | Myodochini | _ | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternites 2–4 – plectrum on metafemur (<i>Ashlockaria</i>) (Ashlock & Lattin 1963: Harriagton 1980) | 1 |
| | Myodochini | _ | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternites 2–4 – plectrum on metafemur (<i>Afrovertanus</i> , <i>Erlacda</i> , <i>Pseudopamera</i>) (Ashlock & Lattin, 1963; Harrington, 1980) | 1 |

| Table 1. | (Cont.) |
|----------|---------|
|----------|---------|

| Infraorder | Taxon | Vibrational signals | Acoustic signals | Times evolved |
|------------|--|--|--|------------------|
| | Myodochini | _ | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternites 3–4 – plectrum on metafemur (<i>Eucosmetus</i> <i>albomarginatus</i>) (Ashlock & Lattin, 1963; | 1 |
| | Myodochini | _ | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternites 2–4 – plectrum on metafemur (<i>Froeschneria</i> , <i>Ligyrocoris</i> , <i>Slaterobius</i>) (Ashlock & Lattin 1963: Harrington 1980) | 1 |
| | Myodochini | _ | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternite 3 (<i>Stridulocoris</i>)-plectrum on metafemur (Ashlock & Lattin 1963; Harrington 1980) | 1 |
| | Myodochini | _ | Stridulitrum on lateral areas of prothorax– plectrum on prefemur (<i>Pseudocnemodus</i> <i>canadensis</i>) (Ashlock & Lattin, 1963; Harrington, 1980) | 1 |
| | Myodochini | - | Wing edge-metafemur stridulatory device | 1 |
| | Ozophorini | TTP (Pericart, 1998) | (<i>Futureosourgaus</i>) (Denape, 2003) Wing edge-metafemur stridulatory device (<i>Balboa, Prosonoeus bruneus</i> , 3 species of <i>Primierus, Vertomannus</i>) (Ashlock & Lattin, 1963; Ashlock & Sloter, 1982) | 1 |
| | Ozophorini | _ | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternites 2–4– plectrum on metafemur (<i>Lygofuscanellus</i>) (Ashlock & Slater, 1982; Slater, 1999) | 1 |
| | Rhyparochromini | TTP (Pericart, 1998) | Abdominal stridulirum on sternites 2–4 – plectrum on metafemur (<i>Altomarus</i> , <i>Scudderocoris albomarginatus</i>) (Ashlock & Lattin 1963: Dellapé <i>et al.</i> 2017) | 1 |
| | Udeocorini | TTP (Daerlac cephalotes) (Cassis & Symonds 2012) | - | |
| | Plinthisinae | TTP (Pericart, 1998) | STP defines subfamily (Pericart, 1998). Modifications: double plectrum on terga 1 and 2–double stridulitra on metathoracic wing veins (one on vein Cu, the other on Pcu); <i>Plinthisus hirsutus</i> group; <i>P. pulchellus</i> group; two wing stridulitra in <i>P. ericae</i> (Sweet & Slater 2004) | 1 |
| | Plinthisinae | _ | additional stridulitrum on propleuron– plectrum on prefemur (<i>P. peninsularis</i>) (Sweet & Slater, 2004) | 1 |
| | <u>Pentatomoidea</u> Acanthosomatidae | Vibrational signals using TTP (Iordan, 1958) | - | |
| | Aphylidae | _ | Absent (Grazia et al. 2008) | |
| | Canopidae | - | STP (Crogin et al. 2009) | 1 |
| | Cydnidae | Low-frequency vibrations concurrent with acoustic signalling (Gogala <i>et al.</i> 1974) | (Grazia et al., 2006) STP (all subfamilies) (Gogala, 1984; Grazia et al., 2008; Lawson & Chu, 1971; Lis & Heyna 2001) | 1 |
| | Garsaurinae | TTP (?) | STP absent in <i>Garsauria</i> and <i>Nishocoris</i> | |
| | Dinidoridae | _ | $\begin{array}{c} \text{Orazia it u., 2000, Lis & Heyna, 2001)} \\ \text{Absent} \\ \text{(Constructed by 10, 2000)} \end{array}$ | |
| | Lestoniidae | - | (Grazia <i>et al.</i> , 2008) Absent | |
| | Megaridiidae | TTP | (Grazia <i>et al.</i> , 2008) Absent (Grazia <i>et al.</i> , 2008) | |

951

Table 1. (Cont.)

| Taxon | Vibrat | ional signals | Acoustic signals | Times evolved |
|---|--------------------|--|--|------------------|
| Pentatomi | dae Vibrat (Gog | ional signals using TTP gala, 2006) | | |
| Pentatomina (Mecideini; Diemeniin | e – i) | | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternites 2–4– plectrum on metafemur (Leston, 1954) | 1 |
| "Arrow-head | led bugs" – | | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternite 3 (Štvs. 2000) | 1 |
| Discocephali | nae – | | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternites 5–7 – plectrum on metatibia (<i>Caridopthalmus</i> ; <i>Uncinala tau</i>) (McDonald, 1979) | 1 |
| Phloeidae | _ | | Absent (Grazia et al., 2008) | |
| Plataspidio | lae TTP-h (Gos | based vibrational signals gala, 2006) | Absent (Grazia et al., 2008) | |
| Saileriolid | ae – | · · · | Absent (Grazia et al., 2008) | |
| Scutellerid | ae | | | |
| Hoteinae, | _ | | Abdominal stridulitrum on sternites 5, 6 | 3 |
| Odontota | rsinae, | | sometimes extending to 7–plectrum on | |
| Pachycorina | | | STP (Grazia et al. 2008) | 2 |
| Scutellerin | ae Darini) | | | 4 |
| Sphaerocori (Scutelleri | ni – nae) | | Stridulitrum on posterior border of pygophore–plectrum on conjunctival sclerites (Leston, 1952) | 1 |
| Tessarator | nidae – | | STP (Grazia et al., 2008) | 1 |
| Oncomerina | e TTP (| Leston, 1954) | Absent (Grazia et al., 2008) | |
| Thaumast | ellidae – | . , | STP (Grazia <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Jacobs, 1989; Štvs. 1964) | 1 |
| Urostvlidio | lae – | | STP (Grazia et al., 2008) | 1 |
| | | | | Total: 48–51 |
| Total num | ber of independer | t appearances of hete | eropteran stridulatory mechanisms, minimum | 84 |
| Total num | ber of independent | nt appearances of her | teropteran stridulatory mechanisms, | 94 |

STP = stridulatory tergal plate, i.e. a TTP that is equipped with a plectrum that is struck against a stridulitrum located on a hindwing vein. A dash (-) denotes that a certain structure or behaviour has not been reported in the literature. ^ADenotes structures whose function as stridulatory mechanisms is ambiguous or doubtful.

include morphological characters that were initially misidentified as stridulatory but were later shown to have another function (e.g. Davranoglou *et al.*, 2019b). Like most previous authors, we assume that the presence of an apparent stridulatory mechanism indicates that a species is capable of producing vibroacoustic signals, even in the absence of behavioural observations to confirm this (see Appendix S1 for a justification for this assumption). Having compiled a list of all Heteroptera and arthropod outgroups known to possess an apparent stridulatory mechanism, we sub-classified these mechanisms into different stridulatory types, which we treated as representing distinct mechanistic character states. To do so, we adopted the terminology of Ashlock & Lattin (1963), where the mobile component of the stridulatory mechanism is termed the plectrum (typically a spine, tubercle, stiff hair, granule or a series thereof; occasionally also a

file), and the stationary component is termed the stridulitrum (usually, but not always, a file). We classified each stridulatory type based on the anatomical location of the plectrum and stridulitrum. Thus, a mechanism involving a wing plectrum striking against an abdominal stridulitrum is classified as a different stridulatory type from a mechanism involving a leg plectrum striking against a head stridulitrum. Differences in the segmental position of the plectrum or stridulitrum did not change our classification of stridulatory type (e.g. an abdomen-leg stridulatory mechanism was classified as such regardless of whether the stridulitrum was located on the second or third abdominal segment), but these differences were used to establish instances of parallel evolution of the same stridulatory type (see below). A compendium of all known types of heteropteran stridulatory organs is provided in Table 1, and its equivalent for our outgroups in Table 2.

Drivers of arthropod stridulation

Table 2. Summary of the distribution of stridulatory types in selected arthropods (Arachnida, Myriapoda, and selected Pancrustacea), with relaxed and conservative estimates of the number of times they have evolved, as well as the behavioural contexts in which stridulatory vibroacoustic signals are produced, when known. If a structure is plesiomorphic and evolved once in a family, it is numbered only the first time it appears in the table. Although the list is as comprehensive as possible, some stridulatory mechanisms may have been omitted due to the number of taxa examined.

| Higher-level grouping | Taxon | Location | Behavioural context | Times evolved |
|---|--|--|---|------------------|
| Arachnida Tetrapulmonata Pedipalpi Amblypygi | | | | |
| | Phrynidae [Acanthophrynus, Paraphrynus (?)] | Chelicera–chelicera mechanism (using stridulatory setae) | Defence (Shear, 1970; Quintero <i>et al.</i> , 2010) | 1 |
| | Phrynichidae [Euphrynichus (?), Musicodamon, Phrynichus (?)] | Chelicera–chelicera mechanism (using stridulatory setae) | Defence (Shear, 1970; Prendini <i>et al.</i> , 2005) | |
| | | . , | | Total: 1 |
| <u>Schizomida</u> | Szchizomidae (Schizomus, Trithyreus) | Chelicera–chelicera mechanism | - (Cokendolpher & Sites, 1988; Shimoiana, 1921) | 1 |
| | | | Silinojana, 1901) | Total: 1 |
| Thelyphonida | Thelyphonidae | Stridulitrum on chelicera- | Defence (Barrales-Alcalá | 1 |
| | (musigoprocius) | piccu uni on pecupaip coxa | <i>u u.</i> , 2010) | Total: 1 |
| <u>Araneae</u> Mygalomorphae | | | | |
| | Barychelidae (Aurecocrypta, Idiommata) | Stridulitrum on chelicera– plectrum on pedipalp coxa | - (Raven, 1994) | 1 |
| | Dipluridae (e.g. Diplura, Trechona) | Stridulitrum on chelicera– plectrum on pedipalp coxa | – (Pedroso <i>et al.</i> , 2019; Uetz & Stratton, 1982) | 1 |
| | Hexathelidae (Macrothele) Theraphosidae | Setae on palpal trochanter– setae on trochanter of leg 1 | – (Snazell & Allison, 1989) | 1 |
| | Acanthoscurria (Theraphosinae) | Setae on palpal trochanter- setae on trochanter of leg 1 | Defence (?) (Bertani et al., 2008; Pérez-Miles et al., 2005) | 1 |
| | Pamphobeteus (Theraphosinae) | Setae on coxa and trochanter of leg 3–setae on coxa and trochanter of leg 4 | Defence (Bertani et al., 2008) | |
| | Theraphosinae | Palpal coxa stridulitrum– plectrum on coxa of leg 1; setae on coxa, trochanter and femur of legs 1–2; setae on pedipalpal coxa–trochanter and trochanter–setae on coxa and trochanter of leg 1 | Defence (Bertani <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Marshall <i>et al.</i> , 1995; Perafán <i>et al.</i> , 2015; Raven, 1985) | 1 |
| | Some Ornithoctoninae; most Selenocosmiinae; all Thrigmopoeinae; <i>Harpactira</i> (Harpactirinae); many Aviculariinae and some Poecilotheriinae | Stridulitrum on chelicera- plectrum on pedipalp coxa | Defence (?) (Bertani et al., 2008) | 1 |
| | Eumenophorinae | Setae on pedipalpal coxa–setae on coxa of leg 1, occasionally on coxa of leg 2 as well | Defence (Raven, 1985) | 1 |
| | Harpactirinae | Setae on chelicera–setae on pedipalpal trochanter; additional setae on chelicera in <i>Trichognatha</i> | – (Gallon, 2002) | 1 |

(Continues on next page)

| Table 2. (| (Cont.) |
|------------|---------|
|------------|---------|

| Higher-level grouping | Taxon | Location | Behavioural context | Times evolved |
|--|---|--|---|------------------|
| Araneomorphae Dysderoidea | Theraphosidae undetermined | Chelicera-chelicera | - (Uetz & Stratton, 1982) | 1 |
| | Segestriidae e.g. Ariadna, Citharoceps | Carapace stridulitrum– plectrum on femur of leg 1 | Defence (Giroti & Brescovit, 2015; Maddiana 1087) | 1 |
| Scytodoidea and Lost Tracheae clade | | Cheliceral stridulitrum–palpal femur plectrum | Maddison, 1967) | 1 |
| | Ochyroceratidae Ochyrocera | Pedicel plectrum–unknown (abdominal stridulitrum?) | - (Baptista et al., 2008) | 1 |
| | Speocera | Cheliceral stridulitrum–palpal femur plectrum | – (Brignoli, 1977) | |
| | Sicariidae (Loxosceles, Sicarius) | Cheliceral stridulitrum–palpal femur plectrum | Courtship (Binford <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Cramer, 2015; Fischer <i>et al.</i> , 2009) | |
| | Pholcidae Several genera (both sexes, males or females only) Only females of certain genera; males have cheliceral stridulitrum-palpal femur | Cheliceral stridulitrum–palpal femur plectrum Stridulitrum on carapace– plectrum on abdomen | Courtship; disturbance (Huber, 1995) Courtship; disturbance (Huber, 1995) | 1 |
| | at all | | | |
| | Diguetidae (all species) | Cheliceral stridulitrum–palpal femur plectrum | Courtship, defence (Adams, 2014; Gertsch, 1958) | |
| | Plectreuridae | Cheliceral stridulitrum–palpal femur plectrum | – (Jocqué & Dippenaar- Schoeman, 2003) | |
| <u>Synspermiata</u> incertae sedis | | | | |
| | Telemidae (Kinku) | Stridulitrum on anteroventral surface of abdomen– plectrum on coxa 4 | – (Dupérré & Tapia, 2015) | 1 |
| <u>Archoleptonetidae</u> clade | | | | |
| | Gradungulidae (most species) | Cheliceral stridulitrum–palpal femur plectrum | - (Davies, 1993; Jocqué & Dippenaar- Schoeman 2003) | |
| | Archoleptonetidae (<i>Darkoneta</i>) | Plectrum on carapace– stridulitrum on dorsal surface of abdomen | – (Ledford <i>et al.</i> , 2011) | 1 |
| CY Spigot clade | A / 1 ·1·1 | | $(\mathbf{C} : 1 + 0 + 0 + 0)$ | |
| | Austrochildae (<i>Thaida</i>) Leptonetidae | femur plectrum | - (Griswold <i>et al.</i> , 2005) | |
| | Appaleptoneta, Chisoneta, Neoleptoneta, Ozarkia, Tayshaneta | Cheliceral stridulitrum– plectrum on pedipalpal tibia (?) | - (Ledford <i>et al.</i> , 2011) | |
| Palpimanoidea | Archaoidao | Stridulitrum on chelicera- | - (Criswold at al. 2005) | 1 |
| | (most species) | plectrum on pedipalpal tarsus; stridulitrum on petiole–plectrum on abdomen | - (Griswold <i>et al.</i> , 2003, Wood & Scharff, 2018) | 1 |
| | Huttoniidae (Huttonia) | Cheliceral stridulitrum–palpal femur plectrum | - (Griswold et al., 2005) | |

| Table 2. | (Cont.) |
|----------|---------|
|----------|---------|

| Higher-level grouping | Taxon | Location | Behavioural context | Times evolved |
|-----------------------|--|---|---|------------------|
| | Mechysmaucheniidae (Mechysmauchenius) | Cheliceral stridulitrum–palpal femur plectrum | - (Orster <i>et al.</i> , 2000) | |
| | Palpimanidae (e.g. <i>Palpimanus</i>) | Cheliceral stridulitrum–palpal femur plectrum | Defence; mating (Líznarová <i>et al.</i> , 2018; Uhl & Schmitt, 1996) | |
| Araneoidea | | | | |
| | Anapidae Micropholcomma | Pedipalpal patella stridulitrum– femoral plectrum on leg 1 | - (Rix & Harvey, 2010) | 1 |
| | Most Micropholcommatini | Cheliceral stridulitrum– plectrum on pedipalpal trochanter | – (Rix & Harvey, 2010) | 1 |
| | Araneidae | Stridulitrum on book lung– | Defence (Hinton & | 1 |
| | (Micrathena) | plectrum on coxa of fourth leg | Wilson, 1970; Scharff & Coddington, 1997) | |
| | Cyatholipidae | Carapace stridulitrum– abdominal plectrum | - (Griswold, 1997) | 1 |
| | Linyphiidae | | (C 1 C 9 | 1 |
| | Most genera | pedipalp plectrum? | - (Scharff & Coddington, 1997; Uetz & Stratton, 1982) | 1 |
| | e.g. Asthenargus, Semljicola | Stridulitrum on book lung– plectrum on coxa of fourth leg | – (Jocqué, 2005; Miller, 2007) | 1 |
| | Undetermined | Palpal stridulitrum–plectrum on coxa 1 | – (Jocqué, 2005) | 1 |
| | e.g. Porhomma | Stridulitrum on coxa 1– plectrum on trochanter 2 | – (Uetz & Stratton, 1982) | 1 |
| | Malkaridae | | | 0 |
| | Pararchaea | Stridulitrum on chelicera– unknown (pedipalp plectrum?); plectrum on femur 1–stridulatory file on femur 2 | – (Griswold <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Rix, 2005) | 2 |
| | Chilenodes | Stridulitrum on lateral | – (Agnarsson, 2004) | 1 |
| | Mimetidae (Ero) | Stridulitrum on chelicera– unknown (plectrum on pedipalp?) | – (Lissner, 2018) | 1 |
| | Mysmenidae (Mysmenopsinae) | Plectrum on femur of leg 1 (males only)–stridulitrum unknown; plectrum on femur of leg 4 (both sexes) | – (Hormiga, 2015) | 2 |
| | Physoglenidae (most genera, with some secondary losses) | Carapace stridulitrum– abdominal plectrum | – (Dimitrov <i>et al.</i> , 2017; Forster <i>et al.</i> , 1990) | |
| | Calcarsynotaxus | Stridulitrum on posterior sternum, covering coxa 4– plectrum on petiole | - (Rix et al., 2009) | 1 |
| | Pimoidae (Pimoa) | Stridulitrum on chelicera– unknown (pedipalp plectrum?) | – (Scharff & Coddington, 1997) | |
| | Tetragnathidae | Cheliceral stridulitmum naln-1 | - (Iocauá 2005, Özlevevel- | 1 |
| | Nanometingo | femur plectrum Stridulitrum on book huma | <i>et al.</i> , 2017) | 1 |
| | manomeunae | plectrum on coxa of fourth leg | – (Alvarez-Padılla & Hormiga, 2011) | 1 |
| | Pinkfloydia | Possible leg–leg mechanism: markings on legs 1 and 4 | (Dimitrov & Hormiga, 2011) | 1 |

| Table 2. | (Cont.) |
|----------|---------|
|----------|---------|

| Higher-level grouping | Taxon | Location | Behavioural context | Times evolved |
|---|---|---|---|------------------|
| | Theridiidae Synapomorphic (excluding Hadrotarsinae) | Stridulitrum on carapace– plectrum on abdomen | Competition; courtship (Agnarsson, 2004; | 1 |
| | Certain Hadrotarsinae | Stridulitrum on lateral spinneret–plectrum unknown | Gwinner-Hanke, 1970) – (Agnarsson, 2004) | 1 |
| Former Deinopoidea | Uloboridae (Polencia, Tangaroa, Waitkera) | Pedipalpal endite stridulitrum– palpal tarsus plectrum | - (Opell, 1979) | 1 |
| <u>Titanoecoidea</u> | Phyxelididae (most species) | Stridulitral scales on chelicera– plectral setae on pedipalp femur | Courtship (Griswold et al., 2012) | 1 |
| | Titanoecidae (many species) | Stridulitral setae on chelicera– plectral granules on pedipalp femur | – (Almeida-Silva <i>et al.</i> , 2009, 2010) | 1 |
| <u>Zodarioidea</u> | | | | |
| | Zodariidae Akyttara homunculus | Carapace stridulitrum– abdominal plectrum | – (Jocqué, 2005) | 1 |
| | Mallinella | 4–6 stridulatory organs: leg–leg mechanism: stridulitra on femora 1–2–3, corresponding plectra on femora 2–3–4 | – (Jocqué, 2005) | 6 |
| Marronoid clade | Amaurobiidae (Anisacate; Emmenomma; Macrobunus; Rubrius | Stridulitrum on pedipalpal tarsus–pedipalpal tibial plectrum | - (Griswold et al., 2005) | 1 |
| | Antistea, Neoantistea | Carapace stridulitrum– abdominal plectrum | Courtship (Galán-Sánchez & Alvarez-Padilla, 2017; Jocqué & Bosmans, 1982; | 1 |
| | Hahnia | Stridulitrum on chelicera– plectrum on pedipalp patella | – (Jocqué & Bosmans, 1982) | 1 |
| <u>Oval Calamistrum</u> <u>clade</u> | | | | |
| | Lycosidae Pardosa | Stridulitrum on book lung– plectrum on coxa of fourth | Courtship; competition (Kronestedt, 1973; Rypstra <i>et al.</i> 2009) | 1 |
| | Occurs broadly in family | Stridulitrum on pedipalpal tarsus–plectrum on pedipalpal tibia | Courtship; competition (Fernández-Montraveta <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Sweger & Uetz, 2016) | 1 |
| Dionycha part B | | | | |
| | Corinnidae (<i>Olbus</i>) | Stridulitrum on abdomen– plectrum on femur 4; stridulitrum on femur 4– | – (Jocqué, 2005) | 2 |
| | Castianeira | Carapace stridulitrum– abdominal plectrum | - | 1 |
| | Salticidae e.g. Habronattus agilis group, H. dossenus, Saitis michaelseni | Carapace stridulitrum– abdominal plectrum | Courtship (Gwynne & Dadour, 1985; Elias <i>et al.</i> , 2003; Maddison & Stratton, 1988) | 1 |

1469185x, 2023, 3, Downloaded from https://onlinelibaray.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12938 by Oxford University, Wiley Online Library on [14/06/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

(Continues on next page)

| Table 2. | (Cont.) |
|----------|---------|
|----------|---------|

| Higher-level grouping | Taxon | Location | Behavioural context | Times evolved |
|-----------------------|---|--|---|------------------|
| | e.g. Menemerus; Phiddipus mystaceus | Stridulitrum on palpal tarsus– plectrum on palpal tibia | – (Gwynne & Dadour, 1985; Wesolowska, 1999) | 1 |
| | Certain Arachnomureae and Heliophaninae | Stridulitrum on carapace below eyes–plectrum on femur of leg 1 | – (Maddison, 1987) | 1 |
| Other Arachrida | | | | Total: 57 |
| Opiliones Dyspnoi | | | | |
| | Ischyropsalididae (<i>Ceratolasma</i>) | Stridulitrum on pedipalpal femur–plectrum on cheliceral segment 1 | – (Gruber, 1978; Šilhavý, 1978) | 1 |
| | Nemastomatidae | | | |
| | Giljarovia, Mediostoma | Stridulitrum on ocularium– plectrum on pedipalpal femur | – (Gruber, 1978; Šilhavý, 1978) | 1 |
| | Histricostoma, Mediostoma | Chelicera–chelicera mechanism (row of ridges on cheliceral segment 1) | – (Martens, 1978) | 1 |
| | Nemastoma | Stridulitrum on femur of leg 3– plectrum on femur of leg 2 | – (Šilhavý, 1978) | 1 |
| <u>Laniatores</u> | | | | |
| | Cosmetidae (Cynorta, Paecilaema) | Stridulitrum on pedipalpal femur–plectrum on cheliceral segment 1 | Defence (Townsend et al., 2019) | 1 |
| | Cryptogeobiidae (Bissulla, Pseudopachylus, Tibangara) | Plectrum on base of pedipalpal femur (and apex of trochanter in <i>Bissulla</i>)– stridulitrum unknown (cheliceral base?) | – (Kury, 2014) | 1 |
| | Enedanidae | Stridulitrum on pedipalpal | (Šillara (1079) | 1 |
| | (Bupares) | femur–plectrum on cheliceral segment 1 | – (Siinavy, 1978) | 1 |
| | Guasiniidae (Guasinia) | Chelicera–chelicera mechanism: stridulatory granules and two large processes on chelicera | – (Pinto-da-Rocha & Kury, 2003) | 1 |
| | Phalangodidae (<i>Minuides</i>) | Stridulitrum on ocularium– plectrum on tibia of leg 3 | – (Šilhavý, 1978) | 1 |
| | Samoidae (Maracaynatum) Stygnopsidae | Stridulitrum on segment 1 of chelicera–plectrum unknown | – (Colmenares & Tourinho, 2016) | 1 |
| | Hoplobunus | Unknown | Defence (Pomini et al., 2010) | _ |
| | Panzosus | Chelicera–chelicera mechanism (row of ridges on cheliceral segment 2) | – (Gruber, 1976; Martens, 1978) | 1 |
| | Travuniidae (Peltonychia) | Chelicera–chelicera mechanism (row of ridges on cheliceral segment 1) | - (Martens, 1978) | 1 |
| | Triaenonychidae (Amatola, Biacumontia, Laurencella, Lictomontia) | Chelicera–chelicera mechanism (row of ridges on cheliceral segment 2) | – (Lawrence, 1937) | 1 |
| | Zalmoxidae (Minuides) | Stridulitrum on ocularium– plectrum on tibia of leg 3 | – (Šilhavý, 1978) | 1 |

957

1469185x, 2023, 3, Downloaded from https://onlinelibaray.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12938 by Oxford University, Wiley Online Library on [14/06/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

Table 2. (Cont.)

Scorpiones

Solifugae

Myriapoda Chilopoda

Diplopoda Sphaerotheriida

Higher-level grouping

Taxon

Bothriuridae

Centruroidinae

Diplocentridae

certain Opistophthalmus

Scorpionidae Heterometrus

(Oiclus)

Pandinus

Scorpio

(all species)

Scolopendridae

(Alipes, Rhysida)

Scutigeridae

Arthrosphaeridae (most species)

(Scutigera)

(several related genera)

Buthidae Parabuthus

(Brachistosternus; Timogenes)

Location

other

plectrum

Tergum-tergum mechanism:

Stridulitrum on mesosomal

Stridulitrum on sternum 3-

Fine hairs on coxa of leg 1-

denticles of pedipalpal coxa

Stiff setae on maxillary process

of coxa of leg 1-tubercles on

plectrum in the form of setae on chelicera; chelicerachelicera mechanism, using specialised plate-like cuticle

Stiff setae on pedipalpal coxa-

denticles on coxa of leg 1

Denticles on pedipalpal coxa-

denticles on coxa of leg 1

mechanism: two identical files

on each chelicera (rubbed against each other)

Bending of ultimate legs

Bending of ultimate legs

Anterior telopod with

stridulation ribs on male

harp/female washboard-

processes on inner margin of

Chelicera-chelicera

plectrum on pecten

pedipalpal coxa

Stridulitrum on carapace-

tergum 7 and metasomal terga 1-3-aculeus acts as

granules on mesosomal terga

1-7; terga rub against each

| manos Davranoglou ar | nd others |
|---|------------------|
| Behavioural context | Times evolved |
| | Total: 14 |
| Defence (Acosta & Maury, 1990; Ochoa & Ojanguren Affilastro, 2007) | 1 |
| Defence (Alexander, 1957 <i>a</i> ; Prendini, 2004) | 1 |
| Defence (Esposito <i>et al.</i> , 2018; Lourenço & Cloudsley- | 1 |
| Defence (Acosta & Maury, 1990) | 1 |
| Defence (Alexander, 1957 <i>a</i> , 1958) | 0-1 |
| Defence (Alexander, 1957 <i>a</i>) | 2 |
| Defence (Alexander, 1957 <i>a</i>) | 0-1 |
| Defence (Acosta & Maury, 1990; Constantinou & Cloudsley- | 0–1 |
| Thompson, 1984) | Total: 6-9 |
| Defence (Hrušková- Martišová <i>et al.</i> , 2008) | 1 |
| | Total: 1 |
| Defence (Cloudsley- Thompson, 1961 <i>a</i> ; Kronmüller & | 1 |
| Lewis, 2015) Defence (Dumortier, 1963) | 1 |
| Courtship (Moritz & Wesener, 2017; Wesener <i>et al.</i> , 2011) | 1 |
| | Total: 3 |

(Continues on next page)

Biological Reviews 98 (2023) 942–981 © 2023 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

anal shield

Table 2. (Cont.)

| Higher-level grouping | Taxon | Location | Behavioural context | Times evolved |
|--|--|--|---|------------------|
| Pancrustacea Eumalacostraca Peracarida | | | | |
| Amphipoda | Aoridae | Rubbing of article 5-article 2 of | – (Schmitz, 2002) | 1 |
| | (Granatateretta) Ischyroceridae (Ericthonius) | gnathopod 1 Stridulitrum on ventral margin of coxal plate of gnathopod 2-unknown plectrum | – (Hiroyuki, 2009) | 1 |
| | Melitidae (Melitic) | Coxal plate 5–unknown | - (Schmitz, 2002) | 1 |
| | (Photis) | Modified surfaces on coxa of gnathopod 2 –coxa of pereopod 3 rubbing on each other | – (Jung <i>et al.</i> , 2017; Schmitz, 2002) | 1 |
| | Talitridae (Gazia samroiyodensis) | Epimera 2–3 rubbing on each other | - (Azman <i>et al.</i> , 2014) | l Total: 5 |
| Isopoda | | | | I otal: J |
| | Armadillidae (Armadillo, Cubaris) | Stridulitrum on pereon epimeron–plectrum on propodus of pereopod 5 | Defence; aggregation (?) (Cividini & Montesanto, 2018; Montesanto, 2018) | 1 |
| | Sphaeromatidae (Cymodoce) | Tergum–tergum mechanism: file-like patches on thoracic terga | Aggression (Nakamachi et al., 2015) | 1 |
| Decapoda Achelata | | | | Total: 2 |
| Anniala | Palinuridae (Linuparus, Palinurus) | Stridulitrum on antennular plate–plectrum on last segment of antennal peduncle; rubbing together of abdominal segments | Aggression; defence (Bouwma & Herrnkind, 2009; Schmitz, 2002) | 1 |
| | | ababiinina soginenas | | Total: 1 |
| <u>Astacidea</u> | Parastacidae (Eugstacus) | Stridulitrum on tergal ridges– plectrum on tergal bristles | Defence (Sandeman & Wilkens (1982) | 1 |
| D 1 1 11. | () | produum on tengal onstato | () () () () () () () () () () () () () (| Total: 1 |
| Dendrobranchiata | Penaeidae (Metapenaeopsis, Parapenaeus) | Carapace–abdomen mechanism: ridges on posterior branchiostegite of carapace–anterior portion of first abdominal (pleon) segment | – (Schmitz, 2002) | 1 |
| C-1::1 | | | | Total: 1 |
| Geomaea | Thalassinidae | Pereiopod-carapace | - (Guinot-Dumortier & | 1 |
| | (Thatasshia) Upogebiidae (Upogebia) | Pereiopod–pereiopod mechanism: stridulitrum on propodus of first pereiopod | – (Guinot-Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960) | 1 |
| | | For a more boroupour | | Total: 2 |
| Anomura | Coenobitidae (Coenobita) | Tubercles on dorsal surface of cheliped propodus | Defence (Imafuku & Ikeda, 1990; Reshmi & Bijukumar, 2010) | 1 |

(Continues on next page)

Biological Reviews 98 (2023) 942–981 © 2023 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

959

| Table 2. | (Cont.) |
|----------|---------|
|----------|---------|

| Higher-level grouping | Taxon | Location | Behavioural context | Times evolved |
|---|--|---|---|------------------|
| | Diogenidae (Ciliopagurus) | Cheliped–cheliped mechanism: stridulitrum on propodus and dactylus of cheliped | Aggression; defence (Field et al., 1987) | 1 |
| | Pylochelidae (<i>Trizocheles</i>) | Tubercles on cheliped carpus– tubercles on propodium and | – (Mclaughlin & Lemaitre, 2008) | 1 |
| | | carpus of second pereopod | | Total: 3 |
| Brachyura Heterotremata Calappoidea | | | | |
| Calappolaca | Calappidae | | | |
| | Acanthocarpus, Calappa, Matuta | Plectrum on cheliped manus- stridulitrum on | - (Guinot-Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960; | 1 |
| | Mursia | Stridulitrum on cheliped dactylus–plectrum on ischium of endopod of third maxilliped | - (Galil & Spiridonov, 1998; Guinot-Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960) | 1 |
| <u>Eriphioidea</u> | | | · · · · | |
| | Eriphiidae (Globopilumnus) | Leg–leg mechanism: granules on merus of cheliped and pereiopods 2–4 | – (Guinot-Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960) | 1 |
| | Menippidae | Stridulitrum on merus of | Defence (Guinot- | 1 |
| | (Mennipe) | cheliped–granules on orbital border | Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960) | |
| Goneplacoidea | | | , | |
| | Goneplacidae | | (Carina + Dama antian & | 1 |
| | Lambdaphallus | region–plectrum on cheliped dactyl | Dumortier, 1960) | 1 |
| | Ommatocarcinus | Stridulitrum on pterygostomial region–plectrum on cheliped merus | – (Guinot-Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960) | 1 |
| | Psopheticus | Stridulitrum on suborbital protrusion–plectrum on cheliped merus | Defence (Guinot- Dumortier & Dumortier 1960) | 1 |
| | Euryplacidae (<i>Trizocarcinus</i>) | Plectrum on cheliped merus- stridulitrum on pterverstomial region | – (Guinot-Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960) | 1 |
| Portunoidea | | pterygostormar region | | |
| | Portunidae Ovalipes | Stridulitrum on pterygostomial region–plectrum on cheliped | – (Guinot-Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960) | 1 |
| | Ovalipes | Stridulitrum on propodus of cheliped–plectrum on second pereiopod merus | Courtship (Buscaino <i>et al.</i> , 2015) | 1 |
| Potamoidea | | percloped merus | | |
| | Potamonautidae Liberonautes latidactulus | Setae on coxae of chelined | – (Guinot-Dumortier & | 1 |
| | Liveronautes unuallytus | pereiopods 2 and 3-setae on branchiostegite | Dumortier, 1960; Calman, 1908) | 1 |
| | Sudanonautes (S. africanus, S. aubryi) | Setae on coxae of pereiopods 2 and 3 (occasionally on cheliped too)–setae on branchiostegite | – (Guinot-Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960; Calman, 1908) | 1 |
| Pseudozioidea | Pseudoziidae | Stridulitrum on ptervoostomial | – (Guinot-Dumortier & | 1 |
| | (Euryozius, Pseudozius) | region–plectrum on cheliped carpus | Dumortier, 1960) | I |

Table 2. (Cont.)

| Higher-level grouping | Taxon | Location | Behavioural context | Times evolved |
|-------------------------------------|--|---|---|------------------|
| Pseudothelphusoidea | Pseudothelphusidae (Potamocarcinus) | Stridulitrum on merus of third maxilliped–plectrum on propodus of second maxilliped | Defence (Lawrence et al., 1973) | 1 |
| <u>Thoracotremata</u> Gransoidea | | | | |
| orapsonata | Gecarcinidae (Gecarcinus) | Stridulitrum on pterygostomial region–plectrum on cheliped propodus | Defence (Lawrence et al., 1973) | 1 |
| | Sesarmidae (Perisesarma, Sesarma) | Chela-chela mechanism (tubercles on cheliped dactyl and propodus) | Courtship; territoriality (Boon <i>et al.</i> , 2009) | 1 |
| | Varunidae (Acmaeopleura, Brachynotus, Chasmagnathus, Gaetice, Helice, Hemigrapsus, Metaplax, Tetragrapsus) | Stridulitrum below eyes– plectrum on cheliped merus | Territoriality (Marilyn, 1977) | 1 |
| Ocypodoidea | | | | |
| | Dotillidae Dotilla | Pereiopod-bristles on carapace | – (Guinot-Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960) | 1 |
| | Ilyoplax | Plectrum on carpus of cheliped–granules on infraorbital protubarance | – (Guinot-Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960) | 1 |
| | Macrophthalmidae (Macrophthalmus) | Plectrum on merus of cheliped– granules on infraorbital protuberance | – (Guinot-Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960) | |
| | Ocypodidae Ocypode | Stridulitrum on propodus– plectrum on ischium of large cheliped; gastric mill stridulatory mechanism | Defence; territoriality (Guinot-Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960; Taylor et al. 2019) | 2 |
| | Uca | Tubercles on propodus of large cheliped–granules on merus and carpus of first pereiopod | Courtship (Guinot- Dumortier & Dumortier, 1960; Salmon & Atsaides, 1968) | 1 |
| <u>Hexapoda</u> | | | Samon & Atsaucs, 1900) | Total: 22 |
| <u>Palaeoptera</u> | Odonata Epiophlebiidae (Epiophlebia) | Stridulitrum on abdominal segments 3–6/7–plectrum on metafemur (present in larvae | Defence (Aiken, 1985; Carle, 2012) | 1 |
| Neoptera | | omy) | | Total: 1 |
| Dictyoptera Blattaria | Blaberidae Epilamprinae (Aptera fusca) | Acoustic signals known; proposed mechanism involves interaction between | Defence (Roth & Hartman, 1967) | 1 |
| | | abdominal terga* | | 1 |

(Continues on next page)

| Higher-level grouping | Taxon | Location | Behavioural context | Times evolved |
|---|--|--|---|------------------|
| | Oxyhaloinae (Henschoutedenia, Jagrehnia, Oxyhaloa, Nauphoeta, Rhyparobia) Panchlorinae (many species of Panchlora) Blattidae | Stridulitrum on costal margin of wing-plectrum on lateral margin of pronotum Stridulitrum on costal margin of wing-plectrum on lateral margin of pronotum | Courtship; defence (Hartman & Roth, 1967; Roth & Hartman, 1967) – (Roth & Hartman, 1967) | 0-1 |
| | Archiblattinae (Archiblatta) | Stridulitrum (?) on hind wing– plectrum (?) on abdominal tergum 1 ^A | – (Dumortier, 1963; Roth & Hartman, 1967) | 1 |
| | Polyzosteriinae (Megazosteria patula) | Interaction between stridulatory pegs on pro-, meso- and metathoracic terga | Defence (Rentz, 2017) | 1 |
| | Ectobiidae | | | |
| | Nyctiborinae (Megaloblatta) | Stridulitrum on abdominal sternum 5–plectrum on abdominal sternum 6 | Defence (Schal et al., 1982) | 1 |
| Martalaa | | | | Total: 3–6 |
| Mantodea | Empusidae (many genera, e.g. <i>Gongylus</i> , <i>Idolomantis</i>) Hymenopodidae | Stridulitrum on tegmen– plectrum on metafemur (sometimes on metacoxa) | Defence (Varley, 1939; Wood-Mason, 1878) | 1 |
| | Hestiasula Pseudocreobotra | Wings–(?) ^A Wing–abdomen mechanism (ridges on metathoracic wing–granules on abdomen?) | Defence (Shelford, 1903) Defence (Edmunds, 1972) | 1 1 |
| | Mantidae Choeradodis | Stridulitrum on lateral margin of pronotum–plectrum on fore femur | Defence (Ramsay, 1990; Robinson, 1969; Wieland, 2013) | 1 |
| | Heterochaeta, Mantis, Stagmatoptera, Tenodera Sphodromantis, Rhombodera, Tamolanica | Wing-abdomen mechanism: ridges on metathoracic wing- granules on abdomen (fine structure confirmed only for <i>Mantic</i>) | Defence (Heath, 1980; Hill, 2007; Wood- Mason, 1878) | |
| | Hierodula, Sphodropoda | Stridulitrum on tegmen– plectrum on metafemur | Defence (Varley, 1939; Wood-Mason, 1878) | Total: |
| <u>Hemiptera</u> (non-Heteroptera) Sternorrhyncha | | | | 3-4 |
| Psylloidea | (many families) | Stridulitrum on mesothorax– plectrum on axillary (?) (Liao <i>et al.</i> , 2019) | Courtship (Liao et al., 2022) | 1 |
| Auchenorrhyncha | | | | |
| | Cicadidae Many genera of Cicadinae and Tibicininae, e.g. Babras, Calliopsida, Chonosia, Clidophleps, Onoralna, Plautilla, Tettigades, Tibicina, Subpsaltria, Zammara | Stridulitrum on mesonotum– plectrum on fore wing (Moulds, 2005) | Courtship (Luo & Wei, 2015) | 2 |
| | Cyclochila | Stridulitrum on pronotal collar–plectrum on fore wing base (Moulds, 2005) | - (Moulds, 2005) | 1 |

(Continues on next page)

| Table | 2. | (Cont.) |
|-------|----|---------|
|-------|----|---------|

| Higher-level grouping | Taxon | Location | Behavioural context | Times evolved |
|-----------------------|--|--|--|------------------|
| | Maroboduus | Stridulitrum on hind wing costa-plectrum on anal vein of fore wing (Moulds 2005) | - (Moulds, 2005) | 1 |
| | Moana | Stridulitrum on scutellum– plectrum on fore wing (Boulard, 1976) | – (Boulard, 1976) | 1 |
| | Carineta | Genital mechanism (Boulard, 1986) | – (Boulard, 1986) | 1 |
| Orthontora | | | | Total: 7 |
| Caelifera | | | | |
| Acridoidea | | | | |
| | Acrididae | | a 1 | |
| | Many species of Acridinae (Truxalini), Catantopinae, Eremogryllinae, Gomphocerinae | Stridulitrum on tegmen– plectrum on metafemur (type 1) | Courtship; territoriality (Lorier <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Otte, 1970; Uvarov, 1966) | 1 |
| | Many Öedipodinae | Stridulitrum on tegmen– plectrum on metafemur (type 2) | Courtship (Otte, 1970; Uvarov, 1966) | |
| | Gomphocerinae (Phonogaster) | Stridulitrum on abdominal terga 3–5–plectrum on metafemur | – (Henry, 1942) | 1 |
| | Egnatiinae | Stridulitrum on abdominal terga 4–8–plectrum on metatibia | – (Henry, 1942) | 1 |
| | many Copiocerinae, certain Gomphocerinae (e.g. Aleuasini), Hemiacridinae, Oedipodinae | Stridulitrum on tegmen– plectrum on metatibia | Courtship; territoriality (Lorier <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Otte, 1970; Uvarov, 1966) | 1 |
| | Ommexechidae | Tegmen–metafemur | -(Song et al., 2020) | 1 |
| | Pamphagidae | 0 | | |
| | e.g. Acinipe, Pamphagus | Tegmen-wing | Courtship; defence (García <i>et al.</i> , 2014) | 1 |
| | (most species) | Krauss organ: stridulitrum on second abdominal tergum– plectrum on metafemur | Courtship; defence (Massa, 2012) | 1 |
| | Porthetinae | Stridulitrum on tegmen– plectrum on metatibia | Courtship; defence (Burtt, 1946; Dirsh, 1961; Otte, 1970) | |
| | Tropidauchenini (Acrostira, Purpuraria); Pamphagini (Glania) (?) | Metanotum–basalar sclerite | Courtship (Johnsen, 1973; López <i>et al.</i> , 2008) | 1 |
| | Euryparyphini (<i>Euryparyphes</i>) | Stridulitrum on tegmen– plectrum on mesotibia | Courtship (Korsakoff, 1941) | 1 |
| | Akicerinae (part) | Stridulitrum on hind wing- plectrum on mesotibia | – (Uvarov, 1943) | 1 |
| | Pamphagodidae | Tegmen–wing stridulation | – (Dirsh, 1961) | |
| | Romaleidae | Tegmen-wing stridulation | Courtship | 1 |
| | (most species) | | (Carbonell, 2007) | |
| Pneumoroidea | | | | |
| | Pneumoridae (all species) | Stridulitrum on third tergum– plectrum on metafemur | Courtship (Alexander & van Staaden, 1989; Smart, 1953; Van Staaden & Römer (1997) | 1 |

| Table | 2. | (Cont.) |
|-------|----|---------|
|-------|----|---------|

Leonidas-Romanos Davranoglou and others

| Higher-level grouping | Taxon | Location | Behavioural context | Times evolved |
|---------------------------|---|---|---|------------------|
| Tanaoceroidea | | | | |
| Tanaoccionaca | Tanaoceridae (all species) | Stridulitrum on third tergum– plectrum on metafemur | – (Dirsh, 1955) | |
| <u>Trigonopterygoidea</u> | Xyronotidae- Trigonopterygidae (all species) | Stridulitrum on third tergum- plectrum on metafemur | – (Dirsh, 1955) | |
| <u>Tridactyloidea</u> | Tridactylidae (most species) | Stridulitrum on fourth abdominal tergum–plectrum on underside of tegminal margin | - (Woo, 2020) | 1 |
| | Cylindrachetidae (Cylindraustralia) | Mandibulo–maxillary mechanism | – (Günther, 1992) | 1 |
| Ensifera Carulloidoa | | | | |
| Grynoldea | Gryllidae (most species; lost many times independently) | Right-over-left tegmino– tegminal stridulation (Song <i>et al.</i> , 2020) | Courtship, defence, intraspecific competition (Alexander, 1961; Desutter- Grandcolas, 1998) | 1-4 |
| | Mogoplistidae | Ambidextrous tegmino– tegminal stridulation (Dambach & Gras, 1995) | Courtship (Dambach & Gras, 1995) | |
| | Phalangopsidae (most species; lost many times independently) | Left-over-right tegmino– tegminal stridulation (Gorochov, 2018; Nischk & Otte, 2000) | Courtship, intraspecific competition (Nischk & Otte, 2000) | |
| | Trigonidiidae (most species; secondarily lost many times) | Right-over-left tegmino– tegminal stridulation (Desutter-Grandcolas <i>et al.</i> , 2016) | Courtship (De Carvalho & Otte, 2006; Oliveira <i>et al.</i> , 2001) | |
| Gryllotalpoidea | | | | |
| | Gryllotalpidae | Right-over-left/ambidextrous tegmino-tegminal stridulation (Hoffart <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Song <i>et al.</i> , 2020) | Courtship (Nickle & Carlysle, 1975) | |
| Hagloidea | | | a | |
| | Prophalangopsidae | Ambidextrous tegmino– tegminal stridulation (Song <i>et al.</i> , 2020) | Courtship, intraspecific competition, defence (Morris & Gwynne, 1978; Morris <i>et al.</i> , 2002) | |
| | Prophalangopsidae (Cyphoderris, Paracyphoderris) | Stridulitrum on metanotum– plectrum on abdominal tergum 1 | Defence (Woodrow et al., 2021) | 1 |
| <u>Schizodactyloidea</u> | | 0 | | |
| | Schizodactylidae Schizodactylus (brachypterous species); Comicus | Abdominal stridulitrum– femoral plectrum | – (Mason, 1961) | 1 |
| | <i>Schizodactylus</i> (macropterous adults) | (Mason, 1961) Fore wing stridulitrum–femoral plectrum (Mason, 1961) | – (Mason, 1961) | 1 |
| <u>Stenopelmatoidea</u> | A | | | |
| | Anostomatidae (all species) | Abdominal stridulitrum– femoral plectrum (Field, 1993) | Defence, intraspecific aggression, calling, courtship (Field, 1993) | |

(Continues on next page)

| Table 2. | (Cont.) |
|----------|---------|
|----------|---------|

| Higher-level grouping | Taxon | Location | Behavioural context | Times evolved |
|-----------------------|---|--|--|------------------|
| | (Lutosinae: Hemiandrus) | Mandible–mandible mechanism (in addition to abdomen–femur mechanism) | Defence (Field, 1993) | 1 |
| | (Deinacridinae: Hemideina) | (Field, 1993) Abdominal stridulitrum–coxal plectrum (in addition to abdomen–femur mechanism) (Field_1993) | Defence (Field, 1993) | 1 |
| | (Deinacridinae: Deinacrida parva, D. rugosa) | (Field, 1993) Tergal–tergal mechanism (in addition to abdomen–femur mechanism) (Field, 1993) | Defence (Field, 1993) | 1 |
| | Gryllacrididae | Abdominal stridulitrum– femoral plectrum (Field & Bailey, 1997) | Defence (Field & Bailey, 1997) | |
| Tettigonioidea | Stenopelmatidae (all or most species) | Abdomino–femoral mechanism (Weissman, 2001) | Defence (Weissman, 2001) | |
| <u>Tettigonioidea</u> | Tettigoniidae (most species, lost in some e.g. Phyllophorinae) | Left-over-right tegmino– tegminal stridulation (Song <i>et al.</i> , 2020) | Calling, mating, territoriality, defence (Kowalski <i>et al.</i> , 2014; Morris <i>et al.</i> , 1975; Nickle & Carlysle, 1975; Spooner, 1964) | |
| | Mecopodinae: Saxava | Mandibular–labral mechanism (Lloyd & Gurney, 1975) | Defence (Lloyd & Gurney, 1975) | 1 |
| | Conocephalinae: Mygalopsis | Abdominal stridulitrum– femoral plectrum (Sandow & Bailey, 1978) | Defence (Sandow & Bailey, 1978) | 1 |
| | Phyllophorinae | Stridulitrum on mesothoracic sternum–coxal plectrum (Uloyd 1976) | Courtship, defence (Korsunovskaya <i>et al.</i> 2020: Lloyd 1976) | 1 |
| | Pseudophyllinae: Pantecphylus | Abdominal stridulitrum–hind wing plectrum (Heller, 1996) | Defence (Heller, 1996) | 1 Total: |
| Phasmatodea | | | | 25–29 |
| | Phasmatidae (Lobofemora) | Stridulitrum on subcostal and radial wing veins–plectrum on tegmen | Defence (Bresseel & Constant, 2015) | 1 |
| | Phylliidae (Phylium) | Antenna–antenna mechanism: stridulitrum on antennal pedicel–plectrum on antennal pedicel (in larvae of both sexes; in adults only in females) | Courtship (?); defence (Friedemann <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Lelong, 1995) | 1 |
| | Pseudophasmatidae (<i>Pterinoxylus</i>) | Stridulitrum on costal area of wing-plectrum on tergmen | Defence (Rehn, 1957; Robinson, 1968) | 1 |
| | (| 01 | | Total: 3 |
| <u>Stomatopoda</u> | Nannosquillidae (Coronis) | Uropod–telson mechanism | - (Schmitz, 2002) | 1 |
| | Squillidae (Squilla) | Uropod-telson mechanism | Defence (Kemp, 1913; Schmitz, 2002) | 1 |
| 6 11 - | · • / | | · / | Total: 2 |
| <u>ðessilia</u> | Balanidae | Scraping of appendages | - (Schmitz, 2002) | 1 |
| | (munus) | | | Total: 1 |

1469185x, 2023, 3, Downloaded from https://onlinelibaray.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12938 by Oxford University. Wiley Online Library on [14/06/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

966

The insect superorder Holometabola is not included in our pancrustacean outgroups due to its sheer size, the sparsity of the relevant literature, and the knowledge gaps in the lower-level phylogeny of many of the stridulating groups involved.

Having documented the taxonomic distribution of the different types of stridulatory mechanism, it was reasonably straightforward to establish their homology or otherwise with reference to morphology and phylogeny. When different species in the same lineage (genus, tribe, subfamily, or family) possessed distinct types of stridulatory mechanism (e.g. if species A used an abdomen-leg mechanism, whereas species B used a wing-leg mechanism), these were identified as being nonhomologous. Likewise, where the same type of stridulatory mechanism was found in more than one species of a given lineage (genus, tribe, subfamily, or family), but differed in either: (1) its detailed anatomical position (e.g. located on a different appendage, a different segment on the leg or abdomen, or a different wing vein); or (2) its microstructure (e.g. when of different developmental origin, such as spines versus modified hairs), these were again identified as being non-homologous. To resolve the homology or otherwise of stridulatory mechanisms that could not be distinguished morphologically, we used parsimony as the ultimate criterion to infer the number of independent origins of the character state of stridulation in Heteroptera and other arthropod outgroups. This phylogenetic approach was essential when dealing with closely related taxa that possessed the same type of stridulatory mechanism (i.e. when it was not possible to establish homology based on morphological differences alone), except in those phylogenetic studies that had already coded stridulatory mechanisms in their character matrix and appropriately reported whether the mechanisms represented independent evolutionary events or not (e.g. Harrington, 1980; Polhemus, 1985; Song et al., 2020).

We used published phylogenies to count the number of evolutionary steps required to explain the systematic distribution of stridulatory mechanisms, where we sought the maximally parsimonious explanation of the observed patterns, under the assumption that character gains and losses were equally likely to occur. We applied the criterion of parsimony by implementing the two algorithmic rules established by Maddison, Donoghue & Maddison (1984) for local outgroup reconstruction of ancestral character states. Working outward from a given ingroup, the first doublet rule states that if the first outgroup possesses the same character state as the first doublet (= two consecutive outgroups sharing the same state, possibly including the first outgroup) (Fig. S1A), then that is also the most parsimonious assignment for the ancestral state; conversely if the character states of the first outgroup and the first doublet differ, then the ancestral state is equivocal. When there are no doublets present, the alternating outgroup rule states that if the first and last outgroups share the same character state (Fig. S1B), then that is also the most parsimonious assignment for the ancestral character state; if not, then the ancestral character state is equivocal.

This morphological and phylogenetic approach to estimating the number of times that stridulatory organs have evolved convergently is likely to underestimate the number of independent origins, owing to the absence of detailed phylogenies for many taxa in which multiple species share morphologically similar stridulatory organs. We therefore expect that when the phylogeny of Heteroptera is more thoroughly resolved at the level of subfamilies, tribes, and genera, it will be found that the number of times that stridulatory organs have evolved convergently is higher than estimated herein. A detailed rationale for our estimates of the number of times that stridulation evolved in each of the examined groups can be found in Appendix S2.

We should note that the estimates of independently evolved stridulatory mechanisms that we provide for both the Heteroptera (Table 1) and the selected outgroups (Table 2) should be treated as tentative. Although our report is comprehensive, there might be missing data, and in several cases, the phylogeny of a particular group or the homologies of certain stridulatory structures may have remained poorly understood. Our analysis is intended to provide the necessary framework for future phylogenetic, morphological, and bioacoustic studies, which will undoubtedly change the estimates provided here.

III. RESULTS

(1) Evolution of stridulatory organs in Heteroptera and prevalence in other arthropods

Our survey of Heteroptera found that stridulatory organs have evolved independently between 84 and 94 times, based on strict and relaxed estimates, respectively (Fig. 2A, B; Table 1). This encompasses a great diversity of different stridulatory types, including modifications of the tremulatory tergal plate (TTP) that add stridulatory properties (to form a stridulatory tergal plate, STP) to its pre-existing vibrational mechanism. Heteroptera therefore represent an unrivalled example of parallel and convergent evolution of vibroacoustic signal generation among insects. For comparison, the present analysis shows that the other major insect group that widely uses vibroacoustic signalling, Orthoptera, have evolved stridulatory mechanisms at least 25 times independently [Fig. 3; Table 2, relying primarily on the analysis of Song et al. (2020) and our own findings, described in Appendix S2]. Only spiders (Araneae), in which vibroacoustic signalling is similarly prevalent, approach the diversity of stridulatory mechanisms seen in Heteroptera, having evolved these at least 57 times independently (Fig. 3; Table 2). Non-insect pancrustaceans have evolved stridulatory mechanisms at least 40 times independently (Fig. 3; Table 2), further demonstrating the prevalence of such organs across arthropods.

Stridulatory organs in Heteroptera have not only evolved repeatedly, but are also widespread, being present in



Fig. 3. The evolution of stridulation in selected arthropod lineages as recovered from our analysis. The nodes indicate the number of times that stridulatory mechanisms have evolved independently in each lineage (Tables 1 and 2). The size of the white triangles is correlated to the number of independent acquisitions of stridulatory mechanisms in each lineage: the larger the triangle, the more times stridulatory mechanisms have evolved in that group. No homology is assumed between the stridulatory mechanisms of different lineages. Phylogeny based on Giribet & Edgecombe (2019). Holometabola were not included in our analysis.

around 22% of approximately 40,000 extant species (Fig. 2A, B; Table S1). In most cases, stridulation is lineage specific, being present in only one or a few closely related species or genera (Table 1). Consequently, the number of times that stridulation evolves in a higher-level taxon may depend more on its species richness than its ecology. For example, the smallest heteropteran infraorders possess the least number of independent origins of stridulatory organs (if any), while the three most species ones have the most (Fig. 2A, B; Table S1), presumably due to the larger pool of lineages with the potential to evolve this trait. Based on their phylogenetic distribution, we conclude that stridulatory organs were invariably absent in the common ancestor of each heteropteran group (Fig. 2A, B). This is in contrast

to chemical and non-stridulatory vibrational signalling (e.g. tapping, buzzing, tremulation), each of which is thought to be present at the root of the order (Fig. 2A, B) (Carayon, 1971; Davranoglou *et al.*, 2017; Gogala, 1984; Schuh & Weirauch, 2020; Wheeler, Schuh & Bang, 1993). Thus, insects that already communicate by other means (i.e. chemicals, non-stridulatory vibrations) have repeatedly evolved stridulatory organs to produce more complex signals. Indeed, our results reveal a clear evolutionary tendency in Heteroptera and other arthropods towards the evolution of stridulatory organs, as multiple such mechanisms have evolved across distantly related groups over evolutionary time.

(2) Stridulatory organs are more frequent in particular body parts and habitats

We identified up to 20 distinct types of heteropteran stridulatory mechanisms (15 if functionally ambiguous types are excluded), each involving modified surfaces on different body parts striking against each other (Fig. 4; Tables 1 and S2). This is a remarkably diverse set of mechanisms, as only 14 distinct types are known from the even more speciose Coleoptera (Wessel, 2006), although the occurrence of stridulatory mechanisms in the latter group may be under-reported. However, in Heteroptera, only three stridulatory types collectively account for 82% of all cases of convergent evolution of stridulatory mechanisms according to our conservative estimates (Table S3, Fig. 4), namely the abdomen-leg mechanism (legs rub against the abdomen; Fig. 2C), the wing edge-leg mechanism (legs rub against wing margin) and the STP (up-and-down shaking of the abdomen by a vibrational organ known as the TTP, which is equipped with a plectrum that strikes against a stridulitrum on the hind wing; Fig. 1). The arthropod outgroups that we analysed have also repeatedly evolved stridulatory mechanisms that overwhelmingly involve the same body parts (Table 2): stridulatory structures on the chelicerae dominate in Arachnida; the pterygostomial and infraorbital regions dominate in brachyuran crustaceans; and wing-leg mechanisms prevail in Orthoptera. The above examples demonstrate that the evolution of the morphological framework for arthropod vibroacoustic signalling can be biased towards the use of specific body parts, even when there are multiple solutions for how to generate acoustic and substrate-borne signals using stridulation. It is evident that the motions performed by certain body parts are especially prone to evolving into stridulatory mechanisms; we present a hypothesis on the behavioural background that leads to this morphological bias in Section IV.2.

Besides being prone to evolving in particular body parts, the evolution of stridulation may also be affected by the signalling medium. Stridulation appears to evolve overwhelmingly often in taxa inhabiting soil and leaf-litter, plants, and water, but less often in those living on the water surface or bark (both on and under it) (Fig. 2A, B; Table S4). This may indicate that either the physical properties of particular substrates increase the probability that stridulation will evolve, or that certain important biotic factors (e.g.



Heteropteran infraorder Location and occurrence

Fig. 4. Phylogenetic distribution of different combinations of plectra and stridulitra in Heteroptera. Heteropteran phylogeny and a generalised heteropteran, showing where the different types of plectra (blue circles) and stridulitra (yellow quadrangles) are located on the body, in what combinations they occur (letters in parentheses in green panel), and how many times they have evolved in each infraorder (superscript numbers). Capital letters next to the blue circles and lower case letters next to the yellow rectangles indicate a distinct combination of plectrum or stridulitrum respectively. Phylogeny based on Wang *et al.* (2017). Data from Table 1.

predation) are more prominent in particular habitats than others. The former may be the case for burrowing bugs (Cydnidae), where stridulation may provide a mechanical solution to signalling underground (Čokl *et al.*, 2006), and also for certain water striders (Gerridae) that are reported to produce signals of a different frequency band to the environmental noise produced in their torrential waterfall habitat (Zettel & Thirumalai, 2000).

(3) Behavioural context of stridulation

The biological significance of stridulation is poorly documented; in 79% of stridulating heteropterans and in 52% of the arthropod outgroups, the behavioural context of stridulation is unknown (Tables S5 and S6). However, in arthropods where the behavioural significance of stridulation is known, we observe a strong association with sexual (courtship and mating) and defensive contexts (interactions with predators, disturbance/protest signals). In Heteroptera, roughly 30% of the described stridulatory behaviours are involved in defensive contexts only and 30% in sexual contexts only (Fig. 5A; Table S5). The remaining 40% of described stridulatory behaviours combine both defensive and sexual contexts, occur together with competition, and/or are observed with other contexts such as aggregation, territoriality, or maternal care. The role of defence is even stronger in the arthropod outgroups: 55% of stridulation takes place only in defensive contexts, and 18% in courtship only; the remaining 27% combine sexual and defensive behaviours together and/or with other signalling contexts (Fig. 5B; Table S6).

Based on the above, we conclude that stridulation is most commonly used in defensive and sexual behaviours, either in isolation or in combination. The use of stridulation in other contexts is rarer and occurs almost exclusively in combination with sexual and/or defensive functions. However, we caution that the apparent extent of the use of stridulation in defensive contexts could reflect observational bias, as many cases of stridulation have been documented only when specimens were collected and handled by researchers (Field, Evans & Macmillan, 1987; Field, 1993; Field & Bailey, 1997; Leston, 1954, 1957). Targeted studies on the ethology of stridulating species are likely to reveal significant overlap between sexual, defensive, and other contexts of stridulation.



Fig. 5. The behavioural contexts in which stridulation has been recorded in Heteroptera (A) and in the examined arthropod outgroups (Arachnida, Myriapoda and selected Pancrustacea; B). Blue = defence/disturbance (Def.); red = courtship/mating (Court.); yellow = competition (Comp.); green = other behavioural context (Other). Data from Tables S5 and S6.

IV. DISCUSSION

(1) Sexual selection and predation explain the evolution of stridulation

Our comprehensive synthesis of the published literature reveals a clear link between stridulation and close-range defensive and sexual behaviours (Fig. 5; Tables S5 and S6). Most available ethological studies of Heteroptera show that stridulatory signals are used at close range in defensive, courtship, or mating behaviours (Gogala, 1984; Dodson & Marshall, 1984; Manrique & Lazzari, 1994; Schmidt, 1994; Zych *et al.*, 2012). These same functions are also common for other arthropods (e.g. Alexander, 1957*a*; Blair & Bilton, 2020; Bouwma & Herrnkind, 2009; Desutter-Grandcolas, 1998; Esposito *et al.*, 2018; Hrušková-Martišová *et al.*, 2008; Field, 1993; Kronmüller & Lewis, 2015; Low *et al.*, 2021; Lourenço & Cloudsley-Thompson, 1995; Field *et al.*, 1987; Masters, 1980; Polidori *et al.*, 2013; Pomini *et al.*, 2010; Woodrow et al., 2021) and vertebrates (Cresswell, 1998; Bostwick & Prum, 2005; Gans & Maderson, 1973; Gould, 1965). More rarely, stridulatory signals are used in other close-range behaviours, such as rivalry, aggregation, and triggering synchronous egg-hatching (Gogala et al., 1974; Haskell, 1957; Jansson, 1972, 1989; Mukai et al., 2014). The mechanical characteristics of stridulatory signals presumably explain why their vibrational component is used primarily for close-range interactions, as their high frequency (2–20 kHz) (Čokl et al., 2006; Sueur, Mackie & Windmill, 2011; Yasunaga et al., 2019) is unsuitable for long-distance substrate-borne transmission in the main arthropod signalling substrates (soil, plants and water; Fig. 2A, B, Table S4) (Bennet-Clark, 1998; Casas, Magal & Sueur, 2007; Čokl & Virant-Doberlet, 2003; Gogala, 1984, 2006; Lang, 1980; Michelsen et al., 1982; Mortimer, 2017).

Stridulation is clearly an important signalling mechanism, as its repeated evolution across arthropods indicates strong selective pressures for its development. Stridulation is thought to be adaptive in defensive contexts by reducing predation risk in several ways, which are not mutually exclusive: (i) it can startle predators (Masters, 1979, 1980; Robinson, 1969); (ii) it can warn predators of undesirable qualities of the stridulating animal if an attack is realised, such as distasteful chemical secretions or painful stings (Ewing, 1984; Haskell, 1957; Masters, 1979; Kowalski et al., 2014); (iii) it can be part of a deimatic display (Kowalski et al., 2014; Low et al., 2021; Umbers, Lehtonen & Mappes, 2015; (4) it can imitate the sounds of a dangerous or toxic animal (Masters, 1979; Sandow & Bailey, 1978); or (5) it can produce vibrations that cause physical discomfort when stridulating prey is in the mouth of a predator, due to overstimulation of tactile receptors (Masters, 1979, 1980; Senter, 2008; Song et al., 2020); similar effects have been proposed for the presumably defensive buzzing of solitary bees (Larsen, Gleffe & Tengö, 1986). However, few of these hypotheses have been conclusively supported for the evolution of stridulation in arthropods (Alexander, 1957*a*; Masters, 1979, 1980; Rowe & Guilford, 1999; Sandow & Bailey, 1978; Stidham, 2020), due to the paucity of empirical studies. It is likely that stridulation is adaptive against different threats in different lineages of stridulating arthropods.

In a sexual context, the role of stridulation is less clear, and whether it conveys a particular quality of the signaller or serves simply as an advertisement remains to be determined. However, experimental and theoretical studies suggest that increased signalling complexity may be sexually adaptive (Ewing, 1984; Gerhardt, 1992). Multiple non-redundant signals may provide information on multiple qualities of the signaller (Chaine & Lyon, 2008; Stevens, 2013), whereas redundant multimodal signals are advantageous as they increase information transfer fidelity by acting as back-ups for each other (Ay, Flack & Krakauer, 2007; Stevens, 2013), are easier to detect by the receiver (Grafe & Wanger, 2007) and trigger faster behavioural responses in the receiver (Rowe & Guilford, 1999). In addition,

969

interactions between different signals during their transmission may be informative in themselves (Partan & Marler, 1999). In Heteroptera, most species are limited in the number of distinct types of vibrational signals they can produce, as their primary vibrational organ is the TTP, which generates simple abdominal vibration (Benediktov, 2007; Gogala, 1984; Moraes *et al.*, 2005; Kavčič *et al.*, 2013). However, many heteropteran species complement their tergal plate vibrations with appendage and abdominal tapping, body shaking and wing buzzing signals (Kavčič *et al.*, 2013; Takács *et al.*, 2008; Žunič *et al.*, 2008). We therefore suggest that stridulation is so successful as a vibroacoustic mechanism because it allows heteropterans and other arthropods to considerably expand their signalling repertoire with a minimal amount of morphological change.

Cuticle ultrastructure is highly malleable genetically (e.g. Finet et al., 2022; Khila, Abouheif & Rowe, 2012), so its modification to create stridulatory surfaces may be simple developmentally (Alexander, 1958; Masters, 1979), compared to the drastic morphological reorganisation required for the evolution of complex vibroacoustic organs such as tymbals. Based on morphological data alone, it is evident that cuticle ultrastructure exhibits remarkable developmental plasticity, as it may be modified in different life stages (e.g. Guidoti & Barcellos, 2013), sexes (e.g. Khila et al., 2012), species and higher-level groups (e.g. Galleti-Lima & Guadanucci, 2019; Hemala et al., 2021), and in adaptive shifts to accommodate different life styles (Giglio et al., 2003; Li et al., 2021). Based on the above, the morphological plasticity of the arthropod cuticle may be the primary developmental factor underlying the repeated evolution of stridulation in arthropods.

Although our analysis shows a clear, large-scale pattern in the functions of stridulation (Fig. 5), stridulation is frequently used in several contexts by the same species (Tables S5 and S6). This raises the question of which was the context in which stridulation first evolved. Stridulatory vibroacoustic signals that were adaptive in a sexual context may have been secondarily co-opted into defensive behaviours or vice versa, but this evolutionary sequence is challenging to determine empirically on the basis of the available data. In species whose stridulatory organs are sexually dimorphic, it is most probable that they arose in a sexual context, or else that one sex faces greater predation risk than the other (Kowalski et al., 2014). However, in most heteropterans, and in most other arthropods we have examined except Orthoptera, stridulatory organs are not sexually dimorphic, which may render a defensive rather than sexual function the more likely behavioural context for the origin of stridulation.

(2) Likely behavioural contexts involved in the evolution of stridulation

Our findings on the systematic distribution and ethological contexts of stridulation provide new insights regarding the behavioural basis of its evolution. In Heteroptera, the three most common stridulatory mechanisms (abdomen–leg, wing edge–leg, STP; Fig. 2A, B, Tables S2, S3) have frequently

evolved in other insects as well (Aiken, 1985; Roth & Hartman, 1967; Wessel, 2006), meaning that certain areas of an animal's body are particularly prone to evolving into stridulatory organs. The cleaning/grooming motions performed by many insects, where the hind and mid legs scrape the abdomen, the wing edge, and themselves, may account for this morphological bias in the evolution of stridulation. These cleaning behaviours characterise the premating and copulatory rituals of many insects (Jansson, 1972; Sweet, 1964), and they also take place in certain species when they are attacked by predators (L.-R. Davranoglou, personal observations). We suggest that these characteristic motions may form the behavioural background that is modified during the repeated evolution of abdomen-leg and wing edge-leg stridulatory mechanisms, and consequently, vibroacoustic signalling. These observations are consistent with our identification of sexual selection and predation as major drivers in the evolution of stridulation (Fig. 5).

Ethological observations provide additional support for our hypothesis, as these grooming behaviours frequently produce sound that is audible even to human listeners, in the absence of any modified cuticular surfaces (Jansson, 1972; Roth & Hartman, 1967; Uvarov, 1966). We propose that if the signals produced during these grooming behaviours are sexually or defensively adaptive, then sexual or natural selection may lead to further modifications of the morphological structures involved that will render them better suited for producing bimodal vibroacoustic signals, thereby leading to the evolution of stridulatory organs. This pattern likely applies to other arthropod groups as well. For example, masticatory and cleaning motions of the chelicerae are thought to underlie the evolution of stridulatory mechanisms in wind scorpions (Arachnida: Solifugae) (Bird, Wharton & Prendini, 2016; Cloudsley-Thompson, 1961b; Stidham, 2020); pre-mating motions and/or defensive movements likely formed the behavioural background for the evolution of stridulation in cockroaches (Roth & Hartman, 1967); and defensive or offensive strikes may have led to the development of the dominant scorpion stridulatory mechanisms (Alexander, 1958).

It is easier to pinpoint the behavioural context for the evolution of the STP, a mechanism that is broadly used in Heteroptera (Table 1) and Coleoptera (Wessel, 2006; referring to abdominal stridulatory mechanisms striking against their counterparts on the elytra or the hind wings). The STP comprises a plectrum on the abdomen and a stridulitrum typically situated on a wing vein (Lis & Heyna, 2001) (Table 1). The frequent interaction between the abdomen and the hind wing during wing tucking, tremulation (i.e. body-shaking or trembling to produce vibrations), and when attempting escape from the mouth of a predator, together with their morphological proximity, are the likely factors that underlie its frequent evolution. The morphology of the STP, which in Heteroptera combines tergal plate-based low-frequency vibrations with stridulatory signals generated by rubbing the latter against the wings (Gogala et al., 1974), is congruent with hypotheses suggesting that fixed bimodal or multimodal displays tend to evolve using the same or adjacent structures (Caldwell, 2014). However, we show that any opposing body parts can be modified to generate mechanical-based multimodal signals, as Heteroptera possess at least 15–20 different types of stridulatory mechanisms (Fig. 4, Tables 1 and S2).

(3) Sensing of stridulation-based vibroacoustic signals

Whereas heteropterans primarily sense chemical signals using antennal olfactory receptors, they detect substrate-borne vibrations using Johnston's and subgenual organs on their antennae and legs respectively (Jeram & Čokl, 2006; Nishino, Mukai & Takanashi, 2016). Experimental evidence, although limited, suggests that most Heteroptera cannot perceive the acoustic component of their stridulatory signals, as their subgenual organs are sensitive only to substrate-borne vibrations (Čokl, 1983; Gogala et al., 1974). Many heteropteran groups possess highly sensitive hair-like mechanoreceptors known as trichobothria (Drašlar, 1973; Schuh & Weirauch, 2020), yet their removal does not appear to affect vibration perception, and the species studied did not respond to the airborne component of their stridulatory signals (Gogala et al., 1974). However, it cannot be excluded that trichobothria may allow at least some Heteroptera to detect nearfield airborne vibrations or air currents (Kavčič et al., 2013). In addition, the majority of heteropterans lack tympana, the typical acoustic sensors of other insects (Strauß & Lakes-Harlan, 2014), with the exception of the aquatic and semiaquatic infraorder Nepomorpha (Parsons, 1964).

Their lack of acoustic sense organs means that most Heteroptera must only exploit the vibrational component of their vibroacoustic signal, or that in some cases their signals are directed towards other species (e.g. predators) capable of perceiving acoustic sound (Fig. 5). True acoustic communication is confined to the aquatic bugs (Nepomorpha), all of which are able to sense the acoustic component of the stridulatory signals they produce through tympana (Papáček, Štys & Tonner, 1990; Parsons, 1964), in conjunction with vibrational and chemical signals (Jansson, 1972, 1989; Parsons, 1964). However, the presence of tympana in Nepomorpha is not uniformly associated with the possession of stridulatory mechanisms, as the latter are present in only about 28% of all nepomorphan species (Table S1). This suggests that tympanic organs in Nepomorpha may have evolved to detect cues or signals from other biotic or abiotic sources instead of stridulation, which may be particularly important for survival in their aquatic habitat. Overall, we can find no correlation between the use of acoustic signals and the development of tympanic organs in Heteroptera.

Caeliferan Orthoptera may have followed a similar trajectory, as it has been proposed that their tympana evolved either for evading predators or controlling flight manoeuvres, and only later became co-opted for communication (Song *et al.*, 2020). Interestingly, ensiferan Orthoptera have been proposed to have used stridulation initially for defensive purposes, without being able to perceive the signals they produced. However, at a later stage in their evolution, the independent evolution of tympana led to the incorporation of stridulation into their mating ritual, and since then, the two structures have co-evolved (Song *et al.*, 2020). Considering the above, the incorporation of acoustic stridulatory signals into nepomorphan and orthopteran communication may have evolved *via* sensory exploitation, a hypothesis which postulates that senders exploit pre-existing receiver biases by creating signals that match these biases (McClintock & Uetz, 1996). Evidently, more studies are needed to explain why Nepomorpha, among all other Heteroptera, have evolved (or ancestrally retained) tympanal ears.

The likely inability of most Heteroptera to detect the acoustic component of their stridulatory signals is important to our understanding of the origins of stridulation, as it demonstrates that the evolution of signals associated with acoustic energy is not always associated with, and does not necessarily lead to, the evolution of conspecific acoustic communication (i.e. acoustic signal generation and detection). Indeed, we show that use of a signalling modality can pre-date its perception by the species producing the signal, in the same way that some animals cannot perceive the acoustic component of their own defensive signals [e.g. hissing, stridulation and tail-rattling in snakes (Gans & Maderson, 1973), defensive ultrasounds in some moths (O'Reilly et al., 2019)]. Consequently, the sensory evolution of Heteroptera is highly unusual compared to that of most other animals, including the arthropod outgroups examined here, as in most other cases a sense organ evolves in parallel with the emitted signalling modality (Shaw, 1994; Strauß & Lakes-Harlan, 2014).

This unusual aspect of heteropteran sensory evolution has important implications for our understanding of the selective pressures that drive the development of stridulation. Stridulatory acoustic signals may evolve for interspecific receivers, especially in a defensive context, which does not require their sensing by their own species. This is indeed the case in many groups of animals (e.g. aposematic millipedes and brittle stars), which are blind or have limited optic receptors respectively (Grober, 1988; Marek & Bond, 2009; Marek et al., 2011). The above provides further support for the behavioural data we presented here (Fig. 5), and our hypothesis that predation is a major selective force for the evolution of stridulation in Heteroptera. Even so, the apparent 'deafness' of Heteroptera to the acoustic component of their signal is still unusual, as the examined outgroups, such as crustaceans and spiders (Araneae), which also employ stridulatory signals for their defence (Fig. 5B), possess mechanosensors that are highly sensitive to the signals they emit (Boon, Yeo & Todd, 2009; Breithaupt & Tautz, 1988; Gordon & Uetz, 2011; Horch & Salmon, 1969; Keil, 1997; Salmon & Atsaides, 1968; Sweger & Uetz, 2016).

Alternatively, when the acoustic signals are used for conspecific communication, the receiver must be detecting them through other mechanical senses. Therefore, vibroacoustic mechanical signals may evolve to be detected in conspecifics by sensors adapted for other mechanical modes, here by substrate-borne vibration sensors (Čokl, 1983; Gogala *et al.*, 1974; Nishino *et al.*, 2016). This also confirms our suggestion that sexual selection for increased courtship signal complexity is the other major driver in the evolution of stridulatory mechanisms.

(4) Is stridulation a persistent strategy through evolutionary time?

We have found that stridulation has evolved hundreds of times independently across arthropods, and we provide evidence that it serves as a valuable adaptive strategy, especially in defensive and sexual contexts (Fig. 5). However, a question that has never been addressed before is how long stridulatory organs persist in a lineage. In Heteroptera and the examined arthropod outgroups, stridulation is mainly confined to the tips of the phylogenv. Typically, stridulation is found to be present in a single species, genus, or cluster of closely related genera (Table 1) comprising only a small percentage of the total diversity of the group (Table S1). This may suggest that stridulation, although useful, provides only a short-term evolutionary solution, which is expected if it is part of an ongoing predator-prey or sexual arms race that requires rapid morphological and behavioural shifts. Indeed, even stridulatory structures necessary for mating can be lost within a few generations in the face of intense predation or parasitism (Zuk, Rotenberry & Tinghitella, 2006).

Within Heteroptera, there are a few notable exceptions where stridulatory organs are nearly ubiquitous and very ancient. These include assassin bugs (Reduviidae) [likely origin of mechanism 178 million years ago (Mya) (Hwang & Weirauch, 2012; Weirauch, 2008)], the Corixidae (about 170 Mya; Ye *et al.*, 2019, 2023), the Micronectidae (about 150 Mya; Ye *et al.*, 2019, 2023), and the cydnoid families (earliest fossil about 145 Mya, likely appeared much earlier; Yao, Cai & Ren, 2007). In these four groups, secondary losses of stridulatory mechanisms are extremely rare (Grazia, Schuh & Wheeler, 2008; Cai, Chou & Lu, 1994; Lis & Heyna, 2001), suggesting that stridulation plays a ubiquitous adaptive role in the lives of its bearers, and that there is therefore long-term selective pressure for its maintenance.

Likewise, among the arthropod outgroups that we have examined, the tegmino-tegminal mechanism of ensiferan Orthoptera dates back to the Carboniferous (about 300 Mya; Song *et al.*, 2020), and in many families of spiders, the ubiquitous presence of certain stridulatory organs also suggests an ancient retention; examples include the Dipluridae (90 Mya) and Hexathelidae (200 Mya; Opatova *et al.*, 2020). The detailed reasons why stridulatory mechanisms may persist for hundreds of millions of years in some taxa, but are short lived in other arthropods remain obscure. For example, the abovementioned groups do not share any particular behavioural, ecological, or morphological characteristics, with the possible exception of the assassin bugs and spiders, both of which are predators.

V. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Our results bring together a large and scattered pool of literature into a manageable form that makes it easier

to explore the value of stridulatory organs as cladistic characters, and offers new targets for bioacoustic, biomechanical and behavioural experiments.

(2) We confirm that predation and sexual selection are the commonest behavioural contexts in which stridulation is used, suggesting that they represent the primary drivers for its evolution. The ethological and evolutionary patterns that we uncover provide the basis for formal hypothesis testing regarding the origins of stridulation, its prevalence and antiquity, and its effects on sensory evolution.

(3) Although multiple mechanical solutions exist for cogenerating vibroacoustic signals, we suggest that a shared behavioural background has overwhelmingly predisposed certain structures to evolve into stridulatory organs over others across the examined arthropods.

(4) Our study challenges previous models which necessitate signal–sensor coevolution, and shows how animals can use complex signals but exploit only a subset of their properties, especially when they are directed towards interspecific receivers.

(5) We show that the precise function of most stridulatory mechanisms remains unknown, thereby setting a clear target for future research.

VI. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This publication arises from research funded by the Leverhulme Trust Early Career Fellowship grant (ECF-2021-199) and the John Fell Oxford University Press Research Fund. L.-R. D. is grateful to Petr Kment and Dávid Rédei for sharing their extensive library of heteropteran literature, without which this study would not have been possible. L.-R. D. also thanks Sammy De Grave and Damian O. Elias for the provision of important literature in crustaceans and spiders, respectively. Sampling of the specimen of *C. aterrimus* shown in Fig. 1 was granted by the Greek Ministry of Environment and Energy (A. II.: YIIEN/ $\Delta\Delta\Delta$ /8574/314). B. M. thanks the Royal Commission for the Exhibition of 1851 and the Royal Society (URF/R1/191033) for funding.

VII. REFERENCES

- References identified with an asterisk (*) are cited only within the supporting information.
- ACOSTA, L. E. & MAURY, Y. E. A. (1990). Estridulación en Timogenes elegans (Mello-Leitão) (Scorpiones, Bothriuridae). Boletin de la Sociedad de Biología de Concepción 61, 29–37.
- ADAMS, R. J. (2014). Field Guide to the Spiders of California and the Pacific Coast States. University of California Press, Berkeley, 456 pp.
- AGNARSSON, I. (2004). Morphological phylogeny of cobweb spiders and their relatives (Araneae, Araneoidea, Theridiidae). *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society* 141, 447–626.
- AIKEN, R. B. (1985). Sound production by aquatic insects. *Biological Reviews* 65(2), 163–211.
- AKAY, A. (2002). Acoustics of friction. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 111(4), 1525–1548.
- AKINGBOHUNGBE, A. E. (1979). A new genus and four new species of Hyaliodinae (Heteroptera: Miridae) from Africa with comments on the status of the subfamily. *Revue de Zoologie Africaine* 93(2), 500–522.
- ALEXANDER, A. J. (1957a). On the stridulation of scorpions. Behaviour 12(4), 339-352.

- ALEXANDER, A. J. (1957b). Sound production and associated behavior in insects. The Ohio Journal of Science 57(2), 101–113.
- ALEXANDER, A. J. (1958). A note on the evolution of stridulation within the family Scorpionidae. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London 133(3), 391–399.
- ALEXANDER, A. J. & VAN STAADEN, M. (1989). Alternative sexual tactics in male bladder grasshoppers (Orthoptera, Pneumoridae). In *Alternative Life-History Styles of Animals* (ed. M. N. BRUTON), pp. 261–277. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht/Boston/London.
- ALEXANDER, R. D. (1961). Aggressiveness, territoriality, and sexual behavior in field crickets (Orthoptera: Gryllidae). *Behaviour* **17**(2–3), 130–223.
- ALMEIDA-SILVA, L. M., BRESCOVIT, A. D. & DIAS, S. C. (2009). A new species of Goeldia (arancae: Titanoecidae) with notes on its natural history. Zoologia 26(2), 363–368.
- ALMEIDA-SILVA, L. M., GRISWOLD, C. E. & BRESCOVIT, A. D. (2010). Revision of the Asian spider genus *Pandava* Lehtinen (Araneae: Titanoecidae): description of five new species and first record of Titanoecidae from Africa. *Zootaxa* 26310, 30–56.
- ÁLVAREZ-PADILLA, F. & HORMIGA, G. (2011). Morphological and phylogenetic atlas of the orb-weaving spider family Tetragnathidae (Araneae: Araneoidea). *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society* **162**, 713–879.
- ANDERSEN, N. M. (1981). A new genus of Veliinae and descriptions of new Oriental species of the subfamily (Hemiptera: Veliidae). *Entomologica Scandinavica* 12, 339–356.
 *ANDERSEN, N. M. (1982). The semiaquatic bugs. *Entomolograph* 3, 1–455.
- ASHLOCK, P. D. & LATTIN, J. D. (1963). Stridulatory mechanisms in the Lygaeidae, with a new American genus of Orsillinae (Hemiptera: Heteroptera). Annals of the Entomological Society of America 56(5), 693–703.
- ASHLOCK, P. D. & SLATER, J. A. (1982). A review of the genera of Western Hemisphere Ozophorini with two new genera from Central America (Hemiptera-Heteroptera: Lygaeidae). *Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society* 55(4), 737–750.
- AY, N., FLACK, J. & KRAKAUER, D. C. (2007). Robustness and complexity coconstructed in multimodal signalling networks. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences* 362(1479), 441–447.
- AZMAN, B. A. R., WONGKAMHAENG, K. & DUMRONGROJWATTANA, P. (2014). Description of *Floresorchestia samroiyodensis*, a new species of landhopper (Crustacea, Amphipoda, Talitridae) from Thailand. *Zoosystematics and Evolution* **90**(1), 7–19.
- *BAŇAŘ, P. & STVS, P. (2006). A new species of Pseudohenschiella (Heteroptera: Enicocephalidae) from Madagascar. Acta Entomologica Musei Nationalis Pragae 46, 7–14.
- BAPTISTA, R. L. C., GONZÁLEZ, A. P. & TOURINHO, A. L. (2008). Ochyrocera ibitipoca (Araneae: Ochyroceratidae), a new spider species from Brazilian caves. Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment 43(3), 243–246.
- BARBER, S. B. (1971). Ultrastructure of a fast, synchronous muscle in water bugs. *American Zoology* 2, 673–674.
- BARRALES-ALCALÁ, D., FRANCKE, O. F. & PRENDINI, L. (2018). Systematic revision of the giant vinegaroons of the Mastigoproclus giganteus complex (Thelyphonida: Thelyphonidae) of North America. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 418, 1–62.
- BARTH, F. G., BLECKMANN, H., BOHNENBERGER, J. & SEYFARTH, E. (1988). Spiders of the genus *Cupiennius* Simon 1891 (Araneae, Ctenidae): II. On the vibratory environment of a wandering spider. *Oecologia* 1891(2), 194–201.
- BENEDIKTOV, A. A. (2007). Tremulation of firebugs Pyrthocoris apterus L. (Heteroptera, Pyrrhocoridae). Moscow University Biological Sciences Bulletin 62(4), 186–187.
- BENNET-CLARK, H. C. (1998). Size and scale effects as constraints in insect sound communication. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B*, *Biological Sciences* 353(1367), 407–419.
- BERTANI, R., FUKUSHIMA, C. S. & DA SILVA, P. I. (2008). Two new species of *Pamphobeteus* Pocock 1901 (araneae: Mygalomorphae: Theraphosidae) from Brazil, with a new type of stridulatory organ. *Zootaxa* **1901**(1826), 45–58.
- BINFORD, G. J., CALLAHAN, M. S., BODNER, M. R., RYNERSON, M. R., NÚÑEZ, P. B., ELLISON, C. E. & DUNCAN, R. P. (2008). Phylogenetic relationships of *Loxosceles* and *Sicarius* spiders are consistent with Western Gondwanan vicariance. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 49(2), 538–553.
- BIRD, T. L., WHARTON, R. A. & PRENDINI, L. (2016). Cheliceral morphology in Solifugae (Arachnida): primary homology, terminology, and character survey. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 394, 1–355.
- BLAIR, J. & BILTON, D. T. (2020). The call of the squeak beetle: bioacoustics of Hygrobia hermanni (Fabricius, 1775) revisited (Coleoptera: Hygrobiidae). Aquatic Insects 41(2), 131–144.
- BOON, P. Y., YEO, D. C. J. & TODD, P. A. (2009). Sound production and reception in mangrove crabs *Perisesarma* spp. (Brachyura: Sesarmidae). *Aquatic Biology* 5(2), 107–116.
- *BOSMANS, R. J. R. (1982). A new Hahnia from Ivory Coast with a note on stridulating organs in the Hahniidae (Araneida). Bulletin of the British Arachnological Society 5, 319–323.
- BOSTWICK, K. S. & PRUM, R. O. (2005). Courting bird sings with stridulating wing feathers. *Science* **309**(5735), 736.
- BOULARD, M. (1976). Un type nouveau d'appareil stridulant accessoire pour les cicadoidea révision de la classification supérieure de la superfamille [Hom.]. *Journal of Natural History* 10(4), 399–407.

- BOULARD, M. (1986). Une singulière évolution morphologique: celle d'un appareil stridulant sur les genitalia des males de *Carineta*. Description de cinq espèces nouvelles (Hom. Tibicinidae). Annales de la societe entomologique de France 22(2), 191-204.
- BOUWMA, P. E. & HERRNKIND, W. F. (2009). Sound production in Caribbean spiny lobster *Panulirus argus* and its role in escape during predatory attack by *Octopus* briareus. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 43(1), 3–13.
- BREITHAUPT, T. & TAUTZ, J. (1988). Vibration sensitivity of the crayfish statocyst. *Naturwissenschaften* **75**(6), 310–312.
- BRESSEEL, J. & CONSTANT, J. (2015). The new genus of stick insect Lobofemora from Vietnam, with the description of three new species (Phasmida: Phasmatidae: Clitumnini). European Journal of Taxonomy 2015(115), 1–25.
- BRIGNOLI, P. M. (1977). Two new spiders from Sumatra (Aranae, Telemidae and Ochyroceratidae). Zoologische Meddelingen 50, 221–229.
- BROWN, W. D., WIDEMAN, J., ANDRADE, M. C. B., MASON, A. C. & GWYNNE, D. T. (1996). Female choice for an indicator of male size in the song of the black-horned tree cricket, *Oscanthus nigricomis* (Orthoptera: Gryllidae: Occanthinae). *Evolution* 50(6), 2400.
- *BURGUEZ FLORIANO, C. F., FIGUEIREDO MOREIRA, F. F. & DA CONCEIÇAO BISPO, P. (2017). South American species of *Stridulivelia* (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Veliidae): identification key, diagnoses, illustrations, and updated distribution. *Proceedings of the Entomological Society of Washington* **119**(1), 24–46.
- BURTT, E. (1946). Observations on East African Pamphaginae (Orthoptera: Acrididae) with particular reference to stridulation. *Proceedings of the Royal Entomological Society of London A* 21, 51–54.
- BUSCAINO, G., GAVIO, A., GALVAN, D., FILICIOTTO, F., MACCARRONE, V., DE VINCENZI, G., MAZZOLA, S. & ORENSANZ, J. M. (2015). Acoustic signals and behaviour of *Ovalipes trimaculatus* in the context of reproduction. *Aquatic Biology* 24(1), 61–73.
- CAI, W., CHOU, Y. & LU, J. (1994). The morphology, postembryonic development and evolution of stridulitra in Reduviidae with special reference to their taxonomic importance (Heteroptera: Reduvioidea). *Entomologia Sinica* 1(1), 1–16.
- CALDWELL, M. S. (2014). Interactions between airborne sound and substrate vibration in animal communication. In *Studying Vibrational Communication. Animal Signals and Communication* (Volume 3, eds R. COCROFT, M. GOGALA, P. HILL and A. WESSEL), pp. 65–92. Springer, Berlin.
- CALMAN, W. T. (1908). On a stridulating organ in certain African river-crabs. Annals and Magazine of Natural History 8(1), 469–473.
- *CARAPEZZA, A. (2009). On some Old World Scutelleridae (Heteroptera). La Nouvelle Revue d'Entomologie 25, 197–212.
- CARAYON, M. J. (1971). Notes et documents sur l'appareil odorant metathoracique des hemipteres. Annales de la Société entomologique de France 7, 737–770.
- CARBONELL, C. S. (2007). The genus Zoniopoda Stål 1873 (Acridoidea, Romaleidae, Romaleinae). Journal of Orthoptera Research 16(1), 1–33.
- CARLE, F. L. (2012). A new *Epiophlebia* (Odonata: Epiophlebioidea) from China with a review of epiophlebian taxonomy, life history, and biogeography. *Arthropod Systematics* and *Phylogeny* **70**(2), 75–83.
- CARPINTERO, D. L. (2014). Western hemisphere Lasiochilinae (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Anthocoridae) with comments on some extralimital species and some considerations on suprageneric relationships. *Zootaxa* 3871(1), 1–87.
- CARPINTERO, D. L. & DELLAPÉ, P. M. (2012). Neotropical Scolopini (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Anthocoridae): New taxa, diagnostic characters and a key to the genera of the tribe. Acta Entomologica Musei Nationalis Pragae 52(1), 49–66.
- CASAS, J., MAGAL, C. & SUEUR, J. (2007). Dispersive and non-dispersive waves through plants: implications for arthropod vibratory communication. *Proceedings of* the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 274(1613), 1087–1092.
- *CASSIS, G. & SILVEIRA, R. (2001). A revision and phylogenetic analysis of the Nerthra alaticollis species-group (Heteroptera: Gelastocoridae: Nerthrinae). Journal of the New York Entomological Society 109(1), 1–46.
- *CASSIS, G. & SILVEIRA, R. (2002). A revision and phylogenetic analysis of the Nerthra elongata species-group (Heteroptera: Gelastocoridae: Nerthrinae). Journal of the New York Entomological Society 110(2), 143–181.
- CASSIS, G. & SYMONDS, C. (2012). Systematic revision and phylogeny of the Australian myrmecomorphic seed bug genus *Daerlac* Signoret (Insecta:Heteroptera: Rhyparochromidae:Udeocorini). *Invertebrate Systematics* 26(1), 41–66.
- *CERVANTES-PEREDO, L. (2002). Description, biology, and maternal care of Pachycoris klugii (Heteroptera: Scutelleridae). Florida Entomologist 85(3), 464–473.
- CHAINE, A. S. & LYON, B. E. (2008). Intrasexual selection on multiple plumage ornaments in the lark bunting. *Animal Behaviour* 76(3), 657–667.
- *CHEN, P.-P., NIESER, N. & ZETTEL, H. (2005). Fauna Malesiana 5: The Aquatic and Semi-Aquatic Bugs (Heteroptera: Nepomorpha & Gerromorpha) of Malesia, p. 556. Leiden, Brill.
- *CHINA, W. E. (1946). New Cryptostemmatidae (Hemiptera) from Trinidad, British West Indies. Proceedings of the Royal Entomological Society of London, Series B, Taxonomy 15, 148–154.
- CIVIDINI, S. & MONTESANTO, G. (2018). Aggregative behavior and intraspecific communication mediated by substrate-borne vibrations in terrestrial arthropods: An exploratory study in two species of woodlice. *Behavioural Processes* 157, 422–430.

- CLOUDSLEY-THOMPSON, J. L. (1961b). Some aspects of the physiology and behaviour of Galeodes arabs. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata 4(4), 257–263.
- COCROFT, R. B. (2001). Vibrational communication and the ecology of group-living herbivorous insects. *American Zoologist* 41, 1215–1221.
- COCROFT, R. B. & RODRIGUEZ, R. L. (2005). The behavioural ecology of insect vibrational communication. *BioScience* 55(4), 323–334.
- COKENDOLPHER, J. C. & SITES, R. W. (1988). A new species of eyed Schizomus (Schizomida: Schizomidae) from Java. Acta Arachnologica 36(2), 79–85.
- COKL, A. (1983). Functional poperties of viboreceptors in the legs of Nezara viridula (L.) (Heteroptera, Pentatomidae). Journal of Comparative Physiology A 150(2), 261–269.
- COKL, A., NARDI, C., BENTO, J. M. S., HIROSE, E. & PANIZZI, A. R. (2006). Transmission of stridulatory signals of the burrower bugs, *Scaptocoris castanea* and *Scaptocoris carvalhoi* (Heteroptera: Cydnidae) through the soil and soybean. *Physiological Entomology* **31**, 371–381.
- COKL, A. & VIRANT-DOBERLET, M. (2003). Communication with substrate-borne signals in small plant-dwelling insects. *Annual Review of Entomology* **48**, 29–50.
- COLMENARES, P. A. & TOURINHO, A. L. (2016). First Amazonian species of Maracaynatum, with comments on the genus (Opiliones: Laniatores: Samoidae). Zootaxa 4193(3), 565–572.
- CONSTANTINOU, C. & CLOUDSLEY-THOMPSON, J. L. (1984). Stridulatory structures in scorpions of the families Scorpionidae and Diplocentridae. *Journal of Arid Environments* 7(4), 359–364.
- *COREOIDEASFTEAM (2019). Coreoidea Species File Online. Version 5.0/5.0. Electronic file available at http://coreoidea.speciesfile.org Accessed 07.07.2019.
- COSCARÓN, M. D. E. L. C. & DELLAPÉ, P. M. (2003). A new species of *Trichocenthrus* from Ecuador (Heteroptera: Colo-bathristidae), with a key to the species of the genus. *Zootaxa* 213, 1–8.
- CRAMER, K. L. (2015). Activity patterns of a synanthropic population of the brown recluse spider, *Loxosceles reclusa* (Araneae: Sicariidae), with observations on feeding and mating. *The Journal of Arachnology* **43**(1), 67–71.
- CRESSWELL, W. (1998). Sexual selection and the evolution of mechanical sound production in manakins (Aves: Pipridae). *Animal Behaviour* 55(4), 977–994.
- DAMBACH, M. & GRAS, A. (1995). Bioacoustics of a miniature cricket, Cycloptiloides canariensis (Orthoptera: Gryllidae: Mogoplistinae). Journal of Experimental Biology 198(3), 721–728.
- *DAMGAARD, J. (2008). Phylogeny of the semiaquatic bugs (Hemiptera-Heteroptera-Gerromorpha). Insect Systematics & Evolution 39(4), 431–460.
- DAVIES, V. T. (1993). The spinning field and stridulatory apparatus of penultimate male of *Macrogradungula moonya* (Araneae: Austrochiloidea: Gradungulidae). *Memoirs* of the Queensland Museum **30**, 175–178.
- DAVRANOGLOU, L.-R., BAŇAŘ, P., SCHLEPÜTZ, C. M., MORTIMER, B. & TAYLOR, G. K. (2017). The pregenital abdomen of Enicocephalomorpha and morphological evidence for different modes of communication at the dawn of heteropteran evolution. *Arthropod Structure and Development* **46**(6), 843–868.
- DAVRANOGLOU, L.-R., CICIRELLO, A., TAYLOR, G. K. & MORTIMER, B. (2019a). Planthopper bugs use a fast, cyclic elastic recoil mechanism for effective vibrational communication at small body size. *PLoS Biology* 17(3), 1–17.
- DAVRANOGLOU, L.-R., MORTIMER, B., TAYLOR, G. K. & MALENOVSKÝ, I. (2020). On the morphology and evolution of cicadomorphan tymbal organs. Arthropod Structure and Development 55, 100918.
- DAVRANOGLOU, L.-R., TAYLOR, G. K. T., MORTIMER, B. & MALENOVSKÝ, I. (2019b). The morphology of vibroacoustic mechanisms in derbid planthoppers (Hemiptera: Fulgoromopha: Derbidae). Arthropod Structure & Development 52, 100880.
- DE CARVALHO, T. & OTTE, D. (2006). Three new species of the cricket genus Trigonidium in Hawaii (Orthoptera: Gryllidae: Trigonidiinae). Proceedings of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia 155, 29–34.
- *DELLAPÉ, P (2019). Lygaeoidea Species File. Version 1.4. Species File Group. Checklist dataset. Electronic file available at https://doi.org/10.15468/krxm59 Accessed 27.02.2022.
- DELLAPÉ, P. M. (2003). A new species of Ashlockobius (Heteroptera: Rhyparochromidae: Myodochini) from Venezuela. Zootaxa 289(1), 1–6.
- DELLAPÉ, P. M., MELO, M. C., MONTEMAYOR, S. I. & KONDOROSY, E. (2017). A new genus of an Oriental Rhyparochromini (Heteroptera: Rhyparochromidae) to place *Caridops albomarginatus* (Scott, 1874) and the use of SDM to test an extra-Palaearctic record. *Zoologischer Anzeiger* 267, 1–7.
- DESUTTER-GRANDCOLAS, L. (1998). First analysis of a disturbance strudulation in crickets, *Brachytrupes tropicus* (Orthoptera: Grylloidea: Gryllidae). *Journal of Insect Behavior* 11(1), 149–158.
- DESUTTER-GRANDCOLAS, L., ANSO, J. & JOURDAN, H. (2016). Crickets of New Caledonia (Insecta, Orthoptera, Grylloidea): a key to genera, with diagnoses of extant genera and descriptions of new taxa. *Zoogystema* 38(4), 405–452.
- *DESUTTER-GRANDCOLAS, L., JACQUELIN, L., HUGEL, S., BOISTEL, R., GARROUSTE, R., HENROTAY, M., WARREN, B. H., CHINTAUAN-MARQUIER, I. C., NEL, P., GRANDCOLAS, P. & NEL, A. (2017). 3-D imaging

reveals four extraordinary cases of convergent evolution of acoustic communication in crickets and allies (Insecta). Scientific Reports 7(1), 1-8.

- DIMITROV, D., BENAVIDES, L. R., ARNEDO, M. A., GIRIBET, G., GRISWOLD, C. E., SCHARFF, N. & HORMIGA, G. (2017). Rounding up the usual suspects: a standard target-gene approach for resolving the interfamilial phylogenetic relationships of ecribellate orb-weaving spiders with a new family-rank classification (Araneae, Araneoidea). *Cladistics* 33(3), 221–250.
- DIMITROV, D. & HORMIGA, G. (2011). An extraordinary new genus of spiders from Western Australia with an expanded hypothesis on the phylogeny of Tetragnathidae (Araneae). *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society* 161(4), 735–768.
- DIRSH, V. M. (1955). XXXVI.—Tanaoceridae and Xyronotidae: Two new families of Acridoidea (Orthoptera). Annals and Magazine of Natural History 8(88), 285–288.
- DIRSH, V. M. (1961). A preliminary revision of the families and subfamilies of Acridoidea (Orthoptera, Insecta). Bulletin of the British Museum (Natural History) 10, 351–419.
- DODSON, G. N. & MARSHALL, L. D. (1984). Male aggression and female egg size in a mate-guarding ambush bug: are they related? *Psyche* 91(3–4), 193–199.
- DRASLAR, K. (1973). Functional properties of trichobothria in the bug Pyrrhocoris apterus (L.). Journal of Comparative Physiology 84, 175–184.
- DUMORTIER, B. (1963). Morphology of sound emission apparatus in Arthropoda. In Acoustic Behaviour of Animals (ed. R. G. BUSNEL), pp. 346–373. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- *DUNCAN, J., SOULSBURY, C. D. & MONTEALEGRE-Z, F. (2021). Differentiation between left and right wing stridulatory files in the field cricket *Gryllus bimaculatus* (Orthoptera: Gryllidae). Arthropod Structure & Development 65, 101076.
- DUPÉRRÉ, N. & TAPIA, E. (2015). Discovery of the first telemid spider (Araneae, Telemidae) from South America, and the first member of the family bearing a stridulatory organ. *Zootaxa* **4020**(1), 191–196.
- EDMUNDS, M. (1972). Defensive behaviour in Ghanaian praying mantids. *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society* 51, 1–32.
- ELIAS, D. O., MASON, A. C., MADDISON, W. P. & HOY, R. R. (2003). Seismic signals in a courting male jumping spider (Araneae: Salticidae). *Journal of Experimental Biology* 206(22), 4029–4039.
- *EMSLEY, M. G. (1969). The Schizopteridae (Hemiptera: Heteroptera) with the description of new species from Trinidad. *Memoirs of the American Entomological Society* 25, 1–154.
- ESPOSITO, L. A., YAMAGUTI, H. Y., PINTO-DA-ROCHA, R. & PRENDINI, L. (2018). Plucking with the plectrum: phylogeny of the new world buthid scorpion subfamily Centruroidinae Kraus, 1955 (Scorpiones: Buthidae) reveals evolution of three pecten-sternite stridulation organs. *Arthropod Systematics and Phylogeny* 76(1), 87–122.
- *EVANGELISTA, D., SIMON, S., WILSON, M. M., KAWAHARA, A. Y., KOHLI, M. K., WARE, J. L., WIPFLER, B., BÉTHOUX, O., GRANDCOLAS, P. & LEGENDRE, F. (2021). Assessing support for Blaberoidea phylogeny suggests optimal locus quality. *Systematic Entomology* 46(1), 157–171.
- EWING, A. W. (1984). Acoustic signals in insect sexual behaviour. In 12th Symposium of the Royal Entomological Society of London (ed. T. LEWIS), pp. 223–240. Academic Press, London.
- *FERNÁNDEZ, R., SHARMA, P. P., TOURINHO, A. L. & GIRIBET, G. (2017). The Opiliones tree of life: shedding light on harvestmen relationships through transcriptomics. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 284(1849), 20162340.
- FERNÁNDEZ-MONTRAVETA, C., MOYA-LARAÑO, J. & ORTA-OCAÑA, J. M. (2000). An SEM study on pedipalpal stridulation in Iberian lycosids (genera Lycosa and Hogna; Araneae, Lycosidae). Bulletin of the British Arachnological Society 11, 289–292.
- FIELD, L. H. (1993). Structure and evolution of stridulatory mechanisms in New Zealand wetas (Orthoptera: Stenopelmatidae). International Journal of Insect Morphology and Embryology 22(2-4), 163–183.
- FIELD, L. H. & BAILEY, W. J. (1997). Sound production in primitive orthoptera from western Australia: sounds used in defence and social communication in *Ametrus* sp. and *Hadrogryllacris* sp. (Gryllacrididae: Orthoptera). *Journal of Natural History* **31**(7), 1127–1141.
- FIELD, L. H., EVANS, A. & MACMILLAN, D. L. (1987). Sound production and stridulatory structures in hermit crabs of the genus *Trizopagurus*. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* 67(1), 89–110.
- FINET, C., DECARAS, A., RUTKOWSKA, M., ROUX, P., COLLAUDIN, S., JONCOUR, P., VIALA, S. & KHILA, A. (2022). Leg length and bristle density, both necessary for water surface locomotion, are genetically correlated in water striders. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 119(9), e2119210119.
- FISCHER, M. L., COKL, A., RAMIRES, E. N., MARQUES-DA-SILVA, E., DELAY, C., FONTANA, J. D., DONATTI, L., SCHNEIDER, V. F. & MARQUES, F. D. A. (2009). Sound is involved in multimodal communication of *Loxosceles intermedia* Mello-Leitão, 1934 (Araneae; Sicariidae). *Behavioural Processes* 82(3), 236–243.
- *FOLEY, S., LÜDDECKE, T., CHENG, D.-Q., KREHENWINKEL, H., KÜNZEL, S., LONGHORN, S. J., WENDT, I., VON WIRTH, V., TÄNZLER, R., VENCES, M. & PIEL, W. H. (2019). Tarantula phylogenomics: A robust phylogeny of deep theraphosid clades inferred from transcriptome data sheds light on the prickly issue of urticating setae evolution. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 140(9), 106573.

- FORSTER, R., PLATNICK, N. & CODDINGTON, J. (1990). A proposal and review of the spider family Synotaxidae (Araneae, Araneoidea), with notes on theridiid interrelationships. *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History* **193**(193), 1–116.
- FORTHMAN, M. (2022). What's the buzz? Surveying a stridulatory mechanism in "Coreidae" with consideration of recent phylogenomic results. Online conference talk, IHS True Bug Tuesdays.
- FRIEDEMANN, K., WIPFLER, B., BRADLER, S. & BEUTEL, R. G. (2012). On the head morphology of *Phyllium* and the phylogenetic relationships of Phasmatodea (Insecta). Acta Zoologica 93(2), 184–199.
- GALÁN-SÁNCHEZ, M. A. & ALVAREZ-PADILLA, F. (2017). Three new species of combtailed spiders (Araneae: Hahniidae) from a Mexican oak forest with comments on their natural history and sexual behavior. *The Journal of Arachnology* **45**(3), 376–394.
- GALIL, B. & SPIRIDONOV, V. A. (1998). Mursia zarenkovi new species (Decapoda, Calappidae) from the Southeastern Pacific. Crustaceana 71(8), 904–908.
- *GALLETI-LIMA, A. & GUADANNUCI, J. P. L. (2018). Morphology of setae on the coxae and trochanters of theraphosine spiders (Mygalomorphae: Theraphosidae). *Journal of Arachnology* 46, 214–225.
- GALLETI-LIMA, A. & GUADANUCCI, J. P. L. (2019). Comparative morphology of stridulating setae of Theraphosinae (Araneae: Theraphosidae). *Zoologischer Anzeiger* 283, 58–68.
- GALLON, R. C. (2002). Revision of the African genera *Pterinochilus* and *Eucratoscelus* (Araneae, Theraphosidae, Harpactirinae) with description of two new genera. *Bulletin of the British Arachnological Society* **12**, 201–232.
- *GALLON, R. C. (2003). A new African arboreal genus and species of theraphosid spider (Araneae, Theraphosidae, Stromatopelminae) which lacks spermathecae. Bulletin of the British Arachnological Society 12(9), 405–411.
- GANS, C. & MADERSON, P. F. A. (1973). Sound producing mechanisms in recent reptiles: review and comment. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 13(4), 1195–1203.
- GARCÍA, M. D., GÓMEZ, R., CLEMENTE, M. E. & PRESA, J. J. (2014). Sound production in the genus Acinipe Rambur, 1832 (Orthoptera: Pamphagidae). Italian Journal of Zoology 81(2), 264–270.
- GEMENO, C., BALDO, G., NIERI, R., VALLS, J., ALOMAR, O. & MAZZONI, V. (2015). Substrate-borne vibrational signals in mating communication of *Macrolophus* bugs. *Journal of Insect Behavior* 28(4), 482–498.
- GERHARDT, H. C. (1992). Multiple messages in acoustic signals. Seminars in Neuroscience 4(6), 391–400.
- GERTSCH, W. J. (1958). The spider family Diguetidae. American Museum Novitates 1904, 1–24.
- GIGLIO, A., FERRERO, E. A., PERROTTA, E., TRIPEPI, S. & ZETTO BRANDMAYR, T. (2003). Ultrastructure and comparative morphology of mouth-part sensilla in ground beetle larvae (Insecta, Coleoptera, Carabidae). *Zoologischer Anzeiger* 242(3), 277–292.
- GIRARD, M. B., KASUMOVIC, M. M. & ELIAS, D. O. (2011). Multi-modal courtship in the peacock spider, *Maratus volans* (O.P.-Cambridge, 1874). *PLoS One* 6(9), e25390.
- GIRIBET, G. & EDGECOMBE, G. D. (2019). The phylogeny and evolutionary history of arthropods. *Current Biology* 29(12), R592–R602.
- GIROTI, A. M. & BRESCOVIT, A. D. (2015). Revalidation of the spider genus Citharoceps Chamberlin, 1924 (Araneae, Segestriidae). ZooKeys 495, 1–19.
- GOGALA, M. (1984). Vibration producing structures and songs of terrestrial Heteroptera as systematic characters. *Biologi Vestnik* **32**, 19–36.
- GOGALA, M. (1985). Vibrational songs of land bugs and their production. In Acoustic and Vibrational Communication in Insects (eds K. KALMRING and N. ELSNER), pp. 143–150. Paul Parey Verlag, Berlin.
- *GOGALA, M. (1990). Distribution of low frequency vibrational songs in local Heteroptera. *Scopolia, Supplement* 1, 125–132.
- GOGALA, M. (2006). Vibratory signals produced by Heteroptera Pentatomorpha and Cimicomorpha. In *Insect Sounds and Communication: Physiology, Behavior, Ecology, and Evolution*. Contemporary Topics in Entomology (eds S. DROSOPOULOS and M. F. CLARIDGE), pp. 275–295. CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- GOGALA, M., COKL, A., DRASLAR, K. & BLAZEVIC, A. (1974). Substrate-borne sound communication in Cydnidae (Heteroptera). *Journal of Comparative Physiology* 94(1), 25–31.
- *GOODERHAM, J. & TSYRLIN, E. (2002). The Waterbug Book: A Guide to the Freshwater Macroinvertebrates of Temperate Australia. CSIRO Publishing, Clayton, 240 pp.
- GORCZYCA, J. (1998). A revision of Euchilofulvius (Heteroptera: Miridae: Cylapinae). European Journal of Entomology 95(1), 93–98.
- GORCZYCA, J. (2004). A new remarkable genus of Fulviini from Samoa (Heteroptera: Miridae: Cylapinae). Genus 15, 25–29.
- GORDON, S. D. & UETZ, G. W. (2011). Multimodal communication of wolf spiders on different substrates: evidence for behavioural plasticity. *Animal Behaviour* 81(2), 367–375.
- GOROCHOV, A. (2018). New or little-known crickets of the subfamily Phalangopsinae (Orthoptera, Gryllidae): 12. The genus *Parendacustes* (Part 3) and other taxa. *Entomological Review* **98**(2), 170–183.
- GOULD, E. (1965). Evidence for echolocation in the Tenrecidae of Madagascar. Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society 109(6), 352–360.

- GRAFE, T. U. & WANGER, T. C. (2007). Multimodal signaling in male and female foot-flagging frogs *Staurois guttatus* (Ranidae): an alerting function of calling. *Ethology* 113(8), 772–781.
- GRAZIA, J., SCHUH, R. T. & WHEELER, W. C. (2008). Phylogenetic relationships of family groups in Pentatomoidea based on morphology and DNA sequences (Insecta: Heteroptera). *Cladistics* 24(6), 932–976.
- GRISWOLD, C. E. (1997). Scharffia, a remarkable new genus of spiders from East Africa (Araneae, Cyatholipidae). Journal of Arachnology 25(3), 269–287.
- GRISWOLD, C. E., RAMÍREZ, M. J., CODDINGTON, J. A. & PLATNICK, N. I. (2005). Atlas of phylogenetic data for entelegyne spiders (Araneae: Araneomorphae: Entelegynae) with comments on their phylogeny. *Proceedings of the California Academy* of Sciences 56(2), 1–324.
- GRISWOLD, C. É., WOOD, H. M. & CARMICHAEL, A. D. (2012). The lace web spiders (Araneae, Phyxclididae) of Madagascar: Phylogeny, biogeography and taxonomy. Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society 164(4), 728–810.
- GROBER, M. S. (1988). Brittle-star bioluminescence functions as an aposematic signal to deter crustacean predators. *Animal Behaviour* 36(2), 493–501.
- GRUBER, J. (1976). Ergebnisse zoologischer Sammelreisen in die Türkei. Zwei neue Nemastomidenarten mit Stridulationsorganen, nebst Anmerkungen zur systematischen Gliederung der Familie (Opiliones, Arachnida). Annalen des Naturhistorischen Museums in Wien 80, 781–801.
- GRUBER, J. (1978). Redescription of *Ceratolasma tricantha* Goodnight and Goodnight, with notes on the family Ischyropsalidae (Opiliones, Palpatores). *Journal of Arachnology* 6(2), 105–124.
- *GU, J.-J., MONTEALEGRE-Z, F., ROBERT, D., ENGEL, M. S., QIA, G.-X. & REN, D. (2012). Wing stridulation in a Jurassic katydid (Insecta, Orthoptera) produced lowpitched musical calls to attract females. *PNAS* **109**(10), 3868–3873.
- GUIDOTI, M. & BARCELLOS, A. (2013). On the nymphs of lantana lace bug *Teleonemia* scrupulosa Stål (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Tingidae: Tinginae): ontogenetic features of integumentary structures highlighted. *Zootaxa* 3613(3), 289–296.
- GUINOT-DUMORTIER, D. & DUMORTIER, B. (1960). La stridulation chez les crabes. *Crustaceana* 1(2), 117–155.
- GÜNTHER, K. K. (1992). Revision der familie Cylindrachetidae Giglio-Tos, 1914 (Orthoptera, Tridactyloidea). Deutsche Entomologische Zeitschrift **39**, 233–291.
- GWINNER-HANKE, H. (1970). The behavior of two stridulating spiders (Steatoda bipunctata L. and Teutona grossa Koch, Theridiidae, Araneae), with special reference to reproductive behavior. Zeitschrift für Tierpsychologie 27, 649–678.
- GWYNNE, D. T. & DADOUR, I. R. (1985). A new mechanism of sound production by courting male jumping spiders (Araneae: Salticidae, Saitis michaelseni Simon). *Journal of Zoology* 207, 35–42.
- *HALE, H. M. (1922). Studies in Australian aquatic Hemiptera. No. 1. Records of the South Australian Museum 2, 309–330.
- HARRINGTON, B. J. (1980). A generic level revision and cladistic analysis of the Myodochini of the world (Hemiptera, Lygaeidae, Rhyparochrominae). Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 167, 49.
- HARTMAN, H. B. & ROTH, L. M. (1967). Stridulation by the cockroach Nauphoeta cinerea during courtship behaviour. Journal of Insect Physiology 13(4), 579–582.
- HASKELL, P. T. (1957). Stridulation and its analysis in certain Geocorisae (Hemiptera Heteroptera). Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London 129(3), 351–358.
- HEATH, G. L. (1980). Rearing and studying the praying mantids. Amateur Entomologist's Society Leaflet 36, 1-15.
- HEBETS, E. A. & PAPAJ, D. R. (2005). Complex signal function: developing a framework of testable hypotheses. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 57, 197–214.
- *HEBSGAARD, M. B., ANDERSEN, N. M. & DAMGAARD, J. (2004). Phylogeny of the true water bugs (Nepomorpha: Hemiptera-Heteroptera) based on 16 S and 28 S rDNA and morphology. Systematic Entomology 29(4), 488–508.
- HELLER, K. G. (1996). Unusual abdomino-alary, defensive stridulatory mechanism in the bushcricket *Pantecphylus cerambycinus* (Orthoptera, Tettigonioidea, Pseudophyllidae). *Journal of Morphology* 227(1), 81–86.
- HEMALA, V., KMENT, P., TIHLAŘÍKOVÁ, E., NEDELA, V. & MALENOVSKÝ, I. (2021). External structures of the metathoracic scent gland efferent system in the true bug superfamily Pyrrhocoroidea (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Pentatomomorpha). Arthropod Structure & Development 63, 101058.
- HENRY, G. M. (1942). Three remarkable stridulatory mechanisms in Acrididae (Orthoptera). Proceedings of the Royal Entomological Society of London Series A, General Entomology 17, 59–62.
- *HENRY, T. J. (2009). Biodiversity of Heteroptera. In *Insect Biodiversity: Science and Society*, First Edition (eds P. FOOTTIT and R. ADLER), pp. 222–263. Blackwell, Oxford.
- HENRY, T. J. (2013). Cymapamphantus valentineonum, a new genus and species of Pamphantinae (Heteroptera: Lygaeoidea: Geocoridae) from the British Virgin Islands, with a checklist of the species and keys to the tribes and genera of the subfamily. Proceedings of the Entomological Society of Washington 115(4), 392–401.
- HENRY, T. J. (2015). Revision of the ceratocapsine *Renodaeus* group: *Marinonicoris*, *Pilophoropsis*, *Renodaeus*, and *Zanchisme*, with descriptions of four new genera (Heteroptera, Miridae, Orthotylinae). *ZooKeys* **490**, 1–156.

- *HERRERA, F. & SPRINGER, M. (2014). New species of *Potamocoris* Hungerford (Heteroptera, Potamocoridae) from Costa Rica and a key to the species. *Zootaxa* 3884(5), 492–496.
- HILL, P. S. M. & WESSEL, A. (2016). Biotremology. Current Biology 26(5), R187–R191.HILL, S. A. (2007). Sound generation in Mantis religiosa (Mantodea: Mantidae):
- stridulatory structures and acoustic signal. *Journal of Orthoptera Research* 16, 35–49. HINTON, H. E. & WILSON, R. S. (1970). Stridulatory organs in spiny orb-weaver
- spiders. Journal of Zoology 162, 481–484. НІКОУЦКІ, А. (2009). Species of the genus Erichthonius (Crustacea: Amphipoda: Ischyroceridae) from Western Japan with description of a new species. Bulletin of the Osaka Museum of Natural History 3, 15–36.
- HOFFART, C. J., JONES, K. & HILL, P. S. M. (2002). Comparative morphology of the stridulatory apparatus of the Gryllotalpidae (Orthoptera) of the continental United States. *Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society* **75**, 123–131.
- HORCH, K. W. & SALMON, M. (1969). Production, perception and reception of acoustic stimuli by semiterrestrial crabs (Genus Ocypode and Uca, Family Ocypodidae). Forma et Functio 1, 1–25.
- HORMIGA, L. L. G. (2015). Out of the twilight zone: phylogeny and evolutionary morphology of the orb-weaving spider family Mysmenidae, with a focus on spinneret spigot morphology in symphytognathoids (Araneae, Araneoidea). Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society 173(3), 527–586.
- HRUSKOVÁ-MARTISOVÁ, M., PEKÁR, S. & GROMOV, A. (2008). Analysis of the stridulation in solifuges (Arachnida: Solifugae). *Journal of Insect Behavior* 21(5), 440–449.
- HUBER, B. A. (1995). Copulatory mechanism in *Holocnemus pluchei* and *Pholcus opilionoides*, with notes on male cheliceral apophyses and stridulatory organs in Pholcidae (Araneae). Acta Zoologica 76(4), 291–300.
- HWANG, W. S. & WEIRAUCH, C. (2012). Evolutionary history of assassin bugs (Insecta: Hemiptera: Reduviidae): insights from divergence dating and ancestral state reconstruction. *PLoS One* 7(9), e45523.
- IMAFUKU, M. & IKEDA, H. (1990). Sound Production in the land hermit crab Coenobita purpureus Stimpson, 1858 (Decapoda, Coenobitidae). Crustaceana 58, 168–174.
- JACOBS, D. H. (1989). A new species of *Thaumastella* with notes on the morphology, biology and distribution of the two southern African species (Heteroptera: Thaumastellidae). *Journal of the Entomological Society of Southern Africa* 52(2), 301–316.
- JANSSON, A. (1972). Mechanisms of sound production and morphology of the stridulatory apparatus in the genus *Cenocorixa* (Hemiptera, Corixidae). *Annales Zoologici Fennici* 9, 120–129.
- *JANSSON, A. (1973). Stridulation and its significance in the genus Cenocorixa (Hemiptera, Corixidae). Behaviour 46(1-2), 1–36.
- JANSSON, A. (1989). Stridulation of Micronectinae (Heteroptera, Corixidae). Annales Zoologici Fennici 55, 161–175.
- JERAM, S. & COKL, A. (2006). Mechanoreceptors in insects: Johnston's organ in Nezara viridula (L.) (Pentatomidae, Heteroptera). Pflügers Archiv European Journal of Physiology 431(6 supplement 2), R281–R282.
- JOCQUÉ, R. (2005). Six stridulating organs on one spider (Araneae, Zodariidae): is this the limit? *Journal of Arachnology* 33(2), 597–603.
- JOCQUÉ, R. & BOSMANS, R. (1982). A new Hahnia from Ivory Coast with a note on stridulating organs in the Hahniidae (Araneida). Bulletin of the British Arachnological Society 5(7), 319–323.
- JOCQUÉ, R. & DIPPENAAR-SCHOEMAN, A. S. (2003). Spider Families of the World. Royal Museum for Central Africa, Tervuren, 336 pp.
- JOHNSEN, P. (1973). Alar-notal and tegmino-alar sound production in the African *Glauia* and *Acinipe* (Acridoidea: Pamphagidae), with notes on other behaviour. *Natura Jutlandica* 16, 59–80.
- JORDAN, K. H. C. (1958). Lautauberungen bei den Hemipteren-familien der Cydnidae, Pentatomidae und Acanthosomatidae. Zoologischer Anzeiger 161, 130–144.
- JORIGTOO, N., SCHAEFER, C. W. & LOCKWOOD, J. A. (1998). Stridulatory apparatus of *Piesma* Le Peletier & Serville (Hemiptera: Piesmatidae). Annals of the Entomological Society of America 91(6), 848–851.
- *JUNG, S. & LEE, S. (2012). Molecular phylogeny of the plant bugs (Heteroptera: Miridae) and the evolution of feeding habits. *Cladistics* 28(1), 50–79.
- JUNG, T. W., CHOI, H. K., KIM, M. S. & YOON, S. M. (2017). Two new species of amphipods (Crustacea: Amphipoda: Photidae) from Korean waters with a redescription of *Gammaropsis longipropodi. Zootaxa* **4300**(3), 380–402.
- KAVCIC, A., COKL, A., LAUMANN, R. A., BLASSIOLI-MORAES, M. C. & BORGES, M. (2013). Tremulatory and abdomen vibration signals enable communication through air in the stink bug *Euschistus heros. PLoS One* 8(2), e56503.
- KEIL, T. A. (1997). Functional morphology of insect mechanoreceptors. *Microscopy Research and Technique* 39(6), 506–531.
- KEMP, S. (1913). An account of the Crustacea Stomatopoda of the Indo-Pacific region based on the collection in the Indian Museum ... with which are issued illustrations of the zoology of the R.I.M.S.S. "Investigator". *Calcutta, Memoirs of the Indian Museum* 4(1), 217.
- KHILA, A., ABOUHEIF, E. & ROWE, L. (2012). Function, developmental genetics, and fitness consequences of a sexually antagonistic trait. *Science* 336(6081), 585–589.

- *KMENT, P., JINDRA, Z. & BERCHI, G. M. (2016). Review of West-Palaearctic Hebridae with description of a new species and redescription of *Hebrus fulvinervis* (Hemiptera: Heteroptera). *Zootaxa* **4147**(3), 201–239.
- KOCZOR, S. & COKL, A. (2014). Percussion signals of Lygus rugulipennis Poppius (Heteroptera: Miridae). Central European Journal of Biology 9(5), 543-549.
- KORMILEV, N. A. (1971). Mezirinae of the Oriental Region and South Pacific. Pacific Insects Monographs 26, 1–165.
- KORSAKOFF, M. (1941). Contribution à l'étude des Pamphaginae de l'Afrique du Nord. Bulletin de la Société d'Histoire naturelle d'Afrique du Nord, Alger 32, 352–369.
 KORSUNOVSKAYA, O., BEREZIN, M., HELLER, K.-G., TKACHEVA, E.,
- KORSUNOVSKAYA, O., BEREZIN, M., HELLER, K.-G., TKACHEVA, E., KOMPANTSEVA, T. & ZHANTIEV, R. (2020). Biology, sounds and vibratory signals of hooded katydids (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae: Phyllophorinae). *Zootaxa* 4852(3), 309–322.
- KOWALSKI, K. N., LAKES-HARLAN, R., LEHMANN, G. U. C. & STRAUSS, J. (2014). Acoustic defence in an insect: characteristics of defensive stridulation and differences between the sexes in the tettigoniid *Poecilimon ornatus* (Schmidt 1850). *Zoology* 117(5), 329–336.
- KRAUS, W. F. (1989). Surface wave communication during courtship in the giant water bug, *Abedus indentatus* (Heteroptera: Belostomatidae). *Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society* **62**(3), 316–328.
- KRONESTEDT, T. (1973). Study of a stridulatory apparatus in Pardosa fulzipes (Collett) (Araneae, Lycosidae) by scanning electron microscopy. Zoologica Scripta 2(1), 43–47.
- KRONMÜLLER, C. & LEWIS, J. G. E. (2015). On the function of the ultimate legs of some Scolopendridae (Chilopoda, Scolopendromorpha). ZooKeys 510(510), 269–278.
- KURY, A. B. (2014). Why does the Tricommatinae position bounce so much within Laniatores? A cladistic analysis, with description of a new family of Gonyleptoidea (Opiliones, Laniatores). *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society* 172(1), 1–48.
- *LABARQUE, F. M. & RAMÍREZ, M. J. (2012). The placement of the spider genus Periegops and the phylogeny of Scytodoidea (Araneae: Araneomorphae). Zootaxa 3312(1), 1–44.
- LADICH, F. & WINKLER, H. (2017). Acoustic communication in terrestrial and aquatic vertebrates. *The Journal of Experimental Biology* 220(13), 2306–2317.
- LANG, H. H. (1980). Surface wave discrimination between prey and nonprey by the back swimmer *Notonecta glauca* L. (Hemiptera, Heteroptera). *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 6(3), 233–246.
- LARSEN, O. N., GLEFFE, G. & TENGÖ, J. (1986). Vibration and sound communication in solitary bees and wasps. *Physiological Entomology* 11, 287–296.
- LATTIN, J. D. (1958). A stridulatory mechanism in Arhaphe cicindeloides Walker (Hemiptear: Heteroptera: Pyrrhocoridae). The Pan-Pacific Entomologist 34, 217–219.
- LAWRENCE, A., ROBINSON, M. H. & ROBINSON, B. (1973). Observations on sound production by two species of crabs from Panama (Decapoda, Gecarcinidae and Pseudothelphusidae). *Crustaceana* 25(2), 147–152.
- LAWRENCE, R. F. (1937). Stridulating organ in harvest-spiders. Annals and Magazine of Natural History 20, 364–369.
- LAWSON, F. A. & CHU, J. (1971). A scanning electron microscopy study of stridulating organs in two Hemiptera. *Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society* 44(2), 245–253.
- LEDFORD, J., PAQUIN, P., COKENDOLPHER, J., CAMPBELL, J. & GRISWOLD, C. (2011). Systematics of the spider genus *Neoleptoneta* Brignoli, 1972 (Araneae: Leptonetidae) with a discussion of the morphology and relationships for the North American Leptonetidae. *Invertebrate Systematics* **25**(4), 334–388.
- LELONG, P. (1995). L'appareil stridulatoire chez certain especes de Phyllium (Phasmatodea:Phylliidae). Le Monde des Phasmes 32, 12–13.
- LESTON, D. L. (1952). Notes on the ethiopian Pentatomidae. II: A structure of unknown function in the Sphaerocorini Stal (Hem. Het.). *The Entomologist* 13, 179–180.
- LESTON, D. L. (1954). Strigils and stridulation in Pentatomoidea (Hem.): some new data and a review. *Entomologist's Monthly Magazine* 90, 49–56.
- LESTON, D. L. (1957). The stridulatory mechanisms in terrestrial species of Hemiptera Heteroptera. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London 128(3), 369–386.
- LI, X., TIAN, L., LI, H. & CAI, W. (2021). Ultrastructural variations of antennae and labia are associated with feeding habit shifts in stink bugs (Heteroptera: Pentatomidae). *Biology* 10(11), 1161.
- LIAO, Y. C., PERCY, D. M. & YANG, M. M. (2022). Biotremology: vibrational communication of Psylloidea. Arthropod Structure and Development 66, 101138.
- LIAO, Y. C., WU, Z. Z. & YANG, M. M. (2019). Vibrational behavior of psyllids (Hemiptera: Psylloidea): Functional morphology and mechanisms. *PLoS One* 14(9), 1–14.
- LIS, J. A. & HEYNA, J. (2001). The metathoracic wing stridulitrum of the Cydnidae (Hemiptera: Heteroptera). Polish Journal of Entomology 70, 221–245.
- LISSNER, J. (2018). A new pirate spider of the genus *Ero* (Araneae: Mimetidae) from the Canary Islands, with contributions on other Palaearctic Species. *Arachnology* 17(8), 410–418.
- LÍZNAROVÁ, E., SENTENSKÁ, L., STÁHLAVSKÝ, F. & PEKÁR, S. (2018). Stridulation can suppress cannibalism in a specialised araneophagous predator. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 72, 127.

- LLOYD, J. E. (1976). Coxo-sternal stridulation in Phyllophora (Orthoptera: Tettigonioidea; Phyllophoridae). *Entomological News* 87(9–10), 285–286.
- LLOYD, J. E. & GURNEY, A. B. (1975). Labral stridulation in a katydid (a coconutinfesting "treehopper") (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae: Mecopodinae). *Entomological Naus* 86(3–4), 47–50.
- LONGO, S. J., COX, S. M., AZIZI, E., ILTON, M., OLBERDING, J. P., ST PIERRE, R. & PATEK, S. N. (2019). Beyond power amplification: latch-mediated spring actuation is an emerging framework for the study of diverse elastic systems. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **222**(15), 1–10.
- LÓPEZ, H., GARCÍA, M. D., CLEMENTE, E., PRESA, J. J. & OROMÍ, P. (2008). Sound production mechanism in pamphagid grasshoppers (Orthoptera). *Journal of Zoology* 275(1), 1–8.
- LORIER, E., CLEMENTE, M. E., GARCÍA, M. D. & PRESA, J. J. (2010). El comportamiento acústico de *Fenestra bohlsii* Giglio-Tos (Orthoptera: Acrididae: Gomphocerinae). *Neutropical Entomology* **39**(6), 839–853.
- LORIER, E., GARCÍA, M. D., CLEMENTE, M. E. & PRESA, J. J. (2002). Calling behavior and morphology of the stridulatory apparatus in neotropical grasshoppers (Aleuas Stål; Orthoptera). Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment 37(1), 71–78.
- LOURENÇO, W. R. & CLOUDSLEY-THOMPSON, J. L. (1995). Stridulatory apparatus and the evolutionary significance of sound production in *Rhopalurus* species (Scorpiones: Buthidae). *Journal of Arid Environments* **31**(4), 423–429.
- LOW, M. L., NARANJO, M. & YACK, J. E. (2021). Survival sounds in insects: diversity, function, and evolution. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* **9**, 1–20.
- *LOWRY, J. K. & MYERS, A. A. (2017). A phylogeny and classification of the amphipoda with the establishment of the new order Ingolfiellida (Crustacea: Peracarida). *Zootaxa* 3610(1), 1–80.
- *LÜDDECKE, T., KREHENWINKEL, H., CANNING, G., GLAW, F., LONGHORN, S. J., TÄNZLER, R., WENDT, I. & VENCES, M. (2018). Discovering the silk road: nuclear and mitochondrial sequence data resolve the phylogenetic relationships among theraphosid spider subfamilies. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **119**, 63–70.
- LUO, C. & WEI, C. (2015). Stridulatory sound-production and its function in females of the cicada Subpsaltria yangi. PLoS One 10(2), 1–13.
- MADDISON, W. P. (1987). Marchena and other jumping spiders with an apparent legcarapace stridulatory mechanism (Araneae, Salticidae, Heliophaninae and Thiodininae). Bulletin of the British Arachnological Society 7(4), 101–106.
- MADDISON, W. P., DONOGHUE, M. J. & MADDISON, D. R. (1984). Outgroup analysis and parsimony. Systematic Zoology 33(1), 83–103.
- MADDISON, W. P. & STRATTON, G. E. (1988). Sound production and associated morphology in male jumping spiders of the *Habronattus agilis* species group (Araneae, Salticidae). *The Journal of Arachnology* 16(2), 199–211.
- MALIPATIL, M. B. (1977). Additions to the Drymini of New Zealand (Heteroptera: Lygaeidae). New Zealand Journal of Zoology 4(2), 177–182.
- *MALIPATIL, M. B. (1979). An unusual orsilline genus from New Zealand (Heteroptera: Lygaeidae). New Zealand Journal of Zoology 6(2), 237–239.
- MALIPATIL, M. B. (1981). Revision of Australian Cleradini (Heteroptera: Lygaeidae). Australian Journal of Zoology 29(5), 773–819.
- *MALIPATIL, M. B. (1983). Revision of world Cleradini (Heteroptera: Lygaeidae), with a cladistic analysis of relationships within the tribe. Australian Journal of Zoology 31(2), 205–225.
- MALIPATIL, M. B. (2012). Australocorinae, a new subfamily of Geocoridae (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Lygaeoidea) from Australia, with descriptions of a new genus and two new species. *Zootaxa* 88(3554), 75–88.
- MALIPATIL, M. B. (2014). Meschiidae, a new family of Lygaeoidea (Hemiptera: Heteroptera) from India and Australia, with descriptions of a new genus and two new species. *Zootaxa* 3815(2), 233–248.
- MALIPATIL, M. B. (2017). Indopamphantus makutaensis, a new genus and species, and Indopamphantini, a new tribe of Pamphantinae (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Geocoridae), as the first representative of the subfamily from the Oriental Region. Zootaxa 4242(2), 281–298.
- MALIPATIL, M. B. & BLACKET, M. J. (2011). Three new species of Cleradini from Australia (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Rhyparochromidae). *Zootaxa* **3003**(1), 43–54.
- MANRIQUE, G. & LAZZARI, C. R. (1994). Sexual behaviour and stridulation during mating in *Triatoma infestans* (Hemiptera: Reduviidae). *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 89(4), 629–633.
- MAREK, P. E. & BOND, J. E. (2009). A Müllerian mimicry ring in Appalachian millipedes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106(24), 9755–9760.
- MAREK, P. E., PAPAJ, D., YEAGER, J., MOLINA, S. & MOORE, W. (2011). Bioluminescent aposematism in millipedes. *Current Biology* **21**(18), R680–R681.
- MARILYN, P. (1977). The role of stridulation in the behavior of the shore crab, Hemigrapsus oregonensis. Unpublished PhD thesis, Oregon State University.
- *MARSHALL, D. C., MOULDS, M., HILL, K. B. R., PRICE, B. W., WADE, E. J., OWEN, C. L., GOEMANS, G., MARATHE, K., SARKAR, V., COOLEY, J. R., SANBORN, A. F., KUNTE, K., VILLET, M. H. & SIMON, C. (2018). A molecular phylogeny of the cicadas (Hemiptera: Cicadidae) with a review of tribe and subfamily classification. *Zootaxa* 4424(1), 1–64.

- MARSHALL, S. D., THOMS, E. M. & UETZ, G. W. (1995). Setal entanglement: an undescribed method of stridulation by a neotropical tarantula (Araneae: Theraphosidae). *Journal of Zoology* 235, 587–595.
- MARTENS, J. (1978). Spinnentiere, Arachnida: Weberknechte, Opiliones, p. 464. Veb Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena.
- MASON, J. B. (1961). Stridulatory mechanism in the family Schizodactylidae. EOS: Revista Española de Entomología 37(40), 505–508.
- MASSA, B. (2012). The role of the Krauss's organ in sound production in Pamphagidae (Caelifera: Orthoptera). Italian Journal of Zoology 79(3), 441–449.
- MASTERS, M. W. (1979). Insect disturbance stridulation: its defensive role. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 5(2), 187-200.
- MASTERS, W. M. (1980). Insect disturbance stridulation: characterization of airborne and vibrational components of the sound. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A* 268(3), 259–268.
- MCBRIEN, H. L., COKL, A. & MILLAR, J. G. (2002). Comparison of substrate-borne vibrational signals of two congeneric stink bug species, *Thyanta pallidovirens* and *T. custator accerra* (Heteroptera: Pentatomidae). *Journal of Insect Behavior* 15(6), 715–738.
- MCCLINTOCK, W. J. & UETZ, G. W. (1996). Female choice and pre-existing bias: visual cues during courtship in two *Schizocosa* wolf spiders (Araneae: Lycosidae). *Animal Behaviour* 52(1), 167–181.
- McDONALD, F. J. D. (1979). The male abdominal strigil of *Uncinala tau* (Hemiptera: Pentatomidae). Annals of the Entomological Society of America **72**(3), 448–449.
- MCLAUGHLIN, P. A. & LEMAITRE, R. (2008). Larvae of two species of *Trizocheles* (Decapoda: Anomura: Paguroidea: Pylochelidae: Trizochelinae), description of the adult of one, and preliminary implications of development on pylochelid phytogeny. *Zootaxa* 1911(1), 52–68.
- *MENARD, K. L. & SCHUH, R. T. (2011). Revision of Leucophoropterini: Diagnoses, key to genera, description of the Australian Fauna, and descriptions of new Indo-Pacific genera and species (Insecta: Hemiptera: Miridae). Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 361, 159.
- *MENARD, K. L., SCHUH, R. T. & WOOLLEY, J. B. (2014). Total-evidence phylogenetic analysis and reclassification of the Phylinae (Insecta: Heteroptera: Miridae), with the recognition of new tribes and subtribes and a redefinition of Phylini. *Cladistics* **30**(4), 391–427.
- *MENARD, K. L. & WOOLLEY, J. B. (2014). A phylogenetic study of the generic relationships within the subtribe Leucophoropterina Schuh (Miridae: Phylinae: Leucophoropterini). Systematic Entomology 39(3), 412–430.
- MICHELSEN, A., FINK, F., GOGALA, M. & TRAUE, D. (1982). Plants as transmission channels for insect vibrational songs. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 11(4), 269–281.
- MIKLAS, N., LASNIER, T. & RENOU, M. (2003). Male bugs modulate pheromone emission in response to vibratory signals from conspecifics. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 29(3), 561–574.
- *MILLÁN, A., MOHDI, O. L., CARBONELL, J. A., TAYBI, A. F. & DAKKI, M. (2016). A new species of *Aphelocheirus* (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Aphelocheiridae) from Morocco. *Zoolaxa* **4173**(6), 577–582.
- MILLER, J. A. (2007). Review of Erigonine spider genera in the Neotropics (Araneae: Linyphiidae, Erigoninae). Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society 149(suppl_1), 1–263.
- MINGHETTI, E., BRAUN, H., MATT, F. & DELLAPÉ, P. M. (2020). Tympanoblissus ecuatorianus Dellapé & Minghetti, gen. et sp. nov, a new apterous genus of chinch bug (Hemiptera: Blissidae) from Ecuador: the only known blissid with an abdominal mechanism for sound production. Austral Entomology 59, 535–540.
- *MIYAZAWA, H., UEDA, C., YAHATA, K. & SU, Z.-H. (2014). Molecular phylogeny of Myriapoda provides insights into evolutionary patterns of the mode in postembryonic development. *Scientific Reports* 4, 4127.
- MONTEALEGRE-Z, F. (2009). Scale effects and constraints for sound production in katydids (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae): correlated evolution between morphology and signal parameters. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 22, 355–366.
- MONTEALEGRE-Z, F., MORRIS, G. K., SARRIA-S, F. A. & MASON, A. C. (2011). Quality calls: phylogeny and biogeography of a new genus of neotropical katydid (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae) with ultra pure-tone ultrasonics. *Systematics and Biodiversity* 9, 77–94.
- MONTESANTO, G. (2018). Presence of a stridulatory apparatus in the manca stages of isopods (Crustacea, Isopoda, Oniscidea). ZooKeys 2018, 501–518.
- *MONTGOMERY, T. H. (1909). Further studies on the activities of araneads, II. Proceedings of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia 61, 548–569.
- MORAES, M. C. B., LAUMANN, R. A., COKL, A. & BORGES, M. (2005). Vibratory signals of four Neotropical stink bug species. *Physiological Entomology* 30(2), 175–188.
- MORITZ, L. & WESENER, T. (2017). Integrative description of two new species of Malagasy chirping giant pill-millipedes, genus *Sphaerominus* (Diplopoda: Sphaerotheriida: Arthrosphaeridae). *European Journal of Taxonomy* 381, 1–25.
- MORRIS, G. K., DELUCA, P. A., NORTON, M. & MASON, A. C. (2002). Calling-song function in male haglids (Orthoptera: Haglidae, Cyphoderris). *Canadian Journal of* Zoology 80, 271–285.
- MORRIS, G. K. & GWYNNE, D. T. T. (1978). Geographical distribution and biological observations of *Cyphoderris* (Orthoptera: Haglidae) with a description of a new species. *Psyche* 85, 147–167.

- MORRIS, G. K., KERR, G. E. & GWYNNE, D. T. (1975). Calling song function in the bog katydid, *Metrioptera sphagnorum* (F. Walker) (Orthoptera, Tettigoniidae): female phonotaxis to normal and altered song. *Zeitschrift für Tierpsychologie* 37, 502–514.
- MORTIMER, B. (2017). Biotremology: do physical constraints limit the propagation of vibrational information? *Animal Behaviour* 130, 165–174.
- MOULDS, M. S. (2005). An appraisal of the higher classification of cicadas (Hemiptera: Cicadoidea) with special reference to the Australian fauna. *Records of the Australian Museum* 57(3), 375–446.
- MOULET, P. (1991). De la stridulation chez les Corcoidea. Bulletin de la société d'étude des sciences naturelles de Vaucluse 1991, 29–33.
- *MOULET, P. (1995). Hemipteres Coreoidea (Coreidae, Rhopalidae, Alydidae, Pyrrhocoridae, Stenocephalidae). Faune de France et regions limitrophes, Paris, 336 pp.
- MUKAI, H., HIRONAKA, M., TOJO, S. & NOMAKUCHI, S. (2014). Maternal vibration: an important cue for embryo hatching in a subsocial shield bug. *PLoS One* **9**(1), e87932.
- *MYERS, A. A. & LOWRY, J. K. (2003). A phylogeny and a new classification of the Corophiidea Leach, 1814 (Amphipoda). *Journal of Crustacean Biology* 23(2), 443–485.
- NAKAMACHI, T., ISHIDA, H. & HIROHASHI, N. (2015). Sound production in the aquatic isopod *Cymodoce japonica* (Crustacea: Peracarida). *Biological Bulletin* 229, 167–172.
- NICKLE, D. A. & CARLYSLE, T. C. (1975). Morphology and function of female soundproducing structures in ensiferan Orthoptera with special emphasis on the Phaneropterinae. *International Journal of Insect Morphology and Embryology* 4, 159–168.
- *NIESER, N., CHEN, P.-P. & DE MELO, A. L. (2013). A new species and new synonymy in *Limnocoris* (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Naucoridae) from Brazil. *Acta Musei Moraviae*, *Scientiae Biologicae* 98(2), 335–346.
- NISCHK, F. & OTTE, D. (2000). Bioacoustics, ecology and systematics of Ecuadorian rainforest crickets (Orthoptera: Gryllidae: Phalangopsinae), with a description of four new genera and ten new species. *Journal of Orthoptera Research* **9**, 229.
- NISHINO, H., MUKAI, H. & TAKANASHI, T. (2016). Chordotonal organs in hemipteran insects: unique peripheral structures but conserved central organization revealed by comparative neuroanatomy. *Cell and Tissue Research* 366(3), 549–572.
- *NUMATA, H., KON, M., FUJII, H. & HIDAKA, T. (1989). Sound production in the bean bug, *Riptortus clavatus* Thunberg (Heteroptera: Alydidae). *Applied Entomology* and Zoology 24, 169–173.
- OCHOA, J. A. & OJANGUREN AFFILASTRO, A. A. (2007). Systematics and distribution of Brachistosternus (Brachistosternus) ehrenbergii (Gervais, 1841), with the first record of stridulation in this genus Brachistosternus (Scorpiones: Bothriuridae). Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment 42(1), 61–69.
- OLIVEIRA, P. A. P., SIMOES, P. C. & QUARTAU, J. A. (2001). Calling songs of certain orthopteran species (Insecta, Orthoptera) in southern Portugal. *Animal Biodiversity and Conservation* 24, 65–79.
- OPATOVA, V., HAMILTON, C. A., HEDIN, M., DE OCA, L. M., KRÁL, J. & BOND, J. E. (2020). Phylogenetic systematics and evolution of the spider infraorder Mygalomorphae using genomic scale data. *Systematic Biology* **69**(4), 671–707.
- *OPELL, B. D. (1979). Revision of the genera and tropical American species of the spider family Uloboridae. Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology 148, 443–549.
- O'REILLY, L. J., AGASSIZ, D. J. L., NEIL, T. R. & HOLDERIED, M. W. (2019). Deaf moths employ acoustic Müllerian mimicry against bats using wingbeat-powered tymbals. *Scientific Reports* 9(1), 1444.
- ORSTER, T. F., LATNICK, P., GRISMADO, C. J. & LOPARDO, L. (2000). Nuevos datos sobre la distribución geográfica de las familias australes de arañas Malkaridae y Mecysmaucheniidae. (Arachnida: Araneae), con la descripción de la hembra de Mecysmauchenius thayerae Forster & Platnick. Revista ibérica de aracnología 8, 37–43.
- OTTE, D. (1970). A comparative study of communicative behavior in grasshoppers. Ann Arbor, Miscellaneous Publications of the Museum of. Zoology 141, 168.
- ÖZKÜTÜK, R. S., MARUSIK, Y. M., KUNT, K. B. & ELVERICI, M. (2017). Taxonomic notes on two sibling species of *Metellina* from Asia (Araneae, Tetragnathidae). *ZooKeys* 695, 75–88.
- *PADILLA-GIL, D. N. (2003). Dos nuevas especies de Buenoa (Heteroptera: Notonectidae) de Colombia. Agronomía Colombiana 21(1–2), 49–53.
- PAPÁCEK, M., STYS, P. & TONNER, M. (1990). Ventrolateral thoracic region and thoracico-abdominal junction of some Helotrephidae (Heteroptera, Nepomorpha). *Acta Societatis Zoologica Bohemoslovaca* 54, 107–129.
- PARSONS, M. C. (1964). Scolopophorous organs in the pterothorax and abdomen of Gelastocoris oculatus (Fabricius) (Hemiptera: Heteroptera). Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology 73, 1–32.
- PARTAN, S. & MARLER, P. (1999). Communication goes multimodal. Science 283(5406), 1272–1273.
- PEDROSO, D. R., DE MIRANDA, G. S. & BAPTISTA, R. L. C. (2019). Further advancements in the taxonomy of *Trechona* spiders (Araneae: Dipluridae): two new species, redescription of *Trechona uniformis* Mello-Leitão, 1935, additions to descriptions of *Trechona nyfa* Vellard, 1924 and *Trechona venosa* (Latreille, 1832) and key. *Austral Entomology* 58(1), 204–219.

- PERAFÁN, C., CIFUENTES, Y. & ESTRADA-GOMEZ, S. (2015). Aguapanela, a new tarantula genus from the Colombian Andes (Araneae, Theraphosidae). Zootaxa 4033(4), 529–542.
- PÉREZ-MILES, F., DE OCA, L. M., POSTIGLIONI, R. & COSTA, F. G. (2005). The stridulatory setae of *Acanthoscurria suina* (Araneae, Theraphosidae) and their possible role in sexual communication: an experimental approach. *Iheringia. Série Zoologia* 95(4), 365–371.
- PERICART, J. (1998). Hemipteres Lygaeidae Euro-mediterraneens. Volume 2. Faune de France et regions limitrophes, Paris, 453 pp.
- PERICART, J. & POLHEMUS, J. T. (1990). Un appareil stridulatoire chez les Leptopodidae de l'ancien monde (Heteroptera). Annales de la societe entomologique de France 26(1), 9–17.
- PINTO-DA-ROCHA, R. & KURY, A. B. (2003). Third species of Guasiniidae (Opiliones, Laniatores) with comments on familial relationships. *Journal of Arachnology* 31(3), 394–399.
- POLHEMUS, J. T. (1985). Shore Bugs (Hemiptera, Heteroptera, Saldidae). A World Overview of Middle American Forms. Different Drummer Publishing, Niantic, 252 pp.
- POLHEMUS, J. T. (1990a). A new tribe, a new genus and three new species of Helotrephidae (Heteroptera) from Southeast Asia, and a world checklist. Acta Entomologica Bohemoslovaca 87, 45–63.
- POLHEMUS, J. T. (1990b). Surface wave communication in water striders. *Journal of the New York Entomological Society* 98(3), 383–384.
- POLHEMUS, J. T. (1991). Two new Neotropical genera of Trepobatinae (Gerridae, Heteroptera). Journal of the New York Entomological Society 99(1), 78–86.
- POLHEMUS, J. T. (1994). Stridulatory mechanisms in aquatic and semiaquatic Heteroptera. *Journal of the New York Entomological Society* **102**(2), 274–275.
- POLHEMUS, J. T. & LINDSKOG, P. (1994). The stridulatory mechanism of Nethra Say, a new species, and synonymy (Heteroptera: Gelastocoridae). Journal of the New York Entomological Society 102(2), 242–248.
- POLHEMUS, J. T. & POLHEMUS, D. A. (1984). Studies on Neotropical Veliidae (Hemiptera) VII. Descriptions of four new species of *Paravelia* Breddin. *Amazoniana* 8, 339–349.
- POLHEMUS, J. T. & POLHEMUS, D. A. (1988). Zoogeography, ecology, and systematics of the genus *Rhagorelia* Mayr (Heteroptera: Veliidae) in Borneo, Celebes, and the Moluccas. *Insecta Mundi* 2(3), 161–230.
- POLHEMUS, J. T. & POLHEMUS, D. A. (1993). The Trepobatinae (Heteroptera: Gerridae) of New Guinea and surrounding regions, with a review of the world fauna. Part 1. Tribe Metrobatini. *Entomologica Scandinavica* 24(3), 241–284.
- *POLHEMUS, J. T. & POLHEMUS, D. A. (2008). Global diversity of true bugs (Heteroptera; Insecta) in freshwater. *Hydrobiologia* 595(1), 379–391.
- POLIDORI, C., RUFFATO, G., BORRUSO, L., SETTANNI, C. & PAVAN, G. (2013). Stridulatory organ and distress call in males and females of a small velvet ant (Hymenoptera: Mutillidae). *Bioacoustics* 22(2), 121–135.
- POMINI, A. M., MACHADO, G., PINTO-DA-ROCHA, R., MACÍAS-ORDÓÑEZ, R. & MARSAIOLI, A. J. (2010). Lines of defense in the harvestman *Hoplobunus mexicanus* (Arachnida: Opiliones): aposematism, stridulation, thanatosis, and irritant chemicals. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology* **38**(3), 300–308.
- PRENDINI, L. (2004). The systematics of southern African Parabuthus Pocock (Scorpiones, Buthidae): revisions to the taxonomy and key to the species. *Journal of* Arachnology 32(1), 109–187.
- PRENDINI, L., WEYGOLDT, P. & WHEELER, W. C. (2005). Systematics of the Damon variegatus group of African whip spiders (Chelicerata: Amblypygi): evidence from behaviour, morphology and DNA. Organisms Diversity and Evolution 5(3), 203–236.
- *PURANIK, P. G., AHMED, A. & SIDDIQUI, M. A. (1981). The mechanism of sound production in the pentatomid bug *Tesseratoma javanica* Thunberg. *Proceedings of the Indian Academy of Sciences: Animal Sciences* **90**(2), 173–186.
- QUINTERO, D., JOURNAL, S. & SPRING, N. (2010). The amblypygid genus *Phymus* in the Americas (Amblypygi, Phrynidae). *American Arachnological Society* 9, 117–166.
- RAMSAY, G. W. (1990). Mantodea (Insecta), with a review of aspects of functional morphology and biology. *Fauna of Nav Zealand* 19, 1–96.
- *RAO, K. T., BASTAWADE, D. B., JAVED, S. M. M. & KRISHNA, I. S. R. (2006). Description of two new species of spiders of the genus *Poecilotheria* Simon (Araneae: Theraphosidae) and *Tmarus* Simon (Araneae: Thomisidae) from Nallamalai hills, Eastern Ghats, Andhra Pradesh, India. *Records of the Zoological Survey of India* **106**(Part-I), 49–54.
- RAVEN, R. J. (1985). The spider infraorder Mygalomorphae (Araneae): cladistics and systematics. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 182, 1.
- RAVEN, R. J. (1994). Mygalomorph spiders of the Barychelidae in Australia and the Western Pacific. *Memoirs of the Queensland Museum* 35, 291–706.
- *RÉDEI, D., TSAI, J.-F. & YANG, M.-M. (2009). Heteropteran Fauna of Taiwan: Cotton Stainers and Relatives (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Pyrrhocoroidea). National Chung Hsing University, Taichung, 52 pp.
- REHN, J. A. G. (1957). The description of the female sex of *Pterinoxylus spinulosus*, with notes on stridulation in the female sex of this genus (Orthoptera; Phasmatidae; Phibalosomatinae). *Transactions of the American Entomological Society* 83, 185–194.

- RENGIFO-CORREA, L., BRAILOVSKY, H., HENRY, T. J. & MORRONE, J. J. (2014). Phylogenetics and evolutionary morphology of the Neotropical true bug genus *Epipolops* (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Geocoridae). *Systematic Entomology* **39**(1), 127–140.
- RENGIFO-CORREA, L. & GONZÁLES, R. (2011). Clave ilustrada para la identificación de las familias de Pentatomomorpha (Hemiptera-Heteroptera) de distribución neotropical. Boletín Científico del Museo de Historia Natural 15, 168–187.
- RENTZ, D. (2017). Sound production in an Australian cockroach, Megazosteria patula (Walker) (Blattodea: Blattidae: Polyzosteriinae). *Zootaxa* 4231(4), 567–568.
- RESHMI, R. & BIJUKUMAR, A. (2010). First report of the hermit crabs *Coenobita brevimanus* and *Coenobita rugosus* (Crustacea: Decapoda: Anomura) from the Indian coast. *Marine Biodiversity Records* 3, 1–4.
- RIX, M. G. (2005). A review of the Tasmanian species of Pararchaeidae and Holarchaeidae (Arachnida, Araneae). *Journal of Arachnology* 33(1), 135–152.
- RIX, M. G. & HARVEY, M. S. (2010). The spider family Micropholcommatidae (Arachnida, Araneae, Araneoidea): A relimitation and revision at the generic level. *ZooKeys* 36, 1–321.
- RIX, M. G., ROBERTS, J. D. & HARVEY, M. S. (2009). The spider families Synotaxidae and Malkaridae (Arachnida: Araneae: Araneoidea) in Western Australia. *Records of* the Western Australian Museum 25(3), 295.
- ROBINSON, M. H. (1968). The defensive behavior of *Pterinoxylus spinulosus* a winged stick insect from Panama (Phasmatodea). *Psyche* 75(3), 195–207.
- ROBINSON, M. H. (1969). The defensive behaviour of some orthopteroid insects from Panama. Transactions of the Royal Entomological Society of London 121(7), 281–303.
- RONALD, K. L., ZENG, R., WHITE, D. J., FERNÁNDEZ-JURICIC, E. & LUCAS, J. R. (2017). What makes a multimodal signal attractive? A preference function approach. *Behavioral Ecology* 28(3), 677–687.
- ROTH, L. M. & HARTMAN, H. B. (1967). Sound production and its evolutionary significance in the Blattaria. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 60(4), 740–752.
- ROWE, C. & GUILFORD, T. (1999). The evolution of multimodal warning displays. Evolutionary Ecology 13(7–8), 655–671.
- RYPSTRA, A. L., SCHLOSSER, A. M., SUTTON, P. L. & PERSONS, M. H. (2009). Multimodal signalling: the relative importance of chemical and visual cues from females to the behaviour of male wolf spiders (Lycosidae). *Animal Behaviour* 77(4), 937–947.
- SALMON, M. & ATSAIDES, S. P. (1968). Visual and acoustical signalling during courtship by fiddler crabs (Genus Uca). American Zoologist 8(3), 623–639.
- SANDEMAN, D. C. & WILKENS, L. A. (1982). Sound production by abdominal stridulation in the Australian Murray River crayfish, *Euastacus armatus. Journal of Experimental Biology* **99**, 469–472.
- SANDOW, J. D. & BAILEY, W. J. (1978). An experimental study of defensive stridulation in *Mygalopsis ferruginea* Redtenbacher (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae). *Animal Behaviour* 26(4), 1004–1011.
- SCHAEFER, C. W. (1962). The occurrence of an axillary spur in the Heteroptera and its function in the Coreinae. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 55(6), 675–678.
- *SCHAEFER, C. W. (1965). The morphology and higher systematics of the Idiostolinae (Hemiptera: Lygaeidae). Annals of the Entomological Society of America 59, 602–613.
- SCHAEFER, C. W., PUPEDIS, R. J. & SCHAEFER, C. W. (2015). A stridulatory device in certain Alydinae (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Alydidae). *Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society* 54(1), 143–152.
- SCHAL, C., FRASER, J. & BELL, W. J. (1982). Disturbance stridulation and chemical defence in nymphs of the tropical cockroach *Megaloblatta blaberoides*. *Journal of Insect Physiology* 28, 541–552.
- SCHARFF, N. & CODDINGTON, J. A. (1997). A phylogenetic analysis of the orb-weaving spider family Araneidae (Arachnida, Araneae). *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society* 120, 355–434.
- SCHMIDT, J. M. (1994). Encounters between adult spined assassin bugs, Sinea diadema (F.) (Hemiptera: Reduviidae): the occurrence and consequences of stridulation. *Journal of Insect Behavior* 7(6), 811–828.
- SCHMITZ, B. (2002). Sound production in Crustacea with special reference to the Alpheidae. In *The Crustacean Nervous System* (ed. K. WIESE), pp. 536–547. Springer, Berlin.
- *SCHOFIELD, C. J. (1977). Sound production in some triatomine bugs. *Physiological Entomology* 2(1), 43–52.
- SCHUH, R. T. & WEIRAUCH, C. (2020). True Bugs of the World (Hemiptera: Heteroptera): Classification and Natural History. Monograph Series Volume 8, Second Edition. Siri Scientific Press, Rochdale, 800 pp.
- *SCHUH, R. T., WEIRAUCH, C. & GRILLO, H. (2015a). Revision of Aphelonotus Uhler (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Pachynomidae), with description of six new Species and documentation of nymphal morphology for three species. American Museum Novitates 3829(3829), 1–43.
- SCHUH, S. (1974). The Orthotylinae and Phylinae (Hemiptera: Miridae) of South Africa with a phylogenetic analysis of the ant-mimetic tribes of the two subfamilies for the world. *Entomologica Americana* 47, 1–332.
- SCHUH, S. (1984). Revision of the Phylinae (Hemiptera, Miridae) of the Indo-Pacific. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 177, 1–462.

- *SCHUH, T., STYS, P., CASSIS, G., LEHNERT, M., SWANSON, D. & BRUCE, T. (2015b). New genera and species of Plokiophilidae from Australia, Fiji, and Southeast Asia, with a revised classification of the family (Insecta: Heteroptera: Cimicoidea). *American Museum Novitates* 3825(3825), 1–24.
- SENTER, P. (2008). Voices of the past: a review of Paleozoic and Mesozoic animal sounds. *Historical Biology* 2, 255–287.
- SHAW, S. (1994). Detection of airborne sound by a cockroach vibration detector: a possible missing link in insect auditory evolution. *The Journal of Experimental Biology* **193**(1), 13–47.
- SHEAR, W. A. (1970). Stridulation in Acanthophrynus coronatus (Butler) (Amblypygi, Tarantulidae). Psyche 77(2), 181–183.
- SHELFORD, R. (1903). Bionomical notes on some Bornean Mantidae. The Zoologist 7, 293–304.
- SHIMOJANA, M. (1981). A new species of the genus *Trithyreus* (Schizomida, Schizomidae) from the Daito Islands, Okinawa Prefecture, Japan. *Acta Arachnologica* 30, 33–40.
- SILHAVÝ, V. (1978). Minuides milleri sp. n., an opilionid with an unusual manner of stridulation (Phalangodidae, Phalangodinae). Acta Entomologica Bohemoslovaca 75, 58–63.
- SLATER, J. A. (1999). A revision of the genus Lygofuscanellus (Heteroptera; Lygacoidea; Rhyparochromidae). The Florida Entomologist 82(2), 284–290.
- SMART, J. (1953). On the wing-venation of *Physemacris variolosa* (Linn.) (Insecta: Pneumoridae). *Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London* 123(1), 199–202.
- SNAZELL, R. & ALLISON, R. (1989). The genus Macrothele Ausserer (Araneae, Hexathelidae) in Europe. Bulletin of the British Arachnological Society 8, 65–72.
- SONG, H., BÉTHOUX, O., SHIN, S., DONATH, A., LETSCH, H., LIU, S., MCKENNA, D. D., MENG, G., MISOF, B., PODSIADLOWSKI, L., ZHOU, X., WIPFLER, B. & SIMON, S. (2020). Phylogenomic analysis sheds light on the evolutionary pathways towards acoustic communication in Orthoptera. *Nature Communications* 11(1), 4939.
- SPOONER, J. D. (1964). The texas bush katydid—its sounds and their significance. Animal Behaviour 12, 235–244.
- STEHLÍK, J. L. (2005). Largidae and Pyrrhocoridae collected by Alexander Riedel in Irian Jaya (New Guinea) from 1990 up to 1996 (Heteroptera). *Linzer biologische Beiträge* 37(2), 1719–1736.
- STEHLIK, J. L. (2013). Review and reclassification of the Old World genus Physopelta (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Largidae). Acta Entomologica Musei Nationalis Pragae 53(2), 505–584.
- *STEHLÍK, J. L. & BRAILOVSKY, H. (2016). Review of the genus Arhaphe (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Largidae) with descriptions of nine new species from Central America. Zootaxa 4093(4), 451–479.
- STEHLÍK, J. L. & JINDRA, Z. (2006). New species of Largidae and Pyrrhocoridae (Heteroptera) from the Oriental region. Acta Entomologica Musei Nationalis Pragae 46(2), 31–41.
- STEHLÍK, J. L. & KMENT, P. (2012). Description of *Physopella finisterrae* sp. nov. from Papua New Guinea (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Largidae). *Acta Entomologica Musei Nationalis Pragae* 52(2), 349–354.
- STEVENS, M. (2013). Multimodal signals and communication. In Sensory Ecology, Behaviour, and Evolution (ed. M. STEVENS), pp. 89–102. Oxford Academic, Oxford.
- STIDHAM, T. A. (2020). Evaluating hypotheses for the function of the 'hissing' stridulation of sun spiders (Arachnida Solifugae). *Ethology Ecology and Evolution* 32(3), 296–307.
- STRAUSS, J. & LAKES-HARLAN, R. (2014). Evolutionary and phylogenetic origins of tympanal hearing organs in insects. In *Insect Hearing and Acoustic Communication* (ed. B. HEDWIG), pp. 5–26. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- STRAUSS, J. & STUMPNER, A. (2014). Selective forces on origin, adaptation and reduction of tympanal cars in insects. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology*, *Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology* **201**(1), 155–169.
- STYS, P. (1961). The stridulatory mechanism in *Centrocoris spiniger* (F.) and some other Coreidae (Heteroptera). *Acta Entomologica Musei Nationalis Pragae* 34, 427–431.
- STVS, P. (1964). Thaumastellidae a new family of pentatomoid Heteroptera. Acta Societatis Entomologicae Cechosloveniae 61, 238–253.
- STYS, P. (2000). The Enigmatic 'Arrow-Headed Bug' from Australia (Heteroptera: Pentatomoidea) and Its Relationship, p. 918. XXI. International Congress of Entomology, Foz do Iguassu.
- STVS, P. & BAŇAŘ, P. (2006). Description of a new genus with larviform females from Mauritius (Heteroptera, Enicocephalidae), with discussion of thoracic and abdominal morphology. *Denisia* 19, 681–695.
- *STYS, P. & BAŇAŘ, P. (2007). The first species of Systelloderes (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Enicocephalidae) from New Caledonia. Acta Entomologica Musei Nationalis Pragae 47, 3–15.
- *STYS, P. & BAŇAŘ, P. (2013). Eastern Arc Mountains in Tanzania: Hic sunt aenictopecheidae. The first genus and species of afrotropical aenictopecheidae (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Enicocephalomorpha). European Journal of Entomology 110, 677–688.
- SUEUR, J., MACKIE, D. & WINDMILL, J. F. C. (2011). So small, so loud: extremely high sound pressure level from a pygmy aquatic insect (Corixidae, Micronectinae). *PLoS* One 6(6), e21089.

- SWEET, M. H. (1964). The biology and ecology of the Rhyparochrominae of New England (Heteroptera; Lygacidae). Part I. Entomologica Americana 43, 1–124.
- SWEET, M. H. (1996). Comparative external morphology of the pregenital abdomen of the Hemiptera. In *Studies on Hemipteran Phylogeny* (ed. W. C. SCHAEFER), pp. 119–158. Thomas Say Publications in Entomology, Lanham.
- SWEET, M. H. & SLATER, J. A. (2004). An analysis of species-groups of the genus *Plinthisus* Stephen (Hemiptera: Rhyparochromidae) in the Ethiopian Region with the description of eight new species. *Zootaxa* 533, 1–56.
- SWEGER, A. L. & UETZ, G. W. (2016). Characterizing the vibratory and acoustic signals of the "purring" wolf spider, *Gladicosa gulosa* (Arancae: Lycosidae). *Bioacoustics* 25(3), 293–303.
- TAKÁCS, S., HARDIN, K., GRIES, G., STRONG, W. & BENNETT, R. (2008). Vibratory communication signal produced by male western conifer seed bugs (Hemiptera: Coreidae). *Canadian Entomologist* 140(2), 174–183.
- TAMADA, Y., HINAMI, H., MIYAZAKI, A., YASUNAGA, T., NAGASHIMA, T. & SERRANO LEON, S. (2020). Elucidation of cryptic ecology of "Runner Plant Bugs" (Miridae: Phylinae: Hallodapini), with emphasis on the stridulatory mechanism. *Rostria* 65, 1–14.
- TAYLOR, J. R. A., DE VRIES, M. S. & ELIAS, D. O. (2019). Growling from the gut: cooption of the gastric mill for acoustic communication in ghost crabs. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 286, 20191161.
- *THORPE, K. W. & HARRINGTON, B. J. (1981). Sound production and courtship behavior in the seed bug Ligyrocoris diffusus. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 74(4), 369–373.
- TINERELLA, P. P. (2008). Taxonomic revision and systematics of New Guinea and Oceania pygmy water boatmen (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Corixoidea: Micronectidae). Zootaxa 1797, 1–66.
- TINERELLA, P. P. (2013). Taxonomic revision and systematics of continental Australian pygmy water boatmen (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Corixoidea: Micronectidae). *Zoolaxa* 3623(1), 1–121.
- TORRE BUENO, J. R. (1905). Notes on the stridulation and habits of *Ranatra fusca*. Canadian Entomologist 35(8), 235–237.
- TOWNSEND, V. R., CLASSEN-RODRIGUEZ, L., MALONEY, T. J. & MOORE, M. K. JR. (2019). Stridulation by cosmetid harvestmen (Arachnida: Opiliones). *Journal of Arachnology* 47(1), 132–141.
- *TRAN, A. D. & NGUYEN, X. Q. (2016). A study of the genus *Aphelocheirus* (Hemiptera: Nepomorpha: Aphelocheiridae) from northern Vietnam, with descriptions of three new species. *Zootaxa* **4083**(4), 587–600.
- *TRUXAL, F. S. (1952). The comparative morphology of the male genitalia of the Notonectidae (Hemiptera). *Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society* 25, 30–38.
- *TSANG, L. M., SCHUBART, C. D., AHYONG, S. T., LAI, J. C. Y., AU, E. Y. C., CHAN, T.-Y., NG, P. K. L. & CHU, K. H. (2014). Evolutionary history of true crabs (Crustacea: Decapoda: Brachyura) and the origin of freshwater crabs. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **31**(5), 1173–1187.
- UETZ, G. W. & STRATTON, G. E. (1982). Acoustic communication and reproductive isolation in spiders. In *Spider Communication: Mechanisms and Ecological Significance* (eds P. N. WITT and J. S. ROVNER), pp. 123–159. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- UHL, G. & SCHMITT, M. (1996). Stridulation in Palpimanus gibbulus Dufour (Araneae: Palpimanidae). Revue Suisse de Zoologie 2, 649–660.
- UMBERS, K. D. L., LEHTONEN, J. & MAPPES, J. (2015). Deimatic displays. Current Biology 25(2), R58–R59.
- USINGER, R. L. & MATSUDA, R. (1959). Classification of the Aradidae (Hemiptera-Heteroptera). Printed by Order of the Trustees of the British Museum, London, 410 pp.
- UVAROV, P. B. (1943). The tribe Thrinchini of the subfamily Pamphaginae, and the interrelations of the acridid subfamilies (Orthoptera). *Transactions of the Royal Entomological Society of London* **93**, 1–72.
- UVAROV, P. B. (1966). Grasshoppers and Locusts. A Handbook of General Acridology. Volume 1. Anatomy, Physiology, Development, Phase Polymorphism, Introduction to Taxonomy. Anti-Locust Research Centre, London, 481 pp.
- *VAN DER WAL, C., AHYONG, S. T., HO, S. Y. W. & LO, N. (2017). The evolutionary history of Stomatopoda (Crustacea: Malacostraca) inferred from molecular data. *Perf* 5, c3844.
- VAN STAADEN, M. J. & RÖMER, H. (1997). Sexual signalling in bladder grasshoppers: tactical design for maximizing calling range. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 200(20), 2597–2608.
- VARLEY, G. C. (1939). Frightening attitudes and floral simulation in praying mantids. Proceedings of the Rayal Entomological Society of London A 14, 91–96.
- VIRANT-DOBERLET, M. & COKL, A. (2004). Vibrational communication in insects. Neotropical Entomology 33(2), 121–134.
- WANG, Y.-H., WU, H.-Y., RÉDEI, D., XIE, Q., CHEN, Y., CHEN, P.-P., DONG, Z.-R., DANG, K., DAMGAARD, J., STYS, P., WU, Y.-Z., LUO, J.-Y., SUN, X.-Y., HARTUNG, V., KUECHLER, S. M., LIU, Y., LIU, H.-X. & BU, W.-J. (2017). When did the ancestor of true bugs become stinky? Disentangling the phylogenomics of Hemiptera-Heteroptera. *Cladistics* 35(1), 42–66.
- WEFELSCHEID, H. (1912). Über die biologie und anatomie von Plea minutissima Leach. Zoologische Jahrbücher. Abteilung für Systematik, Geographie und Biologie der Tiere 32, 389–474.

WEIRAUCH, C. (2008). Cladistic analysis of Reduviidae (Heteroptera: Cimicomorpha) based on morphological characters. Systematic Entomology 33(2), 229–274.

- WEISS, H. B. (1929). The entomology of Aristotle. Journal of the New York Entomological Society 37(2), 101–109.
- WEISSMAN, D. B. (2001). North and Central American Jerusalem crickets (Orthoptera: Stenopelmatidae): taxonomy, distribution, life cycle, ecology and related biology of the American species. In *The Biology of Wetas, King Crickets and their Allies* (ed. L. FELD), pp. 57–72. CAB International, New York.
- WESENER, T., KÖHLER, J., FUCHS, S. & VAN DEN SPIEGEL, D. (2011). How to uncoil your partner-"mating songs" in giant pill-millipedes (Diplopoda: Sphaerotheriida). *Naturevissenschaften* 98, 967–975.
- WESOLOWSKA, W. (1999). A revision of the spider genus *Menemerus* in Africa (Araneae: Salticidae). *Genus* **10**(2), 251–353.
- WESSEL, A. (2006). Stridulation in the Coleoptera an overview. In *Insect Sounds and Communication: Physiology, Behavior, Ecology, and Evolution*. Contemporary Topics in Entomology (eds S. DROSOPOULOS and M. F. CLARIDGE), pp. 397–403. CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- *WEST, R. C., MARSHALL, S., FUKUSHIMA, C. S. & BERTANI, R. (2008). Review and cladistic analysis of the neotropical tarantula genus *Ephebopus* Simon 1892 (Araneae: Theraphosidae) with notes on the Aviculariinae. *Zootaxa* 1849, 35–58.
- *WEST, R. C., NUNN, S. C. & HOGG, S. (2012). A new tarantula genus, *Psednocnemis*, from West Malaysia (Araneae:Theraphosidae), with cladistic analyses and biogeography of Selenocosmiinae Simon 1889. *Zoolaxa* 3299, 1–43.
- *WEYGOLDT, P. (1996). Evolutionary morphology of whip spiders: towards a phylogenetic system (Chelicerata: Arachnida: Amblypygi). *Journal of Zoological* Systematics and Evolutionary Research 34(4), 185–202.
- *WHEELER, W. C., CODDINGTON, J. A., CROWLEY, L. M., DIMITROV, D., GOLOBOFF, P. A., GRISWOLD, C. E., HORMIGA, G., PRENDINI, L., RAMÍREZ, M. J., SIERWALD, P., ALMEIDA-SILVA, L., ALVAREZ-PADILLA, F., ARNEDO, M. A., BENAVIDES SILVA, L. R., BENJAMIN, S. P., *Et Al.* (2017). The spider tree of life: phylogeny of Arancae based on target-gene analyses from an extensive taxon sampling. *Cladistics* 33(6), 574–616.
- WHEELER, W. C., SCHUH, R. T. & BANG, R. (1993). Cladistic relationships among higher groups of Heteroptera: congruence between morphological and molecular data sets. *Entomologica Scandinavica* 24(2), 121–137.
- *WIELAND, F. (2013). The phylogenetic system of Mantodea (Insecta: Dictyoptera). Species, Phylogeny and Evolution 3, 3–222.
- *WILCOX, R.S. (1969) Acoustical behavior, sound-producing structures and biology of Buenoa (Hemiptera, Notonectidae). PhD dissertation, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, 271 pp.
- WILCOX, R. S. (1979). Sex discrimination in *Gerris remigis*: role of a surface wave signal. *Science* 206(4424), 1325–1327.
- Woo, B. (2020). First natural history observations of the canyon pygmy mole cricket, Ellipes monticolus (Orthoptera: Tridactylidae). Journal of Orthoptera Research 29(1), 1–7.
- WOOD, H. M. & SCHARFF, N. (2018). A review of the Madagascan pelican spiders of the genera *Eriauchenius* O. Pickard-Cambridge, 1881 and *Madagascarchaea* gen. n. (Araneae, Archaeidae). *ZooKeys* 2018, 1–96.
- WOOD-MASON, J. (1878). Entomological notes 2: On the presence of a stridulating apparatus in certain Mantidae. *Transactions of the Entomological Society of London* 3–5, 263–267.
- *WOODROW, C., BAKER, E., JONSSON, T. & MONTEALEGRE-Z, F. (2022). Reviving the sound of a 150-year-old insect: The bioacoustics of *Prophalangopsis obscura* (Ensifera: Hagloidea). *PLoS One* **17**(8), e0270498.
- WOODROW, C., JUDGE, K. A., PULVER, C., JONSSON, T. & MONTEALEGRE-Z, F. (2021). The Ander's organ: a mechanism for anti-predator ultrasound in a relict orthopteran. *The Journal of Experimental Biology* 224(2), jeb237289.
- *WU, Y.-Z., RÉDEI, D., EGER, J., WANG, Y.-H., WU, H.-Y., CARAPEZZA, A., KMENT, P., CAI, B., SUN, X.-Y., GUO, P.-L., LUO, J.-Y. & XIE, Q. (2017). Phylogeny and the colourful history of jewel bugs (Insecta: Hemiptera: Scutelleridae). *Cladistics* 34(5), 502–516.
- YAO, Y., CAI, W. & REN, D. (2007). The first fossil Cydnidae (Hemiptera: Pentatomoidea) from the Late Mesozoic of China. *Zootaxa* 1388(1388), 59–68.
- YASUNAGA, T., TAMADA, Y., HINAMI, H., MIYAZAKI, A. & DUWAL, R. K. (2019). Taxonomic review for the Asian taxa of plant bug tribe Hallodapini, with emphasis on stridulatory mechanism (Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Miridae). Acta Entomologica Musei Nationalis Pragae 59(1), 71–99.
- YE, Z., DAMGAARD, J., HADICKE, C. W., ZHU, X., MAZZUCCONI, S. A., HEBSGAARD, M. B., XIE, T., YANG, H. & BU, W. (2023). Phylogeny and historical biogeography of the water boatmen (Insecta: Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Nepomorpha: Corixoidea). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 180, 107698.
- YE, Z., DAMGAARD, J., YANG, H., HEBSGAARD, M. B., WEIR, T. & BU, W. (2019). Phylogeny and diversification of the true water bugs (Insecta: Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Nepomorpha). *Cladistics* 36(1), 1–16.
- YOUNG, D. & BENNET-CLARK, H. (1995). The role of the tymbal in cicada sound production. *The Journal of Experimental Biology* **198**(4), 1001–1019.
- ZETTEL, H. (1996). Chenevelia stridulans gen. n. et sp. n. from North Thailand. Annalen des Naturhistorisches Museum Wien 98, 353–359.

- *ZETTEL, H. (2012). One new species and one new record of *Helotrephes* (Insecta: Hemiptera: Heteroptera: Helotrephidae) from Laos. Annalen des Naturhistorischen Museums in Wien. Serie B für Botanik und Zoologie 114, 37–42.
- *ZETTEL, H., PAPÁCEK, M. & KOVAC, D. (2011). Guide to the aquatic Heteroptera of Singapore and Peninsular Malaysia: VII. Family Helotrephidae. *The Raffles Bulletin of Zoology* 59(2), 171–179.
- ZETTEL, H. & THIRUMALAI, G. (2000). Stridulobates anderseni, a new genus and species of ptilomerine Gerridae (Hemiptera: Heteroptera) with "stridulatory devices" from South India. Insect Systematics and Evolution 31(4), 432–439.
- *ZHANG, W. T., YAO, Y. Z. & REN, D. (2012). Phylogenetic analysis of a new fossil Notonectidae (Heteroptera: Nepomorpha) from the Late Jurassic of China. *Alcheringa: An Australasian Journal of Palaeontology* **36**(2), 239–250.
- ZUK, M., ROTENBERRY, J. T. & TINGHITELLA, R. M. (2006). Silent night: adaptive disappearance of a sexual signal in a parasitized population of field crickets. *Biology Letters* 2(4), 521–524.
- ZUNIC, A., COKL, A., DOBERLET, M. V. & MILLAR, J. G. (2008). Communication with signals produced by abdominal vibration, tremulation, and percussion in *Podisus* maculiventris (Heteroptera: Pentatomidae). Annals of the Entomological Society of America 101(6), 1169–1178.
- ZYCH, A. F., MANKIN, R. W., GILLOOLY, J. F. & FOREMAN, E. (2012). Stridulation by *Jadera haematoloma* (Hemiptera: Rhopalidae): production mechanism and associated behaviors. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America* 105(1), 118–127.

VIII. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

Appendix S1. Supplementary methods.

Fig. S1. Basic principles of the two-step parsimony rule of Maddison *et al.* (1984), using a hypothetical scenario of stridulatory evolution.

Appendix S2. Rationale for our estimates of the number of times that stridulation evolved in each of the examined groups.

Table S1. Taxonomic diversity of Heteroptera and percentage of stridulating species per infraorder.

Table S2. List of types of stridulatory mechanisms in Heteroptera.

Table S3. Number of times each type of stridulatory mechanism has evolved independently in Heteroptera.

Table S4. Habitat occupancy of stridulating Heteroptera.

Table S5. Behavioural context of stridulation-based vibroacoustic signals in Heteroptera, with percentages of the total incidence of each behaviour in all groups examined.

Table S6. Behavioural context of stridulation-based vibroacoustic signals in selected arthropod outgroups (Arachnida, Myriapoda, and selected Pancrustacea), with percentages of the total incidence of each behaviour in all groups examined.

(Received 4 March 2022; revised 21 January 2023; accepted 24 January 2023; published online 14 February 2023)